
Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 25 September 2020

Page 1

Agenda
Contact: Steve Culliford, Democratic Services
Telephone: 07895 213735
Email: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 17 September 2020
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A meeting of the 
Cabinet
will be held on Friday 25 September 2020 at 10.30 am 
This will be a virtual, online meeting.

To watch this virtual meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ  

Cabinet Members:
Councillors
Emily Smith (Chair) Helen Pighills
Debby Hallett (Vice-Chair) Judy Roberts
Andy Crawford Bethia Thomas
Neil Fawcett Catherine Webber

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the 
officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting.

Margaret Reed
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Agenda
Open to the Public including the Press

1. Apologies for absence 
 
To record apologies for absence.  

mailto:carole.nicholl@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 25 September 2020

Page 2

2. Minutes 
(Pages 4 - 8) 
 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 
August 2020.  

3. Declarations of interest 
 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

4. Urgent business and chair's announcements 
 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.

5. Public participation 
 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.  

6. Recommendations from other committees 
 
To consider any recommendations to Cabinet from other committees.  

Climate Emergency Advisory Committee – 7 September 2020
Power purchase agreement

The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee discussed a report on power purchase 
agreements.  The report suggested that officers should join discussions with other 
Oxfordshire councils and commercial partners to identify the feasibility of entering into a 
power purchase agreement.  The committee made the following recommendation.

Recommendation: to Cabinet that officers join discussions with other
Oxfordshire councils, larger parish councils, town councils and commercial partners to 
identify the feasibility of entering into a Power Purchase Agreement.  

7. Local Plan Statement of Community Involvement 
(Pages 9 - 121) 
 
To consider the head of planning’s report.  

8. Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan 
(Wards Affected: Watchfield and Shrivenham) 

(Pages 122 - 204) 
 
To consider the head of planning’s report.  



Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 25 September 2020

Page 3

9. Treasury outturn 2019/20 
(Pages 205 - 225) 
 
To consider the interim head of finance’s report.  

10. Exclusion of the public, including the press 
 
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.  

Exempt information under section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 
The council hereby gives notice that it intends to hold part of this Cabinet meeting in 
private to consider the following items for the reasons set out in the ‘exclusion of the 
public, including the press’ item above.   

11. Restrictive covenants 
(Pages 226 - 232) 
 
To consider the interim head of development and regeneration’s report.  

12. Commercial negotiations with Capita and the review of Exchequer 
Services and Finance IT systems 

(Pages 233 - 281) 
 
To consider the report of the acting deputy chief executive – transformation and 
operations and the interim head of finance.  

13. Office accommodation 
(Pages 282 - 312) 
 
To consider the report of the acting deputy chief executive – transformation and 
operations, and the acting deputy chief executive - place.  



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Friday, 7 August 2020 Ca.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Cabinet
held on Friday 7 August 2020 at 10.30 am
This was a virtual, online meeting. 

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Emily Smith (Chair), Debby Hallett (Vice-Chair), Andrew Crawford, 
Neil Fawcett, Jenny Hannaby, Helen Pighills, Judy Roberts, Bethia Thomas and 
Catherine Webber

Officers: John Backley, Pat Connell, Steve Culliford, Liz Hayden, Simon Hewings, 
Suzanne Malcolm, Candida Mckelvey and Mark Stone

Also present: Councillor Hayleigh Gascoigne and Councillor David Grant

Number of members of the public: 1

Ca.11 Apologies for absence 

None

Ca.12 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 July 2020 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chair signs them as such.

Ca.13 Declarations of interest 

None

Ca.14 Urgent business and chair's announcements 

None

Ca.15 Public participation 

Cabinet received a statement from Sally Povolotsky regarding the car parking fees and 
charges proposals.  Ms Povolotsky made suggestions to better utilise the car parks and 
generate more income, support local businesses, help achieve emissions’ targets and aid 
public education.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Friday, 7 August 2020 Ca.2

The Chair thanked Ms Povolotsky for her statement and asked for a copy so that her 
suggestions could be further investigated.  

Cabinet also received statements form Councillors David Grant and Hayleigh Gascoigne 
on car park fees and charges.  Councillor Grant gave context to the Climate Emergency 
Advisory Committee’s comments.  The council should not be subsidising car travel and 
parking but should take a cautious approach to any changes to car parking fees and 
charges.  The council should promote active travel and public transport over private car 
use.  However, electric cars were better than petrol or diesel cars.  However, it was a 
balancing act and the council must be careful to avoid adversely impacting on town 
centres.  The impact of these changes should be monitored.  

Councillor Gascoigne embellished this with suggestions that offering free parking was 
giving the wrong message.  The council should concentrate on tackling the climate 
emergency and promote more cycling and walking instead and not use taxpayers’ money 
to subsidise car parking.  

Ca.16 Recommendations from other committees 

None

Ca.17 Car park fees and charges 

Cabinet considered the head of housing and environment’s report on a review of car park 
fees and charges.  

The Cabinet member for housing and environment highlighted the following options for 
Cabinet’s consideration:

A. Increase all fees (for up to two hours and above) by 20p (or 40p)

B. Introduce flat fee of 60p for up to two hours (to replace the current free parking)

C. Reduce free parking from two hours to one hour and introduce a charge of £1.50 for 
up to two hours and £2.00 for up to 3 hours.

D. Increase the cost of parking permits by ten per cent

E. Formalise the parking for one coach and market traders in Hales Meadow car park, 
Abingdon.  Remove the commercial vehicle parking in Rye Farm car park, Abingdon 
and use the area to create ‘overflow’ parking for smaller vehicles.

F. Removing residential permits to bring them in line with parking permits

G. Making the Civic car park, Abingdon, short stay only with a maximum stay of three 
hours at £1.50 for up to three hours (or £1.70/£1.90 if option A agreed for increase of 
all fees)

H. Charging points for electric vehicles

I. Other considerations – increasing excess charge notices by £10 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Friday, 7 August 2020 Ca.3

The report recommended that all other aspects of the fees and charges such as the 
charging periods, free parking for disabled and motorbikes and free parking on Sunday 
(except Rye Farm, Hales Meadow and Abbey Meadow), remained the same.  

The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee had considered a number of options for 
reviewing car park fees and charges on 28 January 2020.  The committee’s comments 
were set out in Table 1 of the report; it had supported options C, D, E, G, H and I.  

Cabinet welcomed the committee’s feedback, as well as contributions from the public and 
two committee members.  The suggestions made were welcomed.  However, Cabinet 
considered that the council must protect local businesses and shops at this time, 
especially after months of lockdown under the Covid-19 pandemic.  Car park charges 
could be adjusted but radical changes must be avoided immediately.  The suggestions 
made by the speakers were all relevant and could be captured and used to make changes 
in the future.  

Cabinet noted that to do nothing was not sustainable as the car parks service was running 
at a loss.  The council was allowed to break-even but not make a profit.  Cabinet reviewed 
the options and concluded that it was important to retain two hours free parking at this time 
but raise the fees beyond two-hour stays by 40 pence.  Parking permit prices should 
increase and the subsidy for residents’ permits should be phased out.  The report set out 
some changes that would be subject to the regulatory consultation on a draft car park 
order, others could be implemented immediately.  The outcome of the formal consultation 
would be reported back to Cabinet later in the year.  

Cabinet also asked for a review of the car park policy.  

RESOLVED to 

(a) amend the car parking fees as follows:
(i) Increase all car parking fees for stays beyond two hours by 40p (option A); 
(ii) Retain two hours free parking (thereby rejecting options B and C); 
(iii) Increase the cost of parking permits by ten per cent (option D); 
(iv) Formalise the parking for one coach and market traders in Hales Meadow car 

park, Abingdon.  Remove the commercial vehicle parking in Rye Farm car 
park, Abingdon and use the area to create ‘overflow’ parking for smaller 
vehicles (option E); 

(v) Phased removal of the discount on residential permits to bring them in line 
with parking permits, phased over four years, and commencing no later than 1 
December 2020.  Stop selling new residential permits from 1 October 2020 
(option F); 

(vi) Retain the current parking arrangements at the Civic car park in Abingdon 
(thereby rejecting option G); 

(vii) Allow enforcement of electric vehicle charging points by amending the car park 
order (option H); 

(viii) Retain the fee for early payment of Excess Charge Notices at £50 (option I); 
(ix) Retain all other aspects of the fees and charges such as the charging periods, 

free parking for the display of a disabled badge and motorbikes, and free 
parking on Sundays (except Rye Farm, Hales Meadow and Abbey Meadow 
car parks in Abingdon) (option I); 

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Friday, 7 August 2020 Ca.4

(b) authorise the head of legal and democratic services to prepare and publish a draft 
order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to reflect the agreed changes 
where required; 

(c) allow the head of housing and environment to oversee necessary consultations in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders 
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996, and note that responses will be 
reported back to Cabinet after the end of the consultation period; and 

(d) undertake a review of car parking policy.  

Ca.18 Oxfordshire Growth Board terms of reference 

Cabinet considered the report of the acting deputy chief executive – partnerships.  This set 
out a proposal to amend the Oxfordshire Growth Board’s terms of reference and 
memorandum of association following a review undertaken by the Growth Board.  The 
adoption of these documents represented stage one of two in implementing outcomes 
from the review.  The other five principal councils in Oxfordshire had agreed the stage one 
changes.  

Some concern was expressed that the other district councils had agreed to the changes as 
the cost of the Growth Board did not appear to be fairly split between the six principal 
councils.  For example, district councils had to pay a larger percentage of their budgets 
compared to the county council.  It was noted that the costs should be proportionate to the 
officers’ time spent on the Growth Board work.  

The proposed changes were a first stage to make improvements to the Growth Board’s 
operation.  More changes would come forward.  Stage two would involve a more detailed 
review of the Growth Board’s operating arrangements to reflect the increasing importance 
of protecting the environment and tackling climate change.  This included assessing how 
the Growth Board interacted with emerging proposals for a local nature partnership.  

Cabinet supported the changes.  However, some concerns were raised at how the 
principal councils undertook their statutory responsibility for scrutinising the Growth Board.  
This was not the responsibility of the Growth Board’s Scrutiny Panel.  Cabinet asked the 
leader to raise this with the Growth Board.  

RESOLVED to 

(a) approve the Oxfordshire Growth Board’s Terms of Reference and Memorandum of 
Understanding, as set out at appendices 1 and 2 respectively of the acting deputy 
chief executive – partnership’s report to Cabinet on 7 August 2020; 

(b) authorise the chief executive, in consultation with the leader of the council and the 
Oxfordshire Growth Board, to make minor amendments to these documents as 
required to support the operational efficiency of the Growth Board’s work; and 

(c) ask the leader of the council to raise with the Growth Board the question of how 
Oxfordshire’s principal councils undertake their statutory responsibility of scrutinising 
the Growth Board, including its budget.  

The meeting closed at 12.12 pm

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Friday, 7 August 2020 Ca.5Page 8



Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Planning
Author: Emma Wright / Nina Merritt
Telephone: 07717 274696
E-mail: planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
Wards affected: All

Cabinet member responsible: Debby Hallett
Tel: 07545 241013
E-mail: debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 25 September 2020

Statement of Community Involvement 

Recommendations

(a) To adopt the Statement of Community Involvement (‘SCI’), as set out under 
Appendix 1 of this report. 

(b) Delegate to the Head of Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning to make any minor changes, typographical corrections or non-material 
amendments to the SCI prior to adoption. 

Purpose of Report

1. To report to Cabinet the key issues raised following the six week public consultation 
and the changes proposed to the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
document.

Corporate Objectives 

2. The publication of the SCI supports the delivery of the council’s strategic objectives 
set out in the current Corporate Plan by supporting the delivery of sustainable 
communities and wellbeing.

Background

3. The council is required to produce an SCI in accordance with section 18 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The purpose of the SCI is to set out 
how the council will engage with communities who have an interest in matters 
relating to development in their area.

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

mailto:planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
mailto:debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


4. Section 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2017 
require an SCI to be reviewed every five years starting from the date of adoption of 
the SCI. The current SCI is divided into three documents and was adopted by Cabinet 
in December 2016. Since this time, Local Plan 2031 Part 2 was adopted, a revised 
National Planning Policy Framework was published, and the council has committed to 
preparing a new local plan. These changes need to be reflected within the SCI. 

5. The revised SCI sets out how the council wishes to engage with the community and
how they can engage on planning policy documents, as well as setting out the ways 
to comment upon planning applications for development. 

6. Information is presented in a way that is clear and transparent for the wider audience 
and is aided alongside a series of flowcharts and diagrams to help illustrate the 
council’s practices and procedures for consulting on new planning policy documents.

7. The SCI is now set out in one document but split into three sections: 

Section 1 – Shaping our Future

8. Section 1 of the SCI provides a set of overarching principles that the council will be 
guided by when consulting on new planning documents. This section provides 
information on how the council wishes to involve the community when consulting on 
new planning documents and where these documents can be viewed once they are 
published. It also sets out the council’s commitment to equalities and provides links to 
other useful planning services.

9. A key change to this section, from the current SCI, is that printed copies of documents 
will no longer be sent to libraries. Computer access is free at the libraries and 
available to all, including those, for example, with sight or hearing impairments. In line 
with our aim to reducing carbon emissions, under the climate change agenda, the 
council will therefore no longer send paper copies to the libraries and may charge if 
printed copies are requested. This approach will also help reduce our costs. 

Section 2 – Community Involvement in the preparation of the Local Plan and 
Planning Policy

10.Section 2 of the SCI sets out how interested parties can get involved with the 
preparation of the local plan and other planning policy documents. 

11.The document includes a series of flowcharts that set out the process the council is 
required to follow when preparing different planning policy documents. For example, it 
includes the council’s approach when preparing any new Development Plan 
Documents (such as the Local Plan), Supplementary Planning Documents, 
Sustainability Appraisals and Strategic Environment Assessments in accordance with 
the relevant legislation and regulations. 

12.This list is not exclusive, the document also covers a number of other planning policy 
documents. 

Section 3 – Community Involvement in Planning Applications

13.Section 3 of the SCI sets out how the planning application process works for a variety 
of applications and how interested parties can become involved and engaged in this 
process. 

Page 10



14.The document also sets out the council’s minimum neighbour notification for most 
applications, alongside a diagram showing how neighbours will be notified where the 
application boundary abuts a neighbouring property. 

15.Each section of the SCI covers a particular theme for community engagement and 
involvement. All of the sections together make up the SCI and, once adopted, the 
council will use the document when preparing and consulting on new planning 
documents, and to assist the council with local engagement when deciding on 
planning applications for development.

Key Discussion Points Raised Following Public Consultation

16.Public consultation on the draft revised SCI was undertaken between 27 February 
and 9 April 2020. There is no requirement to consult on the SCI, however, it is good 
practice to do so. 

17.The SCI consultation document is available to view and access from the council 
website. 

18.Those on our consultation database, including town and parish councils and statutory 
bodies, were notified of the consultation. The council received 37 comments from 
various consultees, including the following: 

 Oxford City Council, the Nuclear Decommisioning Authority and Historic 
England, were supportive of the aims and approach of the document. 

 Cherwell District Council asked for clarification regarding the notification of 
adjacent districts regarding planning applications, where applicable.

 Harcourt Hill Campus highlighted the role of education providers in the 
planning process. 

 Other issues raised included suggestions for further consultation regarding 
Local Plans, the perception that public opinions are not always taken into 
account, involvement of the local community in strategic decisions, a request 
for the creation of focus groups, polls for major developments and further use 
of online media platforms to raise awareness of planning applications.

19.A summary document of the consultation responses received, can be found at 
Appendix 2.

20.The draft SCI document was taken to Scrutiny Committee on 20 July 2020. The SCI 
was well received and commended by the Committee, particularly for its principles, 
definitions and helping the public to understand the planning process further. 

21.Scrutiny Committee made a number of comments to help refine the SCI document.  
These included:

 Further clarification regarding Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 
Assessment in relation to Neighbourhood Plans and Development Plan 
Documents.

 Further clarification regarding Area Action Plans and their purpose.

Page 11

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/statement-community-involvement
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/statement-community-involvement


 Additional explanation regarding the potential to use development forums for 
strategic sites (over 200 dwellings) during the pre-application process.

22.Other minor comments were received and where appropriate, they have helped to 
refine the final track-change version.  It was considered that the changes were 
necessary to provide further clarity and consistency for the wider audience. 

Refinements to the Statement of Community Involvement

23.The draft SCI has been refined, taking into account the comments made during the 
consultation. These included:

 Clarification regarding which planning applications are dealt with by the district 
and county council.

 Updating definitions regarding floorspace.

 Clarification regarding the notification of adjacent districts regarding planning 
applications, where applicable.

 Refining and improving wording, as appropriate. 

24.The SCI has also been amended to include necessary caveats regarding: availability 
of paper copies of documents; deposit points; and opening hours of council offices 
that are impacted due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

25.The revised track-change draft version is presented at Appendix 1.  This should be 
read alongside Appendix 2, which summarises the consultation responses received, 
and the proposed changes taken forward within the SCI as a result of the consultation 
responses. A final version of the SCI which presents the document with all track-
changes taken into account can also be viewed at Appendix 1a.

26.The format and presentation of this document will be refined once a decision has 
been made regarding publication.

Options

27.  Not applicable.

Financial Implications

28.There will be costs associated with any printing or distribution of the SCI document. 
We will limit this, to undertake it only where necessary. These costs, (unlikely to be 
more than £2000) can be met from within the existing planning policy budget.

Legal Implications

29.The council is legally required, under section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, to produce an SCI, to set out how we will engage with our 
communities who have an interest in matters relating to development in their area.

Page 12



Risks

30.The council would be at risk if it did not have an updated SCI in place: it is a legal       
requirement as per the implications listed above.

Conclusion

31.The SCI will be a vital tool to assist the council in the preparation of planning policy 
documents and when deciding on planning applications for development.  The 
changes made following public consultation will provide further clarity to the 
community, developers, development management team, town and parishes and 
councillors who may wish to be involved in the planning process.   

Background Papers

 Appendix 1 - Revised Statement of Community Involvement 
 Appendix 1a - Finalised Statement of Community Involvement
 Appendix 2 - Summary of Consultation Responses

Page 13



1 
 

Introduction 

One of our key responsibilities as a district council is to plan for how land is used in 
the Vale and what kinds of developments can happen and where.  

Decisions we make, and policies we set, affect local residents, businesses and 
organisations now and in the future, so it’s important they arethat everyone has the 
opportunity to be involved from the start. We aim to work positively and proactively 
with our local communities to make sure they are fully informed, feel involved in the 
decision-making process and have timely and meaningful opportunities to have a 
say on planning matters upon which we consultany proposals we make.  

This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) explains how we ensure this 
happens in the planning services that we provide.  

This SCI covers both the preparation and production of planning policy documents 
and how the community will be involved in decisions relating to planning 
applications. It also provides information on planning appeals, planning enforcement, 
the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106 legal agreements.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 14



2 
 

Contents 
 
1. What is our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)?  3 

Section 1 – Shaping our Future 

2. Our Principles for Community Engagement and Community and 3 
Stakeholder Involvement in Planning Policy and Planning  
Applications 

3. How to get involved in Planning      5 
4. Commitment to Equalities and Inclusive Consultation   5 
5. Further information on Planning      6 
6. Review of the SCI         6 

Section 2 – Community Involvement in the Preparation of the Local Plan and                                    
Planning Policy  

7. What is Planning Policy?       7 
8. Duty to Co-operate        7 
9. Public Involvement in Planning Policy     8 
10. Consultees         8 
11. Policy Documents we Consult on      10 
12. Other Development Plan Documents     19 
13. Timeframes for consultation      20 
14. Comments made on Planning Policy documents   21 
15. Monitoring         21 

Section 3 – Community Involvement in Planning Applications  

16. What is Development Management?      22 
17. Types of Planning Applications      22 
18. Planning Application process      22 
19. Pre-application advice       24 
20. Notification of Planning Applications      25 
21. Who we Consult with       26 
22. Viewing a Planning Application      27 
23. Time to comment on a Planning Application    29 
24. Decisions on Planning Applications     29 
25. Section 106 (Planning Obligations) legal agreements   30 
26. Planning Appeals        30 
27. Planning Enforcement       30 
 

Glossary           32 

Appendix A           36 
 
 

Page 15



3 
 

1. WHAT IS OUR STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT? 
 

1.1 We are committed to working in a clear and transparent way as the Local Planning 
Authority and are keen to help anyone who is interested in getting involved with the 
planning process.   
 

1.2 Our SCI sets out how and when we engage with local communities (local residents, 
councillors, businesses, organisations and statutory consultees) and highlights the 
opportunities for local communities so that they can to provide comments on new 
planning documents, such asand Local Plans , and how they might be involved in the 
development of their local area/district. It sets out what methods of consultation we use, 
how we process and feedback on the comments we receive.   
 

1.3 We adopted our previous SCI in 2016. This 2020 version now reflects the government’s 
latest planning policy guidance and legislation1, including the revised National Planning 
Policy Framework (‘NPPF 2019’). It also provides updated information regarding Planning 
in the Vale, including how we operate during the Covid-19 outbreak. The 2016 SCI was 
split into three documents; the current version combines these documents into one.  

 
1.4 This Statement of Community Involvement (2020) comprises three sections:  

Section 1: Shaping our Future - sets out our overall approach to community 
engagement and involvement in the planning process. 

Section 2: Community Involvement in the Preparation of the Local Plan and 
Planning Policy - provides information on how to get involved with and influence the 
preparation of the Local Plan and other planning policy documents. 

Section 3: Community Involvement in Planning Applications - provides information 
on how to become aware of, view and comment on planning applications.  

Section 1 – Shaping our Future 
 

2. OUR PRINCIPLES FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNITY AND 
STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY AND PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS  
 

2.1. Our role as the Local Planning Authority is to ensure planning process, rules and policies 
are followed properly, for example, to make sure new developments are of a high quality 
and in keeping with the local surroundings. It is also very important that the policies we 
create and the planning decisions we make take into account the views of local 
communities.  

 
2.2. New development has a long-lasting impact on its surroundings, so it is important that 

people have a chance to influence proposals. We therefore engage with local 
communities (residents, councillors, businesses, organisations and stakeholders) across 
the district, by using a range of different methods and channels. We want to give 
everyone an opportunity to have their voice heard. To do that, we aim to follow the 
consultation principles developed by central government alongside our Vale of White 

 
1 Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires Local 
Planning Authorities to produce a Statement of Community Involvement. 

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/VOWH%20Public%20Engagement%20Charter%202016-20%20-%20PUBLISHED%20(November%202016).pdf


4 
 

Horse Public Engagement Charter 2016-2020, which commits us to the following points: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• We will: 
o Keep you informed of progress and explain decisions and/or outcomes on 

planning policy documents through your preferred channel of communication. 
o Check to see if we already have information that we can use, such as the 

results from previous consultations and evidence provided to us by 
communities – for example published neighbourhood or community led plans.  

o Always protect the personal details of respondents in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018. 

 

• We will: 
o Make our planning documents, background studies and responses to 

consultations readily available to the public on our website and in some 
cases, if necessary, on paper during normal office hours at local libraries and 
at our offices.   

o Maximise the use of the internet in our consultations. 
o Recognise that other forms of engagement are necessary and endeavour to 

communicate in a variety of ways (e.g. newspaper, social media). 
o Where required, make information available in a range of easily accessible 

formats on request (e.g. in large print, braille, audio, email, easy read and 
alternative languages). 

o Make our information publicly available (for example, information on the 
progress of proposals and feedback on your comments). 

 

• We will:  
o Communicate in ways that are relevant and accessible to all sections of our 

community and proportionate to the issue. 
o Endeavour to engage with groups in our community that can find us less 

accessible (e.g. disability groups and ethnic groups – these are sometimes 
referred to as ‘hard to reach’ groups) or those likely to be particularly affected 
by a proposal. 

o Encourage involvement from groups that have traditionally not been involved 
in the planning process (for example targeted events with younger people). 

o Support local communities who wish to prepare neighbourhood plans. 
o Hold events or meetings in accessible locations or in accessible ways at 

times appropriate for different members of the community.   

 

• We will endeavour to engage with a wide range of formal and informal local 
community groups and voluntary organisations, stakeholders, councillors, town 
and parish councils and parish meetings and other groups in the community, of 
which we become aware. 

 

• We will: 
o Ensure early involvement with local communities in the preparation of our 

planning policy documents and in the consideration of planning applications, 
as the earlier local communities are involved, the better chance they have to 
influence decisions. 

o Have in place effective mechanisms for documenting views and clear feedback 
mechanisms to demonstrate how the views of the community have influenced 
and benefited the plan/decisions.   

 

• We will: 
o Keep the process simple by writing our documents in Plain English and 

explaining any planning language or terms that we use. 
o Explain clearly what we are consulting on and the reasons why we want to 

involve you.  

Communicating 
clearly 
  

Providing  
feedback  
and sharing  
information 
  

Recognising 
the needs of  
different groups  

  
  

Making access 
to 
information 
easy 

Being inclusive of 
all 

Early 
involvement 
   

Page 17

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/VOWH%20Public%20Engagement%20Charter%202016-20%20-%20PUBLISHED%20(November%202016).pdf


5 
 

3. HOW TO GET INVOLVED IN PLANNING 
 

3.1. We recognise that good plan making significantly benefits from early and meaningful 
engagement with local communities (local residents, councillors, businesses, 
organisations and statutory consultees). We want everyone to have the opportunity 
to influence the outcome of our plan-making documents and planning decisions. We 
explain in sections 2 and 3 how we will engage and consult with local communities 
on the preparation and production of planning policy documents and how the local 
community will be involved in the decisions relating to planning applications.  

 
3.2. In order to ensure engagement with a wide range of organisations and individuals, 

all of our planning documents and planning applications are available to view and 
access from our website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-
and-building and – we encourage you to view documents online.  

 
3.3. In addition, paper copies of planning policy documents are usually available to view at 

our office on request (e.g. in large print, braille, audio, email, Easy Read and 
alternative languages), if no restrictions  are in place e.g. related to Covid-19. Details 
regarding where to view documents are set out below. During consultation periods 
and if no restrictions are in place , documents may also be made available at a 
number of deposit locations across the district e.g. libraries.  We may make these 
documents available electronically to town and parish councils and statutory bodies. 
Requests for printed copies, CD memory sticks or other formats of the documents will 
carry a charge including anprinting and administration charge.  
 
Our office (at the time of 
publication of this document): 
 
Vale of White Horse District Council,  
135 Eastern Avenue, 
Milton Park, Milton, OX14 4SB 

Opening hours (if no local Covid-19 
restrictions in place): 
 
Monday – Thursday: 8.30am – 5pm  
Friday: 8.30am – 4.30pm 

 
3.4. Legislation also requires us to consult ‘specific consultation bodies’ and other interest 

groups. These bodies are defined in Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

 
Database of Consultees 

 
3.5. We keep an up-to-date database of individuals, groups and stakeholders who we 

regularly contact on planning matters in accordance with General Data Protection 
Regulations. If you would like to be added to the database to receive updates on planning 
policy consultations and relevant updates, please use our consultation sign up form. If 
you would like to amend your details, please email planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
or call our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600.  
 

4. COMMITMENT TO EQUALITIES 
 

4.1. We are committed to equality and ensuring that everyone has access to our services. We 
comply with the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 and have 
developed, jointly with South Oxfordshire District Council, a Corporate Equality Policy 
which sets out our commitment to ensuring equality considerations are included in 

Page 18

file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Shared/Policy%20(GDPR)/Shared/Future%20Local%20Plan/007.%20SCI/02.%20Draft%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Shared/Policy%20(GDPR)/Shared/Future%20Local%20Plan/007.%20SCI/02.%20Draft%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/contact-us/requesting-information/data-protection
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/contact-us/requesting-information/data-protection
https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/consultationsignup/
mailto:planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Corporate%20equality%20policy-final_0.pdf


6 
 

everything we do, including consultations.  
 

4.2. We also have a Corporate Equality Action Plan 2016/17–2019/20 which sets our 
objectives from the previous few years and how we have or have not achieved these 
objectives.  
 

4.3. As part of our commitment to ensuring all residents have equal access to council 
information and services, including consultations, we have a translation and interpretation 
policy which sets out our approach to responding to requests and proactively offering 
these services.  
 

5. FURTHER INFORMATION ON PLANNING  
 

5.1. While there is a wealth of information available on our website, there are other 
organisations that provide information on the planning system. Useful websites include:  

• Planning Portal – www.planningportal.co.uk   
• National Planning Practice Guidance – 

www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance   
• Plain English Guide to the Planning System – 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system  

Planning Aid England 

5.2. Planning Aid England is an independent voluntary organisation linked to the Royal 
Town Planning Institute (RTPI) which includes a network of professional Chartered 
Town Planners. Planning Aid England offers impartial advice and independent support. 
For further information, contact them online by visiting www.rtpi.org.uk/planning-aid or 
call 0207 929 9494. 
 

6. REVIEW 
 

6.1. We will continually assess how effective our consultation and engagement techniques 
and methods are in gaining community involvement and in particular assess our success 
at reaching specific groups.  
 

6.2. We will review this SCI periodically to take account of changes to legislation, government 
guidance or local circumstances (for example, Covid-19 could have an impact on our 
methods) and any comments received relating to consultation methods will be considered 
on an ongoing basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/CEAP%202016-17%20-%202019-20%20updated%20April%2018-published_0.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Translation%20and%20Interpretation%20policy_update%20April%202013_finalv2_0.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Translation%20and%20Interpretation%20policy_update%20April%202013_finalv2_0.pdf
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/planning-aid


7 
 

Section 2 – Planning Policy 
 

7. WHAT IS PLANNING POLICY? 
 

7.1. Planning policy is concerned with preparing and implementing plans that help us decide 
where development takes place. We have a range of planning policies that are used to 
inform decisions to approve or reject planning applications. Our planning policies are 
contained in a variety of policy documents which make up our Development Plan. The 
key planning policy document we must prepare is a Local Plan for the district. Figure 1 
below sets out our current Development Plan. 
 
 Figure 1: Vale Development Plan  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. DUTY TO CO-OPERATE 
 

8.1. Some planning issues may cross administrative boundaries, such as planning for strategic 
infrastructure or planning for the sustainable development or use of land on or near our 
boundary. We need to take into account our neighbouring councils’ policies and proposals for 
addressing these strategic matters in the process of making our Local Plan.  

 
8.2. We have a ‘Duty to Co-operate’ with other local planning authorities and public bodies to 

engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis on strategic cross boundary 
issues as a result of section 110 of the Localism Act 2011matters.  The Duty to Co-
operate is not a duty to agree, but we will make every effort to secure necessary 
cooperation. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012 sets out the public bodies that we are required to co-operate with. 

 
8.3. We will exercise our Duty to Co-operate with our neighbouring councils and develop 

Statements of Common Ground when developing a Local Plan, as required by the NPPF.  
 
 
 

Page 20

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf


8 
 

9. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY 

9.1. We will continue to explore new and effective methods to carry out consultations and to learn 
from what is and isn’t successful when engaging with our communities. 

9.2. At all stages of plan-making, we will publicise any consultation material and accompanying 
documents on our website. Consultees registered on our planning database will be notified 
(by their preferred method, e.g. letter or email) of any consultations on future plan-making 
proposals. 

9.3. All of our planning policy documents are made available on our website. We will also make 
information available in other ways, where appropriate. 

9.4. We will always ensure that our consultations on planning policy documents are as 
comprehensive as possible. The methods of consultation we use will vary depending on the 
nature of the planning policy document, the stage of the document being consulted on and 
the geographical scope or nature of the planning issue being considered in the document. 

9.5. Depending on the scope of the consultation, the engagement methods   used can include one 
or more of the examples set out in the list below. This list is not exclusive, there are other 
engagement methods that we may use: 
 
• Make consultation material available online. This can also be made available and at 

our office, on request, when they are open during the consultation period.  
• Hold targeted physical or online workshops (town and parishes councils; 

stakeholders). 
• Hold physical or online public exhibitions (staffed and un-staffed). 
• Publish online surveys and responses and provide electronic or paper copies (when 

re requested or justified). 
• Publish leaflets, posters and bulletins (electronicmail and where appropriate/justified 

paper copy). 
• Publish press releases to local media. 
• Publish formal notices in newspapers circulating across the district. 
• Notify consultees registered on our planning database by their preferred method of 

contact. 
• Use social media (e.g. Twitter and Facebook). 
• Target work with harder to reach groups - e.g. disability access groups, ethnic 

minority groups, faith groups and young people. 
• Target work with community groups, voluntary organisations, businesses and 

education providers. 
• Hold physical or online public meetings. 

 
10. CONSULTEES 

 
10.1. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the 

legal requirements for consultation and public participation in respect of local planning 
documents.  

 
Local Communities 

10.2. We continuously look to understand who we need to talk to in the local community to ensure 
that we consult in the most effective way. The local community includes, but is not limited to, 
the following: town and parish councils and meetings; bordering Local Planning Authorities; 
residents of our district; local interest groups; local businesses; local community groups and 

Page 21

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf


9 
 

organisations; faith groups; schools, colleges and higher education providers; and ‘hard to 
reach’ groups. 
 

10.3. We will seek to engage with the local community through both our general consultation 
procedures and, if appropriate, through targeted events, (e.g. public meetings, exhibitions 
and other forums). This is to ensure we create opportunities to capture representative 
views of the whole community. At times, the council may use technology, such as videos 
and telephone conferences, to undertake these. 

 
10.4. We will work with those promoting development sites through the planning process to 

ensure that any site testing is undertaken on a comprehensive basis, as set out in 
ourwhich will be set out in a site selection methodology document.  
 
Specific and general consultation bodies 

10.5. Government regulations are clear that certain bodies are consulted at key stages of 
preparing local planning policy documents. These bodies are sometimes referred to as 
statutory consultees and include bodies such as the Environment Agency, Historic 
England, Natural England and Highways England and any other organisations with whom 
we have a Duty to Co-operate. We will always consult on our planning policy documents 
with the appropriate consultation bodies, in accordance with the relevant and up to date 
regulations. 

 
Neighbourhood Planning 

10.6. When consulting on the designation of a new neighbourhood area boundary or amending 
a designated neighbourhood area boundary, we will, in accordance with the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, always consult with the relevant 
statutory bodies (e.g. Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England), 
neighbouring councils and adjoining towns and parishes. 

 
10.7. We also provide some support to the qualifying bodies wWhen qualifying bodies are 

consulting on their draft neighbourhood plan in accordance with Regulation 14 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, we will provide some support 
before they submit the plan to us. 

 
10.8. When consulting on a draft neighbourhood plan submitted by the qualifying body, at 

publication stage in accordance with Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012, we will consult with those statutory bodies identified in 
Schedule 1 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.those 
regulations. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made


10 
 

11.   POLICY DOCUMENTS WE CONSULT ON 
 

Local Plan and Development Plan Documents (‘DPDs’) 

11.1. These are plans which set out a vision and a framework for the future development of 
the district, addressing needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the economy, 
community facilities and infrastructure, as well as developing a basis for safeguarding 
the environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design. Local Plans 
generally look forward 15-20 years and set out detailed policies we use to make 
decisions on planning applications. 

 
11.2. Currently, there are regulations as to what constitutes a Local Plan, and as a minimum, we 

will comply with the relevant prevailing regulations when consulting on all of our planning 
policy documents. We will make any background papers available to view online, which 
either: disclose any facts or matters related to the subject matter; or were considered in 
preparing our planning policy documents.2 

 
11.3. An Area Action Plan (‘AAP’) is a type of optional DPD that can be used to provide 

specific planning policy and guidance regarding the development of a specific site or 
location, for example, a town centre, or other places where significant change is 
planned. i.e. an area of planned significant change, such as a major regeneration area / 
town centre. 
 

11.4. AAPs are an important material consideration in determining planning applications, 
appeals and enforcement matters. 

 
11.5. Figure 1.1 shows the key stages in preparing DPDs, such as the Local Plan and Area 

Action Plans (AAP). The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents is set 
out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 
11.6. Our current Local Plan is presented in two documents and sets out the long-term spatial 

vision for the district: 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 1: Strategic Sites and Policies 

• This sets out the overall development strategy for the district and where new housing 
and employment should be located. 

 
Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites 

• This includes detailed policies and non–strategic site allocations not included in the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 

• It also deals with our contribution to Oxford City’s unmet housing need and focusses 
on supporting Didcot Garden Town. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 See paragraph 3.3 above relating to document availability reflecting impacts from COVID-19. 

Page 23

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/LPP1
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/LPP2


11 
 

Figure 1.1: Key Stages in the Preparation of Development Plan Documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

11.7. Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are based on adopted Local Plan policies 
and are a tool for expanding these, providing detailed guidance prepared to expand 
Local Plan policies and provide more detail about on adopted policies and proposals.  
Although legally they do not form part of the Development Plan or have the same 
‘weight’ as a DPD, they are an important material consideration in determining planning 
applications, appeals and enforcement matters.  

 
11.8. They can also be produced quicker than a Local Plan as they are not subject to an 

independent examination. Figure 2 shows the key stages in preparing SPDs. 
 

11.9. Further information on our SPDs can be found online at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
policy/supplementary-planning-documents  

 
 
 
 
 

Reg18* 

Reg 19* 

Reg 22* 

Reg 24* 

Reg 26* 

Pre-production stage  
- evidence gathering 

Public participation on DPD content, scope  
and/or preferred options (minimum six weeks) 

Process representations received 

Preparation of DPD 

Publication of DPD  
(minimum six week consultation) 

Respond to representations 
received on the published DPD 

Submission of DPD to  
Secretary of State  

Examination by Independent Planning Inspector 
(appointed by Secretary of State) 

Adoption of final DPD by 
Full Council 

Monitoring and Review  

Representation  
and 
participation  

 

 

Community 

involvement 

Page 24

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents


12 
 

Figure 2: Key Stages in the Preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

11.10. The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is an integral part of the plan preparation process and 
is required for each Local Plan document. It is also needed and for some neighbourhood 
development plans and SPDs. It looks at the likely environmental, social and economic 
effects of a plan to make sure that the plan promotes sustainable development and 
takes the most appropriate approach given when judged against reasonable 
alternatives. At each stage of the Development Plan preparation there is a 
corresponding stage of the SA and these documents are made available for comment 
during public consultation. The SA, where appropriate, will incorporate the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA), in accordance with European Directive EC/2001/42.  
 

11.11. As Local Plans cover the whole district, and therefore will impact the environment on a 
large scale, it is appropriate for an SEA to be incorporated into the SA. At each stage of 
preparing Local Plans, there is a corresponding stage of the SA and these documents 
are made available for comment during public consultation. 
 

11.11.11.12. Where proposals in an SPD or Neighbourhood Development Plan (‘NDP’) or 
Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) are likely to have significant environmental 
effects that have not already been assessed when preparing a Local Plan, an SEA may 
be required, and groups may choose to undertake an SA that incorporates the 
requirements of an SEA and take it further by considering social and economic aspects. 
 

11.12.11.13. We will consult on draft SA/SEA reports alongside the draft version of the 
plan to which it relates.  For example, the SA Report (incorporating requirements of the 
SEA) should be published alongside the Publication Version (Regulation 19) of a Local 
Plan or other DPD. It may also be appropriate to publish any SEA reports alongside 
early consultation documents. 

 
11.13.11.14. Figure 3 shows the key stages when preparing an SA which incorporates the 

requirements of an and an SEA. An SA is usually required for allLocal Plans and all 
other DPD’s. Figure 3a shows the key stages of neighbourhood plan preparation and 
their relationship with the SEA Process. 

 
 

Reg 12* 

Reg 14* 

Pre-production stage – evidence 
gathering and early engagement 

Prepare draft SPD 

Consultation on draft SPD  
(minimum four weeks) 

Respond to representations on Draft SPD 
and make any necessary changes 

Adoption of final SPD by Cabinet  
or Cabinet member 

Community 
involvement 

Page 25



13 
 

Figure 3: Key Stages in the Preparation of Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessments  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEA Screening 
 

Consult environmental assessment  
consultation bodies on scope  
of SEA (minimum five weeks) 

Setting the context and objectives to develop 
the framework for SA/SEA 

Consult on scope of SA/SEA 
(minimum five weeks) 

Develop and refine alternatives: 
appraise plan options 
Prepare the SA/SEA 
environmental report 

Publish and consult on SA/SEA report 
(minimum six weeks) 

Appraise any significant changes to  
the plan following consultation 

Reg 9* 

Reg 12* 

Reg 13* 

Community 
involvement 

Consult with 
environmental 
assessment 
bodies 

Page 26



14 
 

Figure 3a: Key Stages of Neighbourhood Plan Preparation and their relationship 
with the Strategic Environmental Assessment Process (National Planning Practice 
Guidance) 
 

 
 

Page 27



15 
 

Neighbourhood Development Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders 

11.14.11.15. Neighbourhood planning is a way for local people and communities to take a 
lead on planning for the future of their area. Neighbourhood planning can be led by a 
town/parish council or by a neighbourhood forum, which are specially set up for 
neighbourhood planning. These should be open to anyone who lives or works in the 
area they cover.  

 
11.15.11.16. Local communities wishing to play an active role in planning for their area 

can: 
• Prepare a neighbourhood development plan setting out the vision, objectives and 

planning policies to shape development of their neighbourhood and/or; 
• Seek a grant of permission directly for certain types of development in their 

neighbourhood through a Neighbourhood Development Order (‘NDO’) or a 
Community Right to Build Order. 

 
11.16.11.17. An NDO can be used to permit different types of development (in full or 

outline) without the need for planning permission. When preparing an NDO, it must still 
be in line with national and local policy and other legal requirements. The town, parish or 
neighbourhood forum is the only body that can prepare an NDO in their area. 

 
11.17.11.18. The process for making a neighbourhood development plan or an NDO is 

different from preparing a Local Plan or a Development Plan Document. 
 

11.18.11.19. Figure 4 shows the key stages when preparing a neighbourhood development 
plan and/or an NDO. 

 
11.19.11.20. We have a ‘duty to support’ qualifying bodies preparing neighbourhood plans 

in accordance with the relevant regulations. We strongly encourage and support local 
communities wishing to prepare a neighbourhood plan and have allocated resources to 
help communities prepare their plans. 

 
11.20.11.21. Our Neighbourhood Planning Team provide support to neighbourhood 

planning groups through the process of developing their neighbourhood plan. Our 
support includes:  

 
• advice and guidance throughout - an introductory meeting to discuss your aims and 

outline the process 
• a lead officer to attend meetings, where appropriate, and offer expert advice alongside 

their colleagues 
• advice on how to obtain funding  
• advice on external sources of support and guidance that is available to you 
• advice on engaging with your community - including how and why you need to record this 
• informing you which external organisations and statutory bodies you will need to consult 
• advice on what evidence is required to help you write your plan 
• running consultations on area designation proposals (where appropriate) as well as 

submitted plans 
• reviewing your draft neighbourhood plan to ensure it meets the basic conditions 
• organising the Independent Examination and Referendum for your plan. 

 
11.21.11.22. Our Consultation and Community Engagement team advise neighbourhood 

planning groups on best practice community engagement through meetings, workshops 
and written guidance and provide support with surveys, public engagement events and 
communications.  
 

Page 28



16 
 

11.22.11.23. The team also runs the district council’s statutory neighbourhood plan 
consultations and advise groups on the statutory duty they need to follow when carrying 
out their own consultation. For example, they advise groups regarding:  
  

• the different consultation methods that could be used; 
• the consultation materials required; 
• those who should be consulted and at what stage; 
• consultation events; and 
• the publication of consultation documents. 

 
11.23.11.24. If you would like to find out more regarding neighbourhood planning, please 

contact a Neighbourhood Planning Officer by emailing 
planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk or calling our Customer Service Team on 01235 
422600. 

 
11.24.11.25. Further details on our ‘made’ neighbourhood plans and those that are being 

developed  can be found on our website: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplans 

 

Figure 4: Key Stages in the Preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan and/or 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 * Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
** If more than 50 per cent of people who voted in the referendum supported the plan/order, the 
council must adopt it, unless the decision would breach or otherwise be incompatible with an 
EU obligation or any convention rights 

 

Neighbourhood Area Application submitted 
to and consulted on by the council   

(minimum four weeks) 

Submission of draft Neighbourhood  
Plan/Order to Council 

Draft Neighbourhood Development 
Plan/Order is produced 

Submission of Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
and responses to independent Examiner 

Publication of Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
(minimum six weeks) 

Independent Examination 

Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
made final by Full Council** 

Referendum on Neighbourhood Plan/Order 

Monitoring and review 

Reg 6* 

Reg 14* 

Reg 16* 

Pre-submission consultation 
(minimum five weeks) 

Community 
involvement 

Community 
involvement 

Community 
involvement 

Page 29

mailto:planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplans


17 
 

Community Right to Build Order 

11.25.11.26. A Community Right to Build Order is a particular type of NDO. It is a route to 
encourage development, allowing communities to decide for themselves what is built. 
This might include, for example, new community facilities and affordable housing. 

 
11.26.11.27. It is put together by local people who can decide on the type, quantity and 

design of buildings they want, and the locations for these buildings. 
 

11.27.11.28. A proposal can be developed as part of the full neighbourhood planning 
process, or on its own. 

 
11.28.11.29. Figure 5 shows the minimum key stages when preparing a Community Right 

to Build Order. 
 

Figure 5: Key Stages in the Preparation of a Community Right to Build Order 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

11.29.11.30. The CIL is a charge (tax) that is levied on new development floor space. It is 
intended to contribute towards the provision of infrastructure to support growth. The 
statutory process for preparing a CIL Charging Schedule is set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended) and is shown in Figure 6. This includes a 
4-week public consultation on the draft charging schedule before it is sent to the 
Secretary of State for examination.  

 
11.30.11.31. The CIL is a tariff-based charging schedule that councils can use to levy 

financial contributions from developers on new development. Contributions collected are 

Is the site or area 
already in a 
designated 

neighbourhood 
area? 

Form a community group (e.g. town, 
parish or a neighbourhood forum) 

 
Define the neighbourhood area 

Submission and publication on draft 
Community Right to Build Order to  

Council (minimum six weeks) 

Prepare the Community Right to Build  
Order and consult on pre-submission  

(minimum six weeks)  

Independent Examination 
 

Referendum on Community 
Right to Build Order  

Order used to grant 
outline or full consent 

N Y 

Community 
Involvement Apply for 

neighbourhood 
area designation 

Page 30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents


18 
 

then used to help provide new community facilities and local infrastructure, such as 
schools, roads, open spaces etc. This charging schedule and any subsequent reviews 
are consulted on with the local community at the Regulation 16 stage of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) before it is submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate. We will consult in accordance with this SCI, as well as current 
national legislation.   

 
11.31.11.32. The money we raise from CIL will help fund major infrastructure projects 

which will benefit the wider district, along with individual projects within towns and 
parishes, whereas Section 106 is a legal agreement that sets out obligations to deal with 
mitigating on-site planning impacts. 

 
11.32.11.33. More information on CIL, including the spending strategy, can be found by 

visiting: 
  www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/cil and www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106   
 
Figure 6: Key Stages in the Preparation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

 
Local Development Order (LDO)  

11.33.11.34. A Local Development Order (‘LDO’) is prepared (and, in following years, 
reviewed) by the district council. It grants planning permission to specific types of 
development within a defined area. For example, Milton Park is covered by an LDO. 

 
11.34.11.35. The purpose of the LDO is to streamline the planning process by removing 

the need for developers to make a planning application to the council, provided that the 
development meets set parameters.  

 
11.35.11.36. The extent of public consultation will depend on the nature and scale of the 

proposal. For example, an LDO for a specific site may require focused consultation with 
local residents and/or the town or parish council/meeting.  

 
11.36.11.37. Proposals for an LDO that cover a broader scope may require wider and 

proportionate consultation where necessary. 
 

11.37.11.38. Figure 7 shows the key stages when preparing (and, where necessary, 
reviewing) an LDO. 

 

 

Publish final draft Charging Schedule for 
consultation (minimum four weeks) 

Examination by Independent Planning Inspector 
(appointed by Secretary of State) 

Reg 16* 

Reg 25* 

Pre-production stage – evidence 
gathering  

 
Approval and publication of charging schedule 

Reg 21* 

Community 
Involvement 

Page 31

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/cil
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/milton-park-local-development-order


19 
 

Figure 7: Key Stages Required in the Preparation of a Local Development Order (LDO)   
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015  
 

12. OTHER DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 
 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

12.1. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a strategic planning document that seeks to provide a 
joined-up approach to planning across the county. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a 
commitment in the Housing and Growth Deal, secured through the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board and signed up to by the council. The plan, once adopted, will sit above Local Plans 
but below the National Planning Policy Framework. It will become part of the 
Development Plan. 
 

12.2. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 will investigate ways to deliver the Housing and Growth Deal 
and seek to explore what residents consider is important to them and also their 
aspirations for the local area from a planning perspective. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 has 
their owna separate  Statement of Community Involvement. Additionally, a new timeline 
has recently been published that Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the 
timeframe for delivering the plan, including when public consultation will take place. The 
LDS new timeline for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 can be found here:  
https://oxfordshireplan.org/timeline/   
 

12.3. Further information can be found on the Oxfordshire Plan website: 
www.oxfordshireplan.org/   

Oxfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste Plan 

12.4. Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for preparing and consulting on this plan to 
provide up to date minerals and waste planning policies and proposals for the period up 
to 2031. For more information on this plan, please visit: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-
policy/minerals-and-waste-policy   
 

12.5. The county council are responsible for minerals and waste planning applications and 
county council owned operational development. District councils are responsible for any 

Council prepares draft LDO 

Public consultation (copy of draft order  
and statement of reasons sent to 
consultees) (minimum 28 days) 

Consider representations and make 
necessary changes to LDO 

Adoption of LDO by council and 
Statement of Reasons  

Send LDO and Statement 
of Reasons to Secretary of State within 

28 days of adoption 

Reg 38(1); (3)* 

Reg 38(10)* 

Reg 38(11)* 

Community 
involvement 

Page 32

https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-February-2019.pdf
https://oxfordshireplan.org/timeline/
https://oxfordshireplan.org/
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-policy/minerals-and-waste-policy
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-policy/minerals-and-waste-policy


20 
 

other planning development. For more information, please visit: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-
application/making-planning-application  

12.6. For updates on the progress and timeframe for the documents within the Development 
Plan, our Local Development Scheme provides this information and can be found online: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy 
 

13. TIMEFRAMES FOR CONSULTATION 
 

13.1. We will consult on our planning policy documents at the relevant stages of plan-making, 
and we will be guided by up to date legislation, government guidance and best practice 
advice from our Consultation and Community Engagement Team. 

 
13.2. We will carry out planning policy consultations in line with the principles for engagement 

as set out in Section 1 of this SCI, and in accordance with the latest timetable set out in 
our Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

 
13.3. Our start date for planning policy consultations will be set out in a press release and/or 

formal statutory notice. At the start of the consultation, we will always notify statutory 
consultees, and those registered on our consultation database for planning matters, of 
the commencement dates and period for comment, along with clear guidance regarding 
how to comment. 

 
13.4. Consultation periods may differ depending on the nature of the planning policy document 

being consulted on, the scope of the issues being consulted on and the time of year. 
 

13.5. Legislation currently requires us to consult on planning policy documents for the minimum 
statutory period, as set out in Table 1. If an update to the relevant legislation indicates 
any changes to the periods for consultation, we will ensure this is reflected in any 
forthcoming planning policy consultations that we undertake. 

 
Table 1: Minimum statutory period for public consultation on Planning Policy 
documents 
 

Type of Planning Policy document Minimum statutory period 
for public consultation 

Development Plan Documents, e.g. Local Plan; Area 
Action Plan  

6 Weeks 

Supplementary Planning Document  4 Weeks 
Community Infrastructure Levy  4 Weeks 
Scoping of Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 

5 Weeks 

Local Development Order  28 Days 
Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation 4 Weeks 
Draft Neighbourhood Plan/Neighbourhood 
Development Order   

6 Weeks 

Community Right to Build Order  6 Weeks 
 

13.6. We may seek to extend our consultations in certain circumstances, for example, where a 
public holiday, or a school holiday, falls within the consultation period.  
 
 
 

Page 33

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-application/making-planning-application
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-application/making-planning-application
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy


21 
 

14. COMMENTS MADE ON PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS  
 

14.1. For consultation on matters related to plan-making, we publish a summary of the 
responses we receive and prepare reports after each stage of consultation. Each 
consultation report sets out how we have considered the comments made during the 
consultation before moving to the next stage of plan-making. We make our consultation 
reports available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy and on 
request at our council offices when open. 
 

14.2. We will acknowledge receipt of representations on planning policy submitted by email.   
 

14.3. We will not send acknowledgements to comments submitted to us on feedback forms at 
consultation events. Hard copynd-delivered written comments will be issued with a receipt 
if requested.   
 

14.4. We receive a high volume of correspondence and are unable to respond to individual 
comments that we receive during a particular consultation.  
 

14.5. The comments we receive on our planning policy documents will be made publicly 
available online at the earliest opportunity, once the consultation has finished.  

 
14.6. Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by letter, 

email and telephone, as well as with those who visit our office, when open. The council 
require correspondence to be made via email and telephone in the first instance. 
 

14.7. Further information on our customer service standards can found on our website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards   
 

14.8. Further information on how the council is operating, including its customer service, please 
visit our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-
community-support 

 
15. MONITORING  

 
15.1. We are required to prepare an Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) for the Development 

Plan. The AMR reports on the preparation and implementation of all planning policy 
documents. 

 
15.2. Further information on the our Authority Monitoring Report can be found on our website 

at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
policy/supporting-documents   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 34

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-community-support
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-community-support
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supporting-documents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supporting-documents


22 
 

Section 3 – Development Management 
 

16. WHAT IS DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT? 
 

16.1. Development Management is the name given to the process of regulating the use and 
development of land. It includes the process of deciding planning applications, planning 
enforcement and planning appeals for a range of land-based development proposals, 
such as housing and employment.  

 
16.2. The Development Management Team is responsible for assessing planning applications 

in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and other material 
considerations, including consultation responses. It also defends decisions at appeal and 
investigates and deals with breaches of planning. 

 

17. TYPES OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

17.1. We receive a variety of planning applications. The most common types that we receive 
include ‘major’, ‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications whose definitions are prescribed by 
government, as set out below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17.2. There are different kinds of applications, including planning permission, listed building 
consent, prior approvals and notifications, telecommunications developments and lawful 
development certificates.  

 
17.3. For planning applications made to Oxfordshire County Council, for example, on minerals 

and waste matters, please visit: www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-
application  

 
18. PLANNING APPLICATION PROCESS 

 
18.1. Figure 8 sets out six key steps in the planning application process. It shows when the 

public are consulted, and the steps taken to make a decision on planning applications. 

 

 

 

Major 
Applications 
Applications for 
developments of 10 or more 
dwellings, or 1,000 sqm or 
more gross non-residential 
floorspace (including 
changes of use of existing 
buildings). 

Minor Applications 
Applications for 
developments of up to 9 
dwellings or up to 999 sqm 
gross non-residential 
floorspace (including 
changes of use of existing 
buildings and changes of use 
of open land). 

 

Other 
Applications 
Applications for the 
extension or alteration to a 
house, ancillary buildings 
in the garden of a house, 
advertisements or listed 
building consent. 

Page 35

file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-application
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-application


23 
 

Figure 8 – Planning Application Process 

Step 1 – Registration and Allocation 

• The application has been validated, registered and allocated to a case officer. 
 

Step 2 – Consultation 

• A letter is sent to inform neighbouring properties about an application that has 
been received and who the case officer will be. 

• We get in touch with neighbours who share a boundary with the site, the town or 
parish council/parish meeting, any relevant specialist consultees and anybody else 
who might be affected, to ask for material planning comments on the application.  

• Where required, a statutory notice is displayed at the site. 
• We publicise the submitted applicationinformation on our website and comments 

made (in accordance with our retention schedules). 
 

Step 3 – Site Visit 

• We usually visit the application site without an appointment. It is at our discretion 
as to whether we need to view the proposal from neighbouring land or properties. 

 

Step 4 – Officer Assessment 

• This is when the planning merits of the application are assessed by the council, 
once the consultation deadline has expiredresponses have been received. 

 

Step 5 – Potential Negotiation and Re-consultation 

• We will contact the applicant if our assessment in Step 4 above concludes that we 
are unable to support the application as originally submitted or we need some 
further information and clarification. 

• If an application is formally amended to address any planning issues raised, we 
will usually re-consult anyone who responded to the original consultation. 

 

Step 6 – Recommendation and Decision 

• Our constitution enables most application decisions to be made by the Head of 
Planning, under what we term ‘officer delegated powers’.  

• However, large and/or complicated applications are often referred to the Planning 
Committee for a decision, which is made up of our elected councillors.  

• The circumstances under which planning applications are usually referred to 
Planning Committee and the timetable of meetings are listed on our website: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
committees    

 

Page 36

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees


24 
 

19. PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE 
 

19.1. The pre-application stage, which is discretionary, encourages applicants to carry out early 
engagement with the local community and us, before submitting a planning application. 
We encourage the early discussion of schemes in the form of a pre–application as it can: 

 
• verify the list of local requirements 
• help you to understand how planning policies and other requirements may affect your 

proposals. 
 

19.2. We will disclose any pre-application advice letters sent between the applicant and the 
council, once a formal planning application is submitted. The pre-application advice letter, 
if sent,se will be made available on our Planning Application Register and  can be 
accessed on our website under each application at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-
and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register 
 

19.3. Further information on the pre-application process, including how to apply for pre – 
application advice, can be accessed on our website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-
advice/pre-application-advice   

 
19.4.  We would also encourage applicants to seek advice from other key stakeholders, such 

as Thames Water, (if relevant) at the pre-application stage too. 
 
DEVELOPMENT FORUMS 
 

19.5. Development forums are an optional part of our pre–application process designed for 
those bringing forward major applications for strategic sites (site of over 200 dwellings) 
that are likely to generate significant public interest. They are held at the applicant’s 
choice and expense to cover our administration costs.  

 
19.6. Development forums ensure that key stakeholders are engaged at the earliest possible 

stage to help shape the development. It particularly allows an applicant to positively 
engage with council officers, local councillors, towns and parishes and local community 
groups during the pre–application and full application process for major development 
proposals. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Aim of the forum: 
- Provide an explanation of proposed development 
- Provide guidance from our officers over national 

and local policies and guidance 
- Consider the funding of infrastructure and facilities 

through S106 and CIL 
- An opportunity for an open discussion by all 

parties to raise issues and to provide feedback to 
feed into amended plans 

- Provide a mechanism for carrying out public 
engagement 

- Record actions and provide application progress 
updates 

  

Those involved: 
- Ward Councillors 
- Two parish councillors from each relevant 

parish 
- Town or parish clerk 
- Three representatives from the developer 
- Planning Committee 
- Council staff 
- Representatives from statutory 

organisations 
- Representatives from up to two 

recognised local community 
organisations 

Page 37

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice


25 
 

19.7. Development forums do not remove the requirement to carry out formal public 
consultation on applications.  

 
20. NOTIFICATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
20.1. The methods in which we publicise and consult have been amended to respond to 

government guidance relating to COVID-19. We advertise when planning applications 
have been submitted to us using the following methods (government advice can change 
this, e.g. COVID-19):  

 
Methods used 

 
Email Alerts If you’re interested in planning applications in your area (postcode), 

you can sign up for email alerts.  
 
Once registered, you will receive an automatic email notification 
informing you of any new planning application, or notifiable changes 
to an application or planning decision made in your area (within 
100m radius of a postcode area) with a link to the proposal via our 
website.  
 

Neighbour 
Notification Letter 

We will send a notification either by letter or email to properties 
adjacent to the boundary of the application site.  We may also notify 
others we consider to be directly affected by the proposal. 
 
In most cases, where new development (e.g. ‘major’ application) 
affects more properties than those that are immediately adjacent to 
the boundary of the site, wider consultation may be carried out. 
 
If the neighbouring property cannot be identified, we will display 
email the applicants a site notice and ask them to print this off and 
to display this in a location that is visible to the general public.  A 
photograph of the displayed site notice is usually taken for the 
record.We will ask for the applicant to email photo evidence of the 
site notice being displayed. In the instance where the applicant is 
unable to print a copy of the site notice, the council will post a copy. 
 
 

Site Notice Depending on the type of application, we will displaypost a notice at 
the application site in a place that is visible to members of the 
public.  
 
For all major applications we will always display one or more site 
notices for at least 21 days. If we’re informed that a site notice has 
been removed, we will replace it, at least once. A photograph of the 
displayed site notice is usually taken for the record. 

In accordance with the relevant legislation, for all major 
applications and for prior approval we will display at least one 
site notice to which the application relates for no less than 21 
days.  In accordance with the relevant legislation, for all major 
applications and for prior approvals we will email the applicant 
a copy of the site notice and ask them to print this and display 

Page 38

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/news-and-events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts


26 
 

this in a location visible to the public. If we are informed that a 
site notice has been removed, we will usually replace this with 
another site notice.  We will not re-erect a site notice more than 
once.  If we are informed that a site notice has been removed, 
we will post a site notice to the applicant and ask them to re-
display this.  We will ask for photographic evidence showing 
the site notice has been displayed.  
 

Press Notice We will publicise all major planning applications in the notices 
section of a local newspaper.  
 
We will publiciseost a press notice for applications that are in 
conservation areas or that affect the character or appearance of a 
listed building.  
 

Weekly List We also compile a weekly list of registered planning applications 
which is published on our website and emailed to councillors and 
other interested individuals, groups and organisations..  
 

 
20.2. Further details on the methods we use to publicise different types of applications can be 

found within Appendix A.  
 

21. WHO WE CONSULT  
 

21.1. Once we have registered a planning application, we will undertakepublicise it for 
consultation. The period available for people to make comments is normally 21 days. 
How we publicise the application depends on the type of planning application, which is 
set out in relevant government regulations.  
 

21.2. In most cases, where new development (e.g. ‘major’ application) affects more properties 
than those that are immediately adjacent to the boundary of the site, wider consultation 
may be carried out. We encourage residents and businesses to subscribe to our email 
alerts, which (by post code) will automatically notify you of applications made in your 
street. 

 
21.3. A list of who is consulted is set out overleaf:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



27 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    Figure 9 – Minimum Neighbourhood Notification 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22. VIEWING A PLANNING APPLICATION 
 

22.1. We publish a list of all planning applications received. This is known as the Planning 
Application Register and is on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register   

 

Neighbours:  

Neighbours adjacent to 
the boundary, as shown 
in Figure 9, will be 
notified of planning 
applications. This is 
subject to the type of 
application submitted, as 
shown in Appendix A.  

If neighbouring properties 
cannot be identified, a 
site notice on or near the 
application property will 
be displayed. 

Statutory Bodies: 

Statutory bodies will be consulted on 
planning applications for certain 
types of development in accordance 
with relevant regulations.  

Consultation with these bodies will 
vary depending on the type of 
development proposed and/or the 
location.  

Councillors: 

Ward councillorsmembers will be notifiednotified 
by email when an application relates to their area. 
Other councillors may be notified if they have 

    

Town and Parish Councils/Meetings: 

Town and parish councils will be notified of an 
application within and/or immediately adjacent to 
the town or parish boundary. They are not 
informed of permitted development proposals. 

Members of the Public: 

A public consultation will be 
undertaken for mostall applications. 
The scale of consultation and 
involvement with the community will 
depend upon the nature of each 
individual application.  

Resident Associations  

An association which advises the council of its 
area of interest, will be notified of any application 
within that area.  

Page 40

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register


28 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Via the website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/service
s-and-advice/planning-and-
building/find-application  

  
By post:  
Planning, Vale of White Horse 
District Council, 135 Eastern 
Avenue, Milton Park, OX14 4SB 
  
By email to: 
registration@southandvale.gov.uk   

  
 

 
Comments will only be accepted in 
a written format. 

  
When commenting on an 
application it is important to 
provide:  
• Planning application 
 reference number 
• Address of the site 
• Name of the case officer 

  
Comments will be publicly 
available to view on our website. 
All personal information such as 
telephone numbers, emails and 
signatures will be redacted, 
however addresses and names 
will be shown.  
 
 

We provide guidance on how to 
comment on planning applications 
which can viewed on the website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-
and-advice/planning-and-
building/find-application/guidance-
commenting-planning-application   
  
Comments made on a planning 
application are not transferred to a 
subsequent consultation or to a new 
planning application. If a new 
planning policy consultation takes 
place or a new planning application 
is submitted, for example, on the 
same application site, you will need 
to resubmit your comments for 
consideration. 
  
When commenting on planning 
applications, it is important to 
comment on the material planning 
matters. These are more likely to 
help shape the outcome of the 
application. To view what is 
considered to be a material planning 
consideration, please visit our 
website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-
and-advice/planning-and-
building/find-an-
application/comment-on-a-planning-
application/material-planning-
considerations  
 
In accordance with our Customer 
Service Standards, we will not 
tolerate comments that contain 
abusive, offensive or derogatory 
language, or those related to a 
personal circumstance not directly 
related to the application.  Any 
comments submitted to us in this 
manner will not be published. 
We do not respond individually to 
submitted comments on an 
application. 

@ 

Commenting on Planning Applications  

The council request all 
correspondence to be made via email 
and telephone in the first instance. 
Where this is not possible, letters will 
be accepted, but there will be a delay 
in processing them. Details on how to 
contact the council are highlighted 
above. 

 

Page 41

file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
mailto:registration@southandvale.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations


29 
 

23. TIME TO COMMENT ON APPLICATIONS 
 

23.1. Once a planning application is registered, the application will be publicised online and 
appropriate parties will be notified and invited to make comments. Appropriate parties are 
given 21 days to comment. This period is set out in the regulations. All comments on 
planning applications must be made in writing, either through email or on our website 
within: 

 
• 21 days from the date of our notification letter, or 
• 21 days from the date of a press notice or site notice appearing 

 
23.2. Please note that comments submitted after this 21-day publicity period has expired may 

not be considered, as a decision may have already been determined on the planning 
application. 

 
23.3. Due to the volume of correspondence we receive, it is not possible to respond to or 

discuss individual comments that we receive on planning applications, however a 
summary of these and the officers’ responses are provided in the officer report.  

 
24. DECISIONS ON PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
24.1. Decisions on planning applications will be determined in accordance with the decision-

making processes set out in the council’s constitution. 
 

24.2. The constitution sets out how we, the council, operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures that are followed to ensure that we are efficient, transparent and accountable. 

 
24.3. Further information on our constitution can be accessed online at: 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0   
 

Planning Committee 
 
24.4. The Planning Committee, which comprises elected councillors, has a duty to decide 

planning and other development-related applications. However, currently around 90 
percent of applications are determined under the scheme of delegation to the Head of 
Planning. The criteria for deciding which applications should be considered by Planning 
Committee are available on our website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees     

 
24.5. If the application on which you have commented is to be heard by the Planning 

Committee, we will write to you and invite you to speak or submit a statement for the 
meeting. Each speaker or group of speakers can speak for up to three minutes on each 
application site. Planning Committee arrangements can change, so please refer to our 
website for the latest position. 

 
24.6. You are welcome to view the agenda papers, which are published five working days 

before the meeting on our website, and attend any planning committee, whether it is run 
virtually or at a location. If you wish to speak or submit a statement at the meeting, please 
register with Democratic Services on 01235 422520 or email 
democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk  

Page 42

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
mailto:democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk


30 
 

25. SECTION 106 (PLANNING OBLIGATIONS) 
 

25.1. A Section 106 (‘S.106’) is a legal agreement between the council and developer(s) / 
landowner(s) and is used alongside Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to secure 
infrastructure needed to support development. 

 
25.2. S.106 will be used to mitigate the direct impacts of a proposed development and will be 

the primary mechanism for infrastructure provision on strategic development sites that do 
not contribute through CIL. S.106 is also the primary mechanism for securing Affordable 
Housing on all sites where there is a net gain of 10 or more dwellings. 

25.3. We do not consult on S.106 agreements. However, we seek confirmation from towns and 
parishes on community facilities that the new development may impact upon or that 
require improvement as a result of the development. Once we have an agreement and 
the development has commenced, we will notify town and parish councils or parish 
meetings of the sums available for identified community facilities and provide an update 
to them on a six-monthly basis. 
 

25.4. We are committed to working with towns and parishes to continue to identify local 
priorities and to deliver local projects.  A list of all S.106 contributions that are secured by 
the council are available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106  

 
26. PLANNING APPEALS  

26.1. If a planning application is refused, the applicant can either re-apply for planning 
permission with an alternative scheme, or they can appeal against the decision. The right 
to appeal is only available for the applicant as set out in regulations. Appeals are made to 
the Planning Inspectorate (PINS). Applying for an appeal is in the hands of the applicant 
and/or appellant and is not within the remit of the council. It is also possible to appeal 
against any planning condition imposed on a planning permission.  

 
26.2. Only the person who applied for planning permission, or was served with an enforcement 

notice, has a legal right to appeal (known as the appellant). There is no right of appeal for 
interested people or organisations (known as third parties).  

 
26.3. If an appeal is made, we will notify the interested parties of the appeal and provide 

information on how and when to respond to PINS. 
 

26.4. Appeals can be viewed on our Planning Appeals Register, available on the council’s 
website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-
building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register    

 
26.5. This online register is ‘live’ and includes current and recent appeals and sets out details 

of what stage the appeal is at, as well as the decision, if it has been made. 
 

26.6. Alternatively, you can view current appeals on the Planning Inspectorate’s Appeals 
Casework Portal, available online at: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-
inspectorate   
 

27. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 
 

27.1. When a person carries out development without planning permission, the council 

Page 43

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate


31 
 

considers what action to take. Although weThere is a duty on us to investigate 
allegations, however the decision on whether to take formal action is discretionary.  

 
27.2. If we find a breach of planning control has occurred, we can consider enforcement action. 

However, before such action is taken, we will give the person an opportunity to put things 
right. This could involve us asking for a new retrospective planning application. 

 
27.3. If no application is made and the breach is deemed to be harmful in planning terms, then 

formal action will be considered. We have several tools we can use, including 
enforcement notices and high court injunctions, however, as most breaches of planning 
control are not criminal matters, formal action is always the last resort. 

 
27.4. Before reporting a suspected breach of planning control, please take a look at the 

our Enforcement Statement, available at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement    

 
27.5. If you do suspect a breach of planning control: 

 

1. Please complete the Reporting Form., available at:. 
https://eform.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ebase/ufsmain?formid=ENFORCEMENT_COM
PLAINT&SOVA_TAG=VALE&ebd=0&ebz=1_1473948604648   

2. For further information on planning enforcement please contact the Customer 
Service Team by telephone - 01235 422600 or email the Enforcement Team 
directly at: planning.enforcement@southandvale.gov.uk    

3. Further details on our approach to addressing planning enforcement matters is 
available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 44

file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
https://eform.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ebase/ufsmain?formid=ENFORCEMENT_COMPLAINT&SOVA_TAG=VALE&ebd=0&ebz=1_1473948604648
mailto:planning.enforcement@southandvale.gov.uk
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
file://SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement


32 
 

GLOSSARY  
 
Term Definition 

 
Area Action Plan 
(AAP) 

A type of DPD that can be used to guide the development of a 
specific site or location, for example, a town centre, or other 
places where significant change is planned. 
 

Adoption Formal approval by the council of a DPD or SPD whereupon it 
achieves its full weight in making planning decisions. Sometimes 
referred to as ‘made’. 
 

Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR) 

A report produced at least annually assessing: 
• progress with the preparation of the local plan and other 
planning policy documents against the timetable published in the 
Local Development Scheme, and 
• the extent to which adopted plan policies are being 
successfully implemented. 
 

Breach of Planning 
Control 

A breach of planning control is defined in Section 17A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as:  
• the carrying out of development without the required planning 
permission; or 
• failing to comply with any condition or limitation subject to 
which planning permission has been granted. 
 

Charging Schedule A document produced by the council. As the charging authority, 
the document sets out rates to which the amount of Community 
Infrastructure Levy is chargeable in respect of development 
within the area to be determined. 
 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 
 

A levy (tax) that councils can choose to charge on new 
developments in their area. The money can be used to support 
development by funding infrastructure. 

Community Right to 
Build Order  

A type of neighbourhood development order allowing 
communities to decide for themselves what is built. This might 
include, for example, new community facilities and affordable 
housing. 
 

Constitution Vale of White Horse District Council’s Constitution sets out how 
the council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures that are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people. 
 

Consultation A dynamic process of dialogue by which people individuals and 
organisations are asked their views about an issue, for example 
- planning decisions, including the Local Plan, with the objective 
of influencinggiving everyone the opportunity to comment on 
decisions, policies or programmes of action. 

Consultation 
Statement/Report 

A document providing a summary of consultation responses and 
the key issues received on public consultation of planning policy 
documents. This document also sets out the changes made to a 
planning policy document following responses to a consultation. 

Page 45



33 
 

Term Definition 
 

Development Forum A Development Forum ensures that key stakeholders are 
engaged at the earliest possible stage to help shape a 
development. It particularly allows an applicant to positively 
engage with council officers, local councillors, towns and 
parishes and local community groups. 
 

Development 
Management (DM) 

The Development Management Team is responsible for 
assessing planning applications in accordance with the adopted 
development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and 
any other material considerations, including consultation 
responses.  
 

Development Plan This includes adopted Local Plans, Neighbourhood Plans and 
the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. It is defined in 
section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
Planning applications have to be decided in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 

Development Plan 
Documents (DPDs) 

Development Plan Documents set planning policies in council 
areas. All DPDs are subject to public consultation and 
independent examination. 
 

Duty to Co-operate 
(DtC) 

Created in the Localism Act 2011 and amends the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. It places a legal duty on 
councils, county councils in England and public bodies to 
engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to 
maximise the effectiveness of Local and Marine Plan preparation 
in the context of strategic cross-boundary matters. 
 

Full Planning 
Permission 
 

The ‘Application for Planning Permission’ form should be used 
for making a detailed planning application for development under 
Section 62 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), excluding householder developments. It should 
include all details of the application, such as transport, design 
and landscaping.  
 

General Permitted 
Development Order 
2015 

This Order sets out classes of development for which a grant of 
planning permission is automatically given, provided that no 
restrictive condition is attached or that the development is 
exempt from the permitted development rights. 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate  

A Lawful Development Certificate shows that the existing use of 
a building is lawful for planning purposes or that a proposal does 
not require planning permission.  
 

Listed Building  Buildings and structures which are listed by the Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media and Sport as being of special 
architectural and historic interest and whose protection and 
maintenance are the subject of special legislation. Listed 
building consent is required before any works are carried out on 

Page 46



34 
 

Term Definition 
 
a listed building. 
 

Local Development 
Order (LDO) 

An Order made by the council (under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a specific 
development proposal or classes of development. 
 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

This sets out the timetable and work programme for the 
preparation of the Local Plan and other Development Plan 
Documents. 
 

Local Plan The plan for the local area that sets out the long–term spatial 
vision and development framework for the district, as well as and 
strategic policies and proposals to deliver that vision. This 
replaces the Local Development Framework. 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 
1 (LPP1) 

This document contains the long-term spatial vision and 
strategic policies that guide growth in the district. 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 
2 (LPP2) 

This document contains detailed development management 
policies and additional site allocations that guide growth in the 
district. 
 

Major Applications Applications for developments of 10 or more dwellings, or 1,000 
sq m or more gross non-residential floorspace (including 
changes of use of existing buildings). 
 

Material Planning 
Consideration 

This is a matter that should be taken into account in deciding a 
planning application or on an appeal against a planning decision. 
This can include issues such as overlooking/loss of privacy, 
parking, noise, effect on a listed building or conservation area, or 
the effect on nature conservation etc. 
 

Minor Application Applications for developments of up to 9 dwellings or up to 999 
sq m gross non-residential floorspace (including changes of use 
of existing buildings), changes of use of open land and 
telecommunications. 
 

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

This sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied at a local level. The NPPF 
is a material consideration when making decisions on planning 
applications or appeals. 
 

National Planning 
Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) 

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is a planning 
practice online resource covering a range of planning issues. 

Neighbourhood 
Development Order 

A Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) can be used to 
permit different types of development (in full or outline) without 
the need for planning permission. 
 

Neighbourhood 
Development Plans 

A plan prepared by a town or parish or a neighbourhood forum 
for a particular neighbourhood area (made under the Planning 

Page 47



35 
 

Term Definition 
 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

Outline Planning 
Permission 

The Application for Outline Planning Permission is generally 
used to find out, at an early stage, whether or not a proposal is 
likely to be approved by the planning authority. This type of 
planning application allows fewer details about the proposal to 
be submitted. Further details are often provided through 
Reserved Matters Applications.  
 

Oxfordshire Growth 
Board 

The Growth Board is a joint committee of the six councils of 
Oxfordshire, together with key strategic partners. It has been set 
up to facilitate and enable joint working on economic 
development, strategic planning and growth.  
 

Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal 

The Oxfordshire Growth Board secured £215m of government 
investment for new homes and infrastructure across Oxfordshire. 
This was secured through the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal. In exchange for the investment within Oxfordshire, the six 
Local Authorities will plan to deliver 100,000 new homes across 
Oxfordshire between 2011 and 2031.  
 

Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 

The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a strategic planning document that 
seeks to provide a joined-up approach to planning across the 
county. It was agreed by all the councils within Oxfordshire to 
develop this plan as part of the Housing and Growth Deal.  
 

Planning Appeals After a decision on a planning application has been made by a 
local council, the applicant can appeal against the decision 
made. The Planning Inspectorate will organise for an 
independent Inspector to review the decision made and will 
make a decision.  
 

Planning 
Enforcement 

The Planning Enforcement Team can investigate when a person 
carries out development without the benefit of having planning 
permission. The team investigate what action is appropriate to 
take.  
 

Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) 

The Planning Inspectorate (PINS) is an executive agency 
sponsored by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. PINS deal with planning appeals, national 
infrastructure planning applications, examinations of Local Plans 
and other planning-related and specialist casework. 
 

Planning Permission Formal permission from a Local Planning Authority for the 
erection or alteration of buildings or similar development.  
 

Planning Policy The Planning Policy Team is responsible for producing the 
planning documents that make up the Development Plan. 
 

Pre-Application Pre–application is an informal process, independent of the 
formal planning application process, that provides an indication 
as to whether a proposal is likely to be considered acceptable or 

Page 48



36 
 

Term Definition 
 
not. The advice given does not constitute a formal response or 
decision of the council, but is an informal opinion by a Planning 
Officer. 
 

Prior Approval  Prior Approval means that a developer has to seek approval 
from the council that specified elements of the development are 
acceptable before work can proceed. The matters for prior 
approval will vary depending on the type of development. These 
are set out in full in the relevant parts in Schedule 2 of the 
General Permitted Development Order. 
 

Referendum A general vote by the electorate on a single political question 
which has been referred to them for a direct decision. For a 
neighbourhood plan referendum, the following question will be 
asked: Do you want [insert name of local planning authority] to 
use the Neighbourhood Plan for [insert name of neighbourhood 
area] to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 
 

Reserved Matters Reserved matters are those aspects of a proposed development 
where an applicant can choose not to submit details with an 
outline planning application, (i.e. they can be ‘reserved’ for later 
determination). 
 

Safeguarding Safeguarding in planning matters is a mechanism that is 
employed to ensure land which has been identified for 
development in the future is protected from conflicting 
development.  
 

Section 106 A legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act. They are legal agreements between the council 
and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a 
developer, ensuring that certain works related to a development 
are undertaken. 
 

Stakeholders Stakeholders can affect or be affected by the council’s actions, 
objectives and policies. The council will consult with key 
stakeholders at different stages of planning.  
 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement (SCI) 

The SCI sets out standards to be achieved by the council in 
relation to involving the community in the preparation, alteration 
and continuing review of all Development Plan Documents 
(DPDs) and in determining planning applications for 
development. 
 

Statutory Consultees Statutory consultees are those organisations and bodies, 
defined by statute, that local planning authorities are legally 
required to consult before reaching a decision on relevant 
planning applications.  
 

Strategic 
Environmental 

An assessment of the environmental effects of policies, plans 
and programmes, required by European legislation, which will be 

Page 49



37 
 

Term Definition 
 

Assessment (SEA) part of the public consultation on the policies. 
 

Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 

A planning policy document that adds further detail to the 
policies in the Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular 
issues, such as design. Supplementary Planning Documents are 
capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions, 
but are not part of the Development Plan.  
 

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) 

The process of assessing the economic, social and environment 
effects of a proposed plan. This process implements the 
requirements of the SEA Directive. It is required to be 
undertaken for all DPDs. 
 

Telecommunications 
Development 

In relation to telecommunications installation, there are three 
types of application/notification. These are: applications for 
notification of prior approval; applications for full planning 
permission; and licence notifications.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



38 
 

APPENDIX A: 

Publicity of Planning Applications and Consultation with Residents  

(Currently subject to change due to local Covid-19 restrictions). 

The table below sets out the method of public notification we are required to carry out for 
different types of applications.   

The requirements are based on the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Town and Country Planning (Permission in Principle) 
(Amendment) Order 2017, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development (England) Order 2015.  

Type of Development Publicity 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) application accompanied by 
an environmental statement  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which` the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 
Does not accord with the 
provisions of the development plan 
in force in the area in which the 
land to which the application 
relates is situated  
 
(Departure from the Development 
Plan) 
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 

Would affect a right of way to which 
Part 3 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 applies  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 
Major application  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  
 

Other and Minor applications  • Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier 

 

Page 51



39 
 

 

 

Applications affecting the setting of 
listed buildings  
 

• Publish in a local newspaper circulating in 
the locality in which the land is situated AND 

• For not less than 7 days display on or near 
the land, a notice indicating the nature of the 
development in question and naming a place 
within the locality where a copy of the 
application, and of all plans and other 
documents submitted with it, will be open to 
inspection by the public at all reasonable 
hours during the period of 21 days beginning 
with the date of publication of the notice 

Applications affecting the character 
and appearance of a conservation 
area 

• Published in a local newspaper circulating in 
the locality in which the land is situated AND 

• For not less than 7 days display on or near 
the land, a notice indicating the nature of the 
development in question and naming a place 
within the locality where a copy of the 
application, and of all plans and other 
documents submitted with it, will be open to 
inspection by the public at all reasonable 
hours during the period of 21 days beginning 
with the date of publication of the notice 

Planning applications within 10 
metres of relevant railway land  

• Serving notice (by letter) on any 
infrastructure manager of relevant railway 
land  
 

Permission in Principle  • Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 14 days 
 

Permission in Principle – Technical 
Details  

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 14 days OR 

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 21 days if the application site is 
within the setting of a listed building or 
conservation area  

 
Prior Notification  
(Change of use - office to 
residential and light industrial to 
residential) 

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier 
 
 

Prior Notification  
 
(Large extensions) 

• By writing a letter to each adjoining owner / 
occupier (specifying the date, not less than 
21 days by which representations are to be 
made to the Local Planning Authority 

Page 52



40 
 

In addition to notifying residents we also consult with the relevant statutory and technical 
consultees and the town and parish council.   

The following types of application do not have any requirements set out through the Acts 
requiring consultation with residents or town and parish councils.  Therefore, the Local 
Planning Authority has discretion as to informing interested parties.   

Agricultural Notification  • The LPA has a period of 28 days from the receipt of 
the application to determine it 

• The LPA have discretion over consulting parish 
councils and other groups about the proposal  
 

Discharge of Conditions  • The LPA will undertake consultation with the 
relevant technical consultee where necessary  
 

Minor Amendment  • As an application to make a non-material 
amendment is not an application for planning 
permission, the LPA has discretion as to whether 
they inform interested parties or seek their views  
 

 

 

 

 

Type of Development Publicity 

Page 53



Page 54



1 
 

Introduction 

One of our key responsibilities as a district council is to plan for how land is used in 

the Vale and what kinds of developments can happen and where.  

Decisions we make, and policies we set, affect local residents, businesses and 

organisations now and in the future, so it’s important that everyone has the 

opportunity to be involved from the start. We aim to work positively and proactively 

with our local communities to make sure they are fully informed, feel involved in the 

decision-making process and have timely and meaningful opportunities to have a 

say on planning matters upon which we consult. This Statement of Community 

Involvement (‘SCI’) explains how we ensure this happens.  

This SCI covers both the preparation and production of planning policy documents 

and how the community will be involved in decisions relating to planning 

applications. It also provides information on planning appeals, planning enforcement, 

the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106 legal agreements.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 55



2 
 

Contents 
 

1. What is our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)?  3 

Section 1 – Shaping our Future 

2. Our Principles for Community Engagement and Community and 3 

Stakeholder Involvement in Planning Policy and Planning  

Applications 

3. How to get involved in Planning      5 

4. Commitment to Equalities and Inclusive Consultation   5 

5. Further information on Planning      6 

6. Review of the SCI         6 

Section 2 – Community Involvement in the Preparation of the Local Plan and                                    

Planning Policy  

7. What is Planning Policy?       7 

8. Duty to Co-operate        7 

9. Public Involvement in Planning Policy     8 

10. Consultees         8 

11. Policy Documents we Consult on      10 

12. Other Development Plan Documents     19 

13. Timeframes for consultation      20 

14. Comments made on Planning Policy documents   20 

15. Monitoring         21 

Section 3 – Community Involvement in Planning Applications  

16. What is Development Management?      22 

17. Types of Planning Applications      22 

18. Planning Application process      22 

19. Pre-application advice       24 

20. Notification of Planning Applications      25 

21. Who we Consult                       26 

22. Viewing a Planning Application      27 

23. Time to comment on Applications                 28 

24. Decisions on Planning Applications     28 

25. Section 106 (Planning Obligations) legal agreements   29 

26. Planning Appeals        29 

27. Planning Enforcement       30 

 

Glossary           31 

Appendix A           37 

 

 

Page 56



3 
 

1. WHAT IS OUR STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT? 
 

1.1 We are committed to working in a clear and transparent way as the Local Planning 

Authority and are keen to help anyone who is interested in getting involved with the 

planning process.   

 

1.2 Our SCI sets out how and when we engage with local communities (local residents, 

councillors, businesses, organisations and statutory consultees) and highlights the 

opportunities for local communities to provide comments on new planning documents, 

such as Local Plans, and how they might be involved in the development of their local 

area/district. It sets out what methods of consultation we use and how we process and 

feedback on the comments we receive. 

 

1.3 We adopted our previous SCI in 2016. This 2020 version now reflects the government’s 

latest planning policy guidance and legislation1, including the revised National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF 2019). It also provides updated information regarding Planning 

in the Vale, including how we operate during the Covid-19 outbreak. The 2016 SCI was 

split into three documents; the current version combines these documents into one.  

 

1.4 This Statement of Community Involvement (2020) comprises three sections:  

Section 1: Shaping our Future - sets out our overall approach to community 

engagement and involvement in the planning process. 

Section 2: Community Involvement in the Preparation of the Local Plan and 

Planning Policy - provides information on how to get involved with and influence the 

preparation of the Local Plan and other planning policy documents. 

Section 3: Community Involvement in Planning Applications - provides information 

on how to become aware of, view and comment on planning applications.  

Section 1 – Shaping our Future 
 

2. OUR PRINCIPLES FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNITY AND 
STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY AND PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS  
 

2.1. Our role as the Local Planning Authority is to ensure planning process, rules and policies 

are followed properly. It is also very important that the policies we create and the 

planning decisions we make take into account the views of local communities.  

 

2.2. New development has a long-lasting impact on its surroundings, so it is important that 

people have a chance to influence proposals. We therefore engage with local 

communities (residents, councillors, businesses, organisations and stakeholders) across 

the district, by using a range of different methods and channels. We want to give 

everyone an opportunity to have their voice heard. To do that, we aim to follow the 

consultation principles developed by central government alongside our Vale of White 

Horse Public Engagement Charter 2016-2020, which commits us to the following points: 

 

 
1 Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires Local 

Planning Authorities to produce a Statement of Community Involvement. 

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/VOWH%20Public%20Engagement%20Charter%202016-20%20-%20PUBLISHED%20(November%202016).pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/VOWH%20Public%20Engagement%20Charter%202016-20%20-%20PUBLISHED%20(November%202016).pdf


4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• We will: 
o Keep you informed of progress and explain decisions and/or outcomes on 

planning policy documents through your preferred channel of communication. 
o Check to see if we already have information that we can use, such as the 

results from previous consultations and evidence provided to us by 
communities – for example, published neighbourhood or community-led plans.  

o Always protect the personal details of respondents in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018. 

 

• We will: 
o Make our planning documents, background studies and responses to 

consultations readily available to the public on our website and in some 
cases, if necessary, on paper during normal office hours at our offices.   

o Maximise the use of the internet in our consultations. 
o Recognise that other forms of engagement are necessary and endeavour to 

communicate in a variety of ways (e.g. newspaper, social media). 
o Where required, make information available in a range of easily accessible 

formats on request (e.g. in large print, braille, audio, email, easy-read and 
alternative languages). 

o Make our information publicly available (for example, information on the 
progress of proposals and feedback on your comments). 

 

• We will:  
o Communicate in ways that are relevant and accessible to all sections of our 

community and proportionate to the issue. 
o Endeavour to engage with groups in our community that can find us less 

accessible (e.g. disability groups and ethnic groups – these are sometimes 
referred to as ‘hard to reach’ groups) or those likely to be particularly affected 
by a proposal. 

o Encourage involvement from groups that have traditionally not been involved 
in the planning process (for example, targeted events with younger people). 

o Support local communities who wish to prepare neighbourhood plans. 
o Hold events or meetings in accessible locations or in accessible ways at 

times appropriate for different members of the community.   

 

• We will endeavour to engage with a wide range of formal and informal local 
community groups and voluntary organisations, stakeholders, councillors, town 
and parish councils and parish meetings and other groups in the community, of 
which we become aware. 

 

• We will: 
o Ensure early involvement with local communities in the preparation of our 

planning policy documents and in the consideration of planning applications, 
as the earlier local communities are involved, the better chance they have to 
influence decisions. 

o Have in place effective mechanisms for documenting views and clear feedback 
mechanisms to demonstrate how the views of the community have influenced 
and benefited the plan/decisions.   

 

• We will: 
o Keep the process simple by writing our documents in Plain English and 

explaining any planning language or terms that we use. 
o Explain clearly what we are consulting on and the reasons why we want to 

involve you.  

Communicating 

clearly 

  

Providing  

feedback  

and sharing  

information 

  

Recognising 

the needs of  

different groups  

  
  

Making access 

to 

information 

easy 

Being inclusive of 

all 

Early 

involvement 

   

Page 58



5 
 

3. HOW TO GET INVOLVED IN PLANNING 
 

3.1. We recognise that good plan making significantly benefits from early and meaningful 

engagement with local communities (local residents, councillors, businesses, 

organisations and statutory consultees). We want everyone to have the opportunity 

to influence the outcome of our plan-making documents and planning decisions. We 

explain in sections 2 and 3 how we will engage and consult with local communities 

on the preparation and production of planning policy documents and how the local 

community will be involved in the decisions relating to planning applications.  

 

3.2. In order to ensure engagement with a wide range of organisations and individuals, 

all of our planning documents and planning applications are available to view and 

access from our website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-

and-building and we encourage you to view documents online.  
 

3.3. In addition, paper copies of planning policy documents are usually available to view at 

our office on request (e.g. in large print, braille, audio, email, easy-read and 

alternative languages), if no restrictions are in place - e.g. related to Covid-19. Details 

regarding where to view documents are set out below. During consultation periods 

and if no restrictions are in place documents may also be made available at a number 

of locations across the district e.g. libraries.  Requests for printed copies, CD memory 

sticks or other formats of the documents will carry a charge including an 

administration charge.  

 

Our office (at the time of 

publication of this document): 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council,  

135 Eastern Avenue, 

Milton Park, Milton, OX14 4SB 

Opening hours (if no local Covid-19 

restrictions in place): 

 

Monday – Thursday: 8.30am – 5pm  

Friday: 8.30am – 4.30pm 

 

3.4. Legislation also requires us to consult ‘specific consultation bodies’ and other interest 

groups. These bodies are defined in Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

 

Database of Consultees 

 

3.5. We keep an up-to-date database of individuals, groups and stakeholders who we 

regularly contact on planning matters in accordance with General Data Protection 

Regulations. If you would like to be added to the database to receive updates on planning 

policy consultations and relevant updates, please use our consultation sign up form. If 

you would like to amend your details, please email planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

or call our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600.  

 

4. COMMITMENT TO EQUALITIES 
 

4.1. We are committed to equality and ensuring that everyone has access to our services. We 
comply with the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 and have 
developed, jointly with South Oxfordshire District Council, a Corporate Equality Policy 
which sets out our commitment to ensuring equality considerations are included in 
everything we do, including consultations.  

Page 59

file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Shared/Policy%20(GDPR)/Shared/Future%20Local%20Plan/007.%20SCI/02.%20Draft%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Shared/Policy%20(GDPR)/Shared/Future%20Local%20Plan/007.%20SCI/02.%20Draft%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/made
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/contact-us/requesting-information/data-protection
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/contact-us/requesting-information/data-protection
https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/consultationsignup/
mailto:planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Corporate%20equality%20policy-final_0.pdf


6 
 

 
4.2. We also have a Corporate Equality Action Plan 2016/17–2019/20 which sets our 

objectives from the previous few years and how we have or have not achieved these 
objectives.  
 

4.3. As part of our commitment to ensuring all residents have equal access to council 
information and services, including consultations, we have a translation and interpretation 
policy which sets out our approach to responding to requests and proactively offering 
these services.  
 

5. FURTHER INFORMATION ON PLANNING  
 

5.1. While there is a wealth of information available on our website, there are other 

organisations that provide information on the planning system. Useful websites include:  

• Planning Portal – www.planningportal.co.uk   

• National Planning Practice Guidance – 

www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance   

• Plain English Guide to the Planning System – 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system  

Planning Aid England 

5.2. Planning Aid England is an independent voluntary organisation linked to the Royal 

Town Planning Institute (RTPI) which includes a network of professional Chartered 

Town Planners. Planning Aid England offers impartial advice and independent support. 

For further information, contact them online by visiting www.rtpi.org.uk/planning-aid or 

call 0207 929 9494. 

 
6. REVIEW 

 
6.1. We will continually assess how effective our consultation and engagement techniques 

and methods are in gaining community involvement and in particular assess our success 
at reaching specific groups.  
 

6.2. We will review this SCI periodically to take account of changes to legislation, government 
guidance or local circumstances (for example, Covid-19 could have an impact on our 
methods) and any comments received relating to consultation methods will be considered 
on an ongoing basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/CEAP%202016-17%20-%202019-20%20updated%20April%2018-published_0.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Translation%20and%20Interpretation%20policy_update%20April%202013_finalv2_0.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Translation%20and%20Interpretation%20policy_update%20April%202013_finalv2_0.pdf
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plain-english-guide-to-the-planning-system
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/planning-aid


7 
 

Section 2 – Planning Policy 
 

7. WHAT IS PLANNING POLICY? 

 
7.1. Planning policy is concerned with preparing and implementing plans that help us decide 

where development takes place. We have a range of planning policies that are used to 
inform decisions to approve or reject planning applications. Our planning policies are 
contained in a variety of policy documents which make up our Development Plan. The 
key planning policy document we must prepare is a Local Plan for the district. Figure 1 
below sets out our current Development Plan. 
 
 Figure 1: Vale Development Plan  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. DUTY TO CO-OPERATE 
 

8.1. Some planning issues may cross administrative boundaries, such as planning for strategic 
infrastructure or planning for the sustainable development or use of land on or near our 
boundary. We need to take into account our neighbouring councils’ policies and proposals for 
addressing these strategic matters in the process of making our Local Plan.  

 
8.2. We have a ‘Duty to Co-operate’ with other local planning authorities and public bodies to 

engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis on strategic cross boundary 
issues as a result of section 110 of the Localism Act 2011.  The Duty to Co-operate is not 
a duty to agree, but we will make every effort to secure necessary cooperation. The Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out the public 
bodies that we are required to co-operate with. 

 
8.3. We will exercise our Duty to Co-operate with our neighbouring councils and develop 

Statements of Common Ground when developing a Local Plan, as required by the NPPF.  
 

 

 

Page 61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf


8 
 

9. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY 

9.1. We will continue to explore new and effective methods to carry out consultations and to learn 

from what is and isn’t successful when engaging with our communities. 

9.2. At all stages of plan-making, we will publicise any consultation material and accompanying 

documents on our website. Consultees registered on our planning database will be notified 

(by their preferred method, e.g. letter or email) of any consultations on future plan-making 

proposals. 

9.3. All of our planning policy documents are made available on our website. We will also make 

information available in other ways, where appropriate. 

9.4. We will always ensure that our consultations on planning policy documents are as 

comprehensive as possible. The methods of consultation we use will vary depending on the 

nature of the planning policy document, the stage of the document being consulted on and 

the geographical scope or nature of the planning issue being considered in the document. 

9.5. Depending on the scope of the consultation, the engagement methods   used can include one 

or more of the examples set out in the list below. This list is not exclusive, there are other 

engagement methods that we may use: 

 

• Make consultation material available online. This can also be made available at our 
office, on request, when they are open during the consultation period.  

• Hold targeted physical or online workshops (town and parishes; stakeholders). 

• Hold physical or online public exhibitions (staffed and un-staffed). 

• Publish online surveys and responses and provide electronic or paper copies (when 
requested or justified). 

• Publish leaflets, posters and bulletins (electronic and where appropriate/justified 
paper copy). 

• Publish press releases to local media. 

• Publish formal notices in newspapers circulating across the district. 

• Notify consultees registered on our planning database by their preferred method of 
contact. 

• Use social media (e.g. Twitter and Facebook). 

• Target work with harder to reach groups - e.g. disability access groups, ethnic 
minority groups, faith groups and young people. 

• Target work with community groups, voluntary organisations, businesses and 
education providers. 

• Hold physical or online public meetings. 
 

10. CONSULTEES 
 

10.1. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the 
legal requirements for consultation and public participation in respect of local planning 
documents.  

 
Local Communities 

10.2. We continuously look to understand who we need to talk to in the local community to ensure 
that we consult in the most effective way. The local community includes, but is not limited to, 
the following: town and parish councils and meetings; bordering Local Planning Authorities; 
residents of our district; local interest groups; local businesses; local community groups and 
organisations; faith groups; schools, colleges and higher education providers; and ‘hard to 

Page 62

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf


9 
 

reach’ groups. 
 

10.3. We will seek to engage with the local community through both our general consultation 
procedures and, if appropriate, through targeted events, (e.g. public meetings, exhibitions 
and other forums). This is to ensure we create opportunities to capture representative 
views of the whole community. At times, the council may use technology, such as videos 
and telephone conferences, to undertake these. 

 
10.4. We will work with those promoting development sites through the planning process to 

ensure that any site testing is undertaken on a comprehensive basis, which will be set out 
in a site selection methodology document.  
 
Specific and general consultation bodies 

10.5. Government regulations are clear that certain bodies are consulted at key stages of 
preparing local planning policy documents. These bodies are sometimes referred to as 
statutory consultees and include bodies such as the Environment Agency, Historic 
England, Natural England and Highways England and any other organisations with whom 
we have a Duty to Co-operate. We will always consult on our planning policy documents 
with the appropriate consultation bodies, in accordance with the relevant and up to date 
regulations. 

 

Neighbourhood Planning 

10.6. When consulting on the designation of a new neighbourhood area boundary or amending 
a designated neighbourhood area boundary, we will, in accordance with the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, consult with the relevant statutory 
bodies (e.g. Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England), neighbouring 
councils and adjoining towns and parishes. 

 
10.7. When qualifying bodies are consulting on their draft neighbourhood plan (in accordance 

with Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012) we will 
provide some support before they submit the plan to us. 

 
10.8. When consulting on a draft neighbourhood plan submitted by the qualifying body, at 

publication stage in accordance with Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012, we will consult with those statutory bodies identified in 
Schedule 1 of those regulations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



10 
 

11.   POLICY DOCUMENTS WE CONSULT ON 
 

Local Plan and Development Plan Documents (DPDs) 

11.1. These are plans which set out a vision and a framework for the future development of 
the district, addressing needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the economy, 
community facilities and infrastructure, as well as developing a basis for safeguarding 
the environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design. Local Plans 
generally look forward 15-20 years and set out detailed policies we use to make 
decisions on planning applications. 

 
11.2. Currently, there are regulations as to what constitutes a Local Plan, and as a minimum, we 

will comply with the relevant prevailing regulations when consulting on all of our planning 
policy documents. We will make any background papers available to view online, which 
either: disclose any facts or matters related to the subject matter; or were considered in 
preparing our planning policy documents.2 

 
11.3. An Area Action Plan (‘AAP’) is a type of optional DPD that can be used to provide 

specific planning policy and guidance regarding the development of a specific site or 
location, i.e. an area of planned significant change, such as a major regeneration area / 
town centre. 
 

11.4. AAPs are an important material consideration in determining planning applications, 
appeals and enforcement matters. 

 
11.5. Figure 1.1 shows the key stages in preparing DPDs, such as the Local Plan and Area 

Action Plans (AAP). The statutory stages in the preparation of these documents is set 
out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 
11.6. Our current Local Plan is presented in two documents and sets out the long-term spatial 

vision for the district: 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 1: Strategic Sites and Policies 

• This sets out the overall development strategy for the district and where new housing 
and employment should be located. 

 
Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites 

• This includes detailed policies and non–strategic site allocations not included in the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 

• It also deals with our contribution to Oxford City’s unmet housing need and focusses 
on supporting Didcot Garden Town. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 See paragraph 3.3 above relating to document availability reflecting impacts from COVID-19. 

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/LPP1
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/LPP2


11 
 

Figure 1.1: Key Stages in the Preparation of Development Plan Documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

11.7. Supplementary Planning Documents (‘SPDs’) are based on adopted Local Plan policies 
and are a tool for providing detailed guidance on adopted policies and proposals.  
Although legally they do not form part of the Development Plan or have the same 
‘weight’ as a DPD, they are an important material consideration in determining planning 
applications, appeals and enforcement matters.  

 
11.8. They can also be produced quicker than a Local Plan as they are not subject to an 

independent examination. Figure 2 shows the key stages in preparing SPDs. 
 

11.9. Further information on our SPDs can be found online at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
policy/supplementary-planning-documents  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reg18* 

Reg 19* 

Reg 22* 

Reg 24* 

Reg 26* 

Pre-production stage  
- evidence gathering 

Public participation on DPD content, scope  

and/or preferred options (minimum six weeks) 

Process representations received 

Preparation of DPD 

Publication of DPD  

(minimum six week consultation) 

Respond to representations 
received on the published DPD 

Submission of DPD to  
Secretary of State  

Examination by Independent Planning Inspector 
(appointed by Secretary of State) 

Adoption of final DPD by 
Full Council 

Monitoring and Review  

Representation  

and 

participation  

 

 

Community 

involvement 

Page 65

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents


12 
 

Figure 2: Key Stages in the Preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

11.10. The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is an integral part of the plan preparation process and 
is required for each Local Plan document. It is also needed for some neighbourhood 
development plans and SPDs. It looks at the likely environmental, social and economic 
effects of a plan to make sure that the plan promotes sustainable development and 
takes the most appropriate approach when judged against reasonable alternatives. The 
SA, where appropriate, will incorporate the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), 
in accordance with European Directive EC/2001/42.  
 

11.11. As Local Plans cover the whole district, and therefore will impact the environment on a 
large scale, it is appropriate for a SEA to be incorporated into the SA. At each stage of 
preparing Local Plans, there is a corresponding stage of the SA and these documents 
are made available for comment during public consultation. 
 

11.12. Where proposals in an SPD or Neighbourhood Development Plan (‘NDP’) are likely to 
have significant environmental effects that have not already been assessed when 
preparing a Local Plan, an SEA may be required, and groups may choose to undertake 
an SA that incorporates the requirements of an SEA and take it further by considering 
social and economic aspects. 
 

11.13. We will consult on draft SA/SEA reports alongside the draft version of the plan to which 
it relates.  For example, the SA Report (incorporating requirements of the SEA) should 
be published alongside the Publication Version of a Local Plan or other DPD. It may 
also be appropriate to publish any SEA reports alongside early consultation documents. 

 
11.14. Figure 3 shows the key stages when preparing an SA which incorporates the 

requirements of an SEA. An SA is usually required for Local Plans and all other DPDs. 
Figure 3a shows the key stages of neighbourhood plan preparation and their 
relationship with the SEA process. 

 

 

 

Reg 12* 

Reg 14* 

Pre-production stage – evidence 
gathering and early engagement 

Prepare draft SPD 

Consultation on draft SPD  

(minimum four weeks) 

Respond to representations on Draft SPD 
and make any necessary changes 

Adoption of final SPD by Cabinet  
or Cabinet member 

Community 
involvement 

Page 66



13 
 

Figure 3: Key Stages in the Preparation of Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessments  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEA Screening 
 

Consult environmental assessment  
consultation bodies on scope  
of SEA (minimum five weeks) 

Setting the context and objectives to  

develop the framework for SA/SEA 

Consult on scope of SA/SEA 
(minimum five weeks) 

Develop and refine alternatives: 
appraise plan options 

Prepare the SA/SEA 
environmental report 

Publish and consult on SA/SEA report 
(minimum six weeks) 

Appraise any significant changes to  
the plan following consultation 

Reg 9* 

Reg 12* 

Reg 13* 

Community 

involvement 

Consult with 

environmental 

assessment 
bodies 

Page 67



14 
 

Figure 3a: Key Stages of Neighbourhood Plan Preparation and their relationship 
with the Strategic Environmental Assessment Process (National Planning Practice 
Guidance) 
 

 
 

Page 68



15 
 

Neighbourhood Development Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders 

11.15. Neighbourhood planning is a way for local people and communities to take a lead on 
planning for the future of their area. Neighbourhood planning can be led by a 
town/parish council or by a neighbourhood forum, which are specially set up for 
neighbourhood planning. These should be open to anyone who lives or works in the 
area they cover.  

 
11.16. Local communities wishing to play an active role in planning for their area can: 

• Prepare a neighbourhood development plan setting out the vision, objectives and 
planning policies to shape development of their neighbourhood and/or; 

• Seek a grant of permission directly for certain types of development in their 
neighbourhood through a Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) or a Community 
Right to Build Order. 

 
11.17. An NDO can be used to permit different types of development (in full or outline) without 

the need for planning permission. When preparing an NDO, it must still be in line with 
national and local policy and other legal requirements. The town, parish or 
neighbourhood forum is the only body that can prepare an NDO in their area. 

 
11.18. The process for making a neighbourhood development plan or an NDO is different from 

preparing a Local Plan or a Development Plan Document. 
 

11.19. Figure 4 shows the key stages when preparing a neighbourhood development plan 
and/or an NDO. 

 
11.20. We have a ‘duty to support’ qualifying bodies preparing neighbourhood plans in 

accordance with the relevant regulations. We strongly encourage and support local 
communities wishing to prepare a neighbourhood plan and have allocated resources to 
help communities prepare their plans. 

 

11.21. Our Neighbourhood Planning Team provide support to neighbourhood planning groups 
through the process of developing their neighbourhood plan. Our support includes:  

 
• advice and guidance throughout - an introductory meeting to discuss your aims and 

outline the process 
• a lead officer to attend meetings, where appropriate, and offer expert advice alongside 

their colleagues 
• advice on how to obtain funding  
• advice on external sources of support and guidance that is available to you 
• advice on engaging with your community - including how and why you need to record this 
• informing you which external organisations and statutory bodies you will need to consult 
• advice on what evidence is required to help you write your plan 
• running consultations on area designation proposals (where appropriate) as well as 

submitted plans 
• reviewing your draft neighbourhood plan to ensure it meets the basic conditions 
• organising the Independent Examination and Referendum for your plan. 

 
11.22. Our Consultation and Community Engagement team advise neighbourhood planning 

groups on best practice community engagement through meetings, workshops and 
written guidance and provide support with surveys, public engagement events and 
communications.  
 

11.23. The team also runs the district council’s statutory neighbourhood plan consultations and 
advise groups on the statutory duty they need to follow when carrying out their own 

Page 69



16 
 

consultation. For example, they advise groups regarding:  
  

• the different consultation methods that could be used; 

• the consultation materials required; 

• those who should be consulted and at what stage; 

• consultation events; and 

• the publication of consultation documents. 
 

11.24. If you would like to find out more regarding neighbourhood planning, please contact a 
Neighbourhood Planning Officer by emailing planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk or 
calling our Customer Service Team on 01235 422600. 

 
11.25. Further details on our ‘made’ neighbourhood plans and those that are being developed  

can be found on our website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplans 
 

Figure 4: Key Stages in the Preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan and/or 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Right to Build Order 

* Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

** If more than 50 per cent of people who voted in the referendum supported the plan/order, the 

council must adopt it, unless the decision would breach or otherwise be incompatible with an 

EU obligation or any convention rights 

 

 

Neighbourhood Area Application submitted 

to and consulted on by the council   
(minimum four weeks) 

Submission of draft Neighbourhood  
Plan/Order to Council 

Draft Neighbourhood Development 
Plan/Order is produced 

Submission of Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
and responses to independent Examiner 

Publication of Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
(minimum six weeks) 

Independent Examination 

Neighbourhood Plan/Order 
made final by Full Council** 

Referendum on Neighbourhood Plan/Order 

Monitoring and review 

Reg 6* 

Reg 14* 

Reg 16* 

Pre-submission consultation 
(minimum five weeks) 

Community 

involvement 

Community 

involvement 

Community 
involvement 

Page 70

mailto:planning.policy@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplans


17 
 

11.26. A Community Right to Build Order is a particular type of NDO. It is a route to encourage 
development, allowing communities to decide for themselves what is built. This might 
include, for example, new community facilities and affordable housing. 

 
11.27. It is put together by local people who can decide on the type, quantity and design of 

buildings they want, and the locations for these buildings. 
 

11.28. A proposal can be developed as part of the full neighbourhood planning process, or on 
its own. 

 
11.29. Figure 5 shows the minimum key stages when preparing a Community Right to Build 

Order. 
 

Figure 5: Key Stages in the Preparation of a Community Right to Build Order 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

11.30. The CIL is a charge (tax) that is levied on new development floor space. It is intended to 
contribute towards the provision of infrastructure to support growth. The statutory 
process for preparing a CIL Charging Schedule is set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended) and is shown in Figure 6. This includes a 
4-week public consultation on the draft charging schedule before it is sent to the 
Secretary of State for examination.  

 
11.31. The CIL is a tariff-based charging schedule that councils can use to levy financial 

contributions from developers on new development. Contributions collected are then 
used to help provide new community facilities and local infrastructure, such as schools, 
roads, open spaces etc. This charging schedule and any subsequent reviews are 

Is the site or area 
already in a 
designated 

neighbourhood 
area? 

Form a community group (e.g. town, 
parish or a neighbourhood forum) 

 

Define the neighbourhood area 

Submission and publication on draft 
Community Right to Build Order to  

Council (minimum six weeks) 

Prepare the Community Right to Build  
Order and consult on pre-submission  

(minimum six weeks)  

Independent Examination 

 

Referendum on Community 
Right to Build Order  

Order used to grant 
outline or full consent 

N Y 

Community 

Involvement 
Apply for 

neighbourhood 
area designation 

Page 71

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents


18 
 

consulted on with the local community at the Regulation 16 stage of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) before it is submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate. We will consult in accordance with this SCI, as well as current 
national legislation.  

 
11.32. The money we raise from CIL will help fund major infrastructure projects which will 

benefit the wider district, along with individual projects within towns and parishes, 
whereas Section 106 is a legal agreement that sets out obligations to deal with 
mitigating on-site planning impacts. 

 
11.33. More information on CIL, including the spending strategy, can be found by visiting: 

  www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/cil and www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106   
 
Figure 6: Key Stages in the Preparation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

 
Local Development Order (LDO)  

11.34. A Local Development Order (LDO) is prepared (and, in following years, reviewed) by the 
district council. It grants planning permission to specific types of development within a 
defined area. For example, Milton Park is covered by an LDO. 

 
11.35. The purpose of the LDO is to streamline the planning process by removing the need for 

developers to make a planning application to the council, provided that the development 
meets set parameters.  

 
11.36. The extent of public consultation will depend on the nature and scale of the proposal. 

For example, an LDO for a specific site may require focused consultation with local 
residents and/or the town or parish council/meeting.  

 
11.37. Proposals for an LDO that cover a broader scope may require wider and proportionate 

consultation where necessary. 
 

11.38. Figure 7 shows the key stages when preparing (and, where necessary, reviewing) an 
LDO. 

 

 

 

 

 

Publish final draft Charging Schedule for 

consultation (minimum four weeks) 

Examination by Independent Planning Inspector 

(appointed by Secretary of State) 

Reg 16* 

Reg 25* 

Pre-production stage – evidence 
gathering  

 

Approval and publication of charging schedule 

Reg 21* 

Community 

Involvement 

Page 72

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/cil
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/milton-park-local-development-order


19 
 

Figure 7: Key Stages Required in the Preparation of a Local Development Order (LDO)   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015  

 

12. OTHER DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 
 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

12.1. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a strategic planning document that seeks to provide a 

joined-up approach to planning across the county. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a 

commitment in the Housing and Growth Deal, secured through the Oxfordshire Growth 

Board and signed up to by the council. The plan, once adopted, will sit above Local Plans 

but below the National Planning Policy Framework. It will become part of the 

Development Plan. 

 

12.2. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 will seek to explore what residents consider is important to 

them and also their aspirations for the local area from a planning perspective. The 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 has a separate Statement of Community Involvement. 

Additionally, a new timeline has recently been published that sets out the timeframe for 

delivering the plan, including when public consultation will take place. The new timeline 

for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 can be found here: https://oxfordshireplan.org/timeline/    

 
12.3. Further information can be found on the Oxfordshire Plan website: 

www.oxfordshireplan.org/   

Oxfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste Plan 

12.4. Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for preparing and consulting on this plan to 

provide up to date minerals and waste planning policies and proposals for the period up 

to 2031. For more information on this plan, please visit: 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-

policy/minerals-and-waste-policy   
 

12.5. The county council are responsible for minerals and waste planning applications and 

county council owned operational development. District councils are responsible for any 

other planning development. For more information, please visit: 

Council prepares draft LDO 

Public consultation (copy of draft order  
and statement of reasons sent to 

consultees) (minimum 28 days) 

Consider representations and make 
necessary changes to LDO 

Adoption of LDO by council and 
Statement of Reasons  

Send LDO and Statement 
of Reasons to Secretary of State within 

28 days of adoption 

Reg 38(1); (3)* 

Reg 38(10)* 

Reg 38(11)* 

Community 

involvement 

Page 73

https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-February-2019.pdf
https://oxfordshireplan.org/timeline/
https://oxfordshireplan.org/
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-policy/minerals-and-waste-policy
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-policy/minerals-and-waste-policy


20 
 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-

application/making-planning-application  

12.6. For updates on the progress and timeframe for the documents within the Development 
Plan, our Local Development Scheme provides this information and can be found online: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy 
 

13. TIMEFRAMES FOR CONSULTATION 
 

13.1. We will consult on our planning policy documents at the relevant stages of plan-making, 
and we will be guided by up to date legislation, government guidance and best practice 
advice from our Consultation and Community Engagement Team. 

 
13.2. We will carry out planning policy consultations in line with the principles for engagement 

as set out in Section 1 of this SCI, and in accordance with the latest timetable set out in 
our Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

 
13.3. Our start date for planning policy consultations will be set out in a press release and/or 

formal statutory notice. At the start of the consultation, we will always notify statutory 
consultees, and those registered on our consultation database for planning matters, of 
the commencement dates and period for comment, along with clear guidance regarding 
how to comment. 

 
13.4. Consultation periods may differ depending on the nature of the planning policy document 

being consulted on, the scope of the issues being consulted on and the time of year. 
 

13.5. Legislation currently requires us to consult on planning policy documents for the minimum 
statutory period, as set out in Table 1. If an update to the relevant legislation indicates 
any changes to the periods for consultation, we will ensure this is reflected in any 
forthcoming planning policy consultations that we undertake. 

 
Table 1: Minimum statutory period for public consultation on Planning Policy 
documents 
 

Type of Planning Policy document Minimum statutory period 
for public consultation 

Development Plan Documents, e.g. Local Plan; Area 
Action Plan  

6 Weeks 

Supplementary Planning Document  4 Weeks 

Community Infrastructure Levy  4 Weeks 

Scoping of Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 

5 Weeks 

Local Development Order  28 Days 

Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation 4 Weeks 

Draft Neighbourhood Plan/Neighbourhood 
Development Order   

6 Weeks 

Community Right to Build Order  6 Weeks 

 
13.6. We may seek to extend our consultations in certain circumstances, for example, where a 

public holiday, or a school holiday, falls within the consultation period.  
 

14. COMMENTS MADE ON PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS  
 

14.1. For consultation on matters related to plan-making, we publish a summary of the 

Page 74

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-application/making-planning-application
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/make-planning-application/making-planning-application
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy


21 
 

responses we receive and prepare reports after each stage of consultation. Each 
consultation report sets out how we have considered the comments made during the 
consultation before moving to the next stage of plan-making. We make our consultation 
reports available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy and on 
request at our council offices when open. 
 

14.2. We will acknowledge receipt of representations on planning policy submitted by email.   
 

14.3. We will not send acknowledgements to comments submitted to us on feedback forms at 
consultation events. Hard copy written comments will be issued with a receipt if 
requested.   
 

14.4. We receive a high volume of correspondence and are unable to respond to individual 
comments that we receive during a particular consultation.  
 

14.5. The comments we receive on our planning policy documents will be made publicly 
available online at the earliest opportunity, once the consultation has finished.  

 
14.6. Our customer service standards set out how we will deal with correspondence by letter, 

email and telephone, as well as with those who visit our office, when open. The council 
require correspondence to be made via email and telephone in the first instance. 
 

14.7. Further information on our customer service standards can found on our website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards   
 

14.8. Further information on how the council is operating, including its customer service, please 
visit our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-
community-support 

 

15. MONITORING  
 

15.1. We are required to prepare an Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) for the Development 
Plan. The AMR reports on the preparation and implementation of all planning policy 
documents. 

 
15.2. Further information on the our Authority Monitoring Report can be found on our website 

at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-
policy/supporting-documents   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 75

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/planning-policy
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/customer-service-standards
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-community-support
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/coronavirus-community-support
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supporting-documents
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/supporting-documents


22 
 

Section 3 – Development Management 
 

16. WHAT IS DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT? 
 

16.1. Development Management is the name given to the process of regulating the use and 
development of land. It includes the process of deciding planning applications, planning 
enforcement and planning appeals.  

 

16.2. The Development Management Team is responsible for assessing planning applications 
in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and other material 
considerations, including consultation responses. It also defends decisions at appeal and 
investigates and deals with breaches of planning. 

 

17. TYPES OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
17.1. We receive a variety of planning applications. The most common types that we receive 

include ‘major’, ‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications whose definitions are prescribed by 

government, as set out below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17.2. There are different kinds of applications, including planning permission, listed building 

consent, prior approvals and notifications, telecommunications developments and lawful 

development certificates.  

 

17.3. For planning applications made to Oxfordshire County Council, for example, on minerals 
and waste matters, please visit: www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-
application  

 

18. PLANNING APPLICATION PROCESS 

 
18.1. Figure 8 sets out six key steps in the planning application process. It shows when the 

public are consulted, and the steps taken to make a decision on planning applications. 

 

 

 

 

Major 

Applications 

Applications for 

developments of 10 or more 

dwellings, or 1,000 sqm or 

more gross non-residential 

floorspace (including 

changes of use of existing 

buildings). 

Minor Applications 

Applications for 

developments of up to 9 

dwellings or up to 999 sqm 

gross non-residential 

floorspace (including 

changes of use of existing 

buildings and changes of use 

of open land).  

Other 

Applications 

Applications for the 

extension or alteration to a 

house, ancillary buildings 

in the garden of a house, 

advertisements or listed 

building consent. 

Page 76

file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-application
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/find-planning-application


23 
 

Figure 8 – Planning Application Process 

Step 1 – Registration and Allocation 

• The application has been validated, registered and allocated to a case officer. 

 

Step 2 – Consultation 

• A letter is sent to inform neighbouring properties about an application that has 

been received and who the case officer will be. 

• We get in touch with neighbours who share a boundary with the site, the town or 

parish council/parish meeting, any relevant specialist consultees and anybody else 

who might be affected, to ask for material planning comments on the application.  

• Where required, a statutory notice is displayed at the site. 

• We publicise the submitted application on our website and comments made (in 

accordance with our retention schedules). 

 

Step 3 – Site Visit 

• We usually visit the application site without an appointment. It is at our discretion 

as to whether we need to view the proposal from neighbouring land or properties. 

 

Step 4 – Officer Assessment 

• This is when the planning merits of the application are assessed by the council, 

once the consultation deadline has expired. 

 

Step 5 – Potential Negotiation and Re-consultation 

• We will contact the applicant if our assessment in Step 4 above concludes that we 

are unable to support the application as originally submitted or we need some 

further information and clarification. 

• If an application is formally amended to address any planning issues raised, we 

will usually re-consult anyone who responded to the original consultation. 

 

Step 6 – Recommendation and Decision 

• Our constitution enables most application decisions to be made by the Head of 

Planning, under what we term ‘officer delegated powers’.  

• However, large and/or complicated applications are often referred to the Planning 

Committee for a decision, which is made up of our elected councillors.  

• The circumstances under which planning applications are usually referred to 

Planning Committee and the timetable of meetings are listed on our website: 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-

committees    

 

Page 77

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees


24 
 

19. PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE 

 
19.1. The pre-application stage, which is discretionary, encourages applicants to carry out early 

engagement with the local community and us, before submitting a planning application. 
We encourage the early discussion of schemes in the form of a pre–application as it can: 

 

• verify the list of local requirements 
• help you to understand how planning policies and other requirements may affect your 

proposals. 
 

19.2. We will disclose any pre-application advice letters sent between the applicant and the 
council, once a formal planning application is submitted. The pre-application advice letter, 
if sent, can be accessed on our website under each application at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-
application/planning-application-register 
 

19.3. Further information on the pre-application process, including how to apply for pre – 
application advice, can be accessed on our website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-
advice/pre-application-advice   

 

19.4.  We would also encourage applicants to seek advice from other key stakeholders, such 
as Thames Water, (if relevant) at the pre-application stage too. 
 

19.5. Development forums are an optional part of our pre–application process designed for 
those bringing forward applications for strategic sites (site of over 200 dwellings) that are 
likely to generate significant public interest. They are held at the applicant’s choice and 
expense to cover our administration costs.  

 
19.6. Development forums ensure that key stakeholders are engaged at the earliest possible 

stage to help shape the development. It particularly allows an applicant to positively 
engage with council officers, local councillors, towns and parishes and local community 
groups during the pre–application and full application process for major development 
proposals. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Aim of the forum: 

- Provide an explanation of proposed development 

- Provide guidance from our officers over national 

and local policies and guidance 

- Consider the funding of infrastructure and facilities 

through S106 and CIL 

- An opportunity for an open discussion by all 

parties to raise issues and to provide feedback to 

feed into amended plans 

- Provide a mechanism for carrying out public 

engagement 

- Record actions and provide application progress 

updates 

  

Those involved: 

- Ward Councillors 

- Two parish councillors from each relevant 

parish 

- Town or parish clerk 

- Three representatives from the developer 

- Planning Committee 

- Cabinet Members 

- Council staff 

- Representatives from statutory 

organisations 

- Representatives from up to two 

recognised local community organisations 

Page 78

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice


25 
 

20. NOTIFICATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

20.1. We advertise when planning applications have been submitted to us using the following 
methods (government advice can change this, e.g. COVID-19):  

 

Methods used 
 

Email Alerts If you’re interested in planning applications in your area (postcode), 
you can sign up for email alerts.  
 
Once registered, you will receive an automatic email notification 
informing you of any new planning application, or notifiable changes 
to an application or planning decision made in your area (within 
100m radius of a postcode area) with a link to the proposal via our 
website.  
 

Neighbour 
Notification Letter 

We will send a notification either by letter or email to properties 
adjacent to the boundary of the application site.  We may also notify 
others we consider to be directly affected by the proposal. 
 
In most cases, where new development (e.g. ‘major’ application) 
affects more properties than those that are immediately adjacent to 
the boundary of the site, wider consultation may be carried out. 
 
If the neighbouring property cannot be identified, we will display a 
site notice in a location that is visible to the general public.  A 
photograph of the displayed site notice is usually taken for the 
record. 
 
 

Site Notice Depending on the type of application, we will display a notice at the 
application site in a place that is visible to members of the public.  
 
For all major applications we will display one or more site notices for 
at least 21 days. If we’re informed that a site notice has been 
removed, we will replace it, at least once. A photograph of the 
displayed site notice is usually taken for the record. 
 

Press Notice We will publicise all major planning applications in the notices 
section of a local newspaper.  
 
We will publicise a press notice for applications that are in 
conservation areas or that affect the character or appearance of a 
listed building.  
 

Weekly List We also compile a weekly list of registered planning applications 
which is published on our website and emailed to councillors.  
 

 
20.2. Further details on the methods we use to publicise different types of applications can be 

found within Appendix A.  
 
 

 

Page 79

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/news-and-events/keep-me-informed/email-alerts


26 
 

21. WHO WE CONSULT  
 

21.1. Once we have registered a planning application, we will undertake consultation. The 
period available for people to make comments is normally 21 days. How we publicise the 
application depends on the type of planning application, which is set out in relevant 
government regulations.  
 

21.2. In most cases, where new development (e.g. ‘major’ application) affects more properties 
than those that are immediately adjacent to the boundary of the site, wider consultation 
may be carried out. We encourage residents and businesses to subscribe to our email 
alerts, which (by post code) will automatically notify you of applications made in your 
street. 

 

21.3. A list of who is consulted is set out below:  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
   

 

 

 

Neighbours:  

Neighbours adjacent to the boundary, 

as shown in Figure 9, will be notified of 

planning applications. This is subject to 

the type of application submitted, as 

shown in Appendix A.  

If neighbouring properties cannot be 

identified, a site notice on or near the 

application property will be displayed. 

Statutory Bodies: 

Statutory bodies will be consulted on 

planning applications for certain types 

of development in accordance with 

relevant regulations.  

Consultation with these bodies will vary 

depending on the type of development 

proposed and/or the location.  

Councillors: 

Ward councillors will be notified by email when an 

application relates to their area. Other councillors 

may be notified if they have requested this.   

Town and Parish Councils/Meetings: 

Town and parish councils will be notified of an 

application within and/or immediately adjacent to 

the town or parish boundary. They are not 

informed of permitted development proposals. 

Members of the Public: 

A public consultation will be undertaken for most 

applications. The scale of consultation and 

involvement with the community will depend upon 

the nature of each individual application.  

  

Figure 9 –  

Minimum 

Neighbourhood 

Notification 

Page 80



27 
 

22. VIEWING A PLANNING APPLICATION 

 
22.1. We publish a list of all planning applications received. This is known as the Planning 

Application Register and is on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-

advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Via the website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/service
s-and-advice/planning-and-
building/find-application  

  
By post:  
Planning, Vale of White Horse 
District Council, 135 Eastern 
Avenue, Milton Park, OX14 4SB 
  
By email to: 
registration@southandvale.gov.uk   

  
Comments will only be accepted in 
a written format. 

  
When commenting on an 
application, it is important to 
provide:  
• Planning application 
 reference number 
• Address of the site 
• Name of the case officer 

  
Comments will be publicly 
available to view on our website. 
All personal information such as 
telephone numbers, emails and 
signatures will be redacted, 
however addresses and names 
will be shown.  
 
 

We provide guidance on how to 
comment on planning applications, 
which can viewed on the website at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/find-
application/guidance-commenting-
planning-application   
  
Comments made on a planning 
application are not transferred to a 
subsequent consultation or to a new 
planning application. If a new planning 
policy consultation takes place or a new 
planning application is submitted, for 
example, on the same application site, 
you will need to resubmit your comments 
for consideration. 
  
When commenting on planning 
applications, it is important to comment 
on the material planning matters. These 
are more likely to help shape the 
outcome of the application. To view what 
is considered to be a material planning 
consideration, please visit our website 
at: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/find-an-
application/comment-on-a-planning-
application/material-planning-
considerations  
 
In accordance with our Customer 
Service Standards, we will not tolerate 
comments that contain abusive, 
offensive or derogatory language, or 
those related to a personal circumstance 
not directly related to the application.  
Any comments submitted to us in this 
manner will not be published. 
We do not respond individually to 
submitted comments on an application. 

@ 

Commenting on Planning Applications  

The council request all correspondence 

to be made via email and telephone in 

the first instance. Where this is not 

possible, letters will be accepted, but 

there will be a delay in processing them. 

Details on how to contact the council 

are highlighted above. 

 

Page 81

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/planning-application-register
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application
mailto:registration@southandvale.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-application/guidance-commenting-planning-application
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/find-an-application/comment-on-a-planning-application/material-planning-considerations


28 
 

23. TIME TO COMMENT ON APPLICATIONS 

 
23.1. Once a planning application is registered, the application will be publicised online and 

appropriate parties will be notified and invited to make comments. Appropriate parties are 

given 21 days to comment. This period is set out in the regulations. All comments on 

planning applications must be made in writing, either through email or on our website 

within: 

 

• 21 days from the date of our notification letter, or 

• 21 days from the date of a press notice or site notice appearing 

 

23.2. Please note that comments submitted after this 21-day publicity period has expired may 

not be considered, as a decision may have already been determined on the planning 

application. 

 

23.3. Due to the volume of correspondence we receive, it is not possible to respond to or 

discuss individual comments that we receive on planning applications, however a 

summary of these and the officers’ responses are provided in the officer report.  

24. DECISIONS ON PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
24.1. Decisions on planning applications will be determined in accordance with the decision-

making processes set out in the council’s constitution. 

 

24.2. The constitution sets out how we, the council, operates, how decisions are made and the 

procedures that are followed to ensure that we are efficient, transparent and accountable. 

 

24.3. Further information on our constitution can be accessed online at: 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0   

 

Planning Committee 

 

24.4. The Planning Committee, which comprises elected councillors, has a duty to decide 

planning and other development-related applications. However, currently around 90 

percent of applications are determined under the scheme of delegation to the Head of 

Planning. The criteria for deciding which applications should be considered by Planning 

Committee are available on our website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-

advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees     

 

24.5. If the application on which you have commented is to be heard by the Planning 

Committee, we will write to you and invite you to speak or submit a statement for the 

meeting. Each speaker, or group of speakers, can speak for up to three minutes on each 

application site. Planning Committee arrangements can change, so please refer to our 

website for the latest position. 

 

24.6. You are welcome to view the agenda papers, which are published five working days 

before the meeting on our website, and attend any planning committee, whether it is run 

virtually or at a location. If you wish to speak or submit a statement at the meeting, please 

register with Democratic Services on 01235 422520 or email 

democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk  

 

Page 82

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/how-we-work/constitution-0
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
mailto:democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk


29 
 

25. SECTION 106 (PLANNING OBLIGATIONS) 
 

25.1. A Section 106 (‘S.106’) is a legal agreement between the council and developer(s) / 

landowner(s) and is used alongside Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to secure 

infrastructure needed to support development. 

 

25.2. S.106 will be used to mitigate the direct impacts of a proposed development and will be 

the primary mechanism for infrastructure provision on strategic development sites that do 

not contribute through CIL. S.106 is also the primary mechanism for securing Affordable 

Housing on all sites where there is a net gain of 10 or more dwellings. 

25.3. We do not consult on S.106 agreements. However, we seek confirmation from towns and 

parishes on community facilities that the new development may impact upon or that 

require improvement as a result of the development. Once we have an agreement and 

the development has commenced, we will notify town and parish councils or parish 

meetings of the sums available for identified community facilities and provide an update 

to them on a six-monthly basis. 

 

25.4. We are committed to working with towns and parishes to continue to identify local 

priorities and to deliver local projects.  A list of all S.106 contributions that are secured by 

the council are available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106  

 

26. PLANNING APPEALS  

26.1. If a planning application is refused, the applicant can either re-apply for planning 

permission with an alternative scheme, or they can appeal against the decision. The right 

to appeal is only available for the applicant as set out in regulations. Appeals are made to 

the Planning Inspectorate (PINS). Applying for an appeal is in the hands of the applicant 

and/or appellant and is not within the remit of the council. It is also possible to appeal 

against any planning condition imposed on a planning permission.  

 

26.2. Only the person who applied for planning permission, or was served with an enforcement 

notice, has a legal right to appeal (known as the appellant). There is no right of appeal for 

interested people or organisations (known as third parties).  

 

26.3. If an appeal is made, we will notify the interested parties of the appeal and provide 

information on how and when to respond to PINS. 

 

26.4. Appeals can be viewed on our Planning Appeals Register, available on the council’s 

website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-

building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register    

 

26.5. This online register is ‘live’ and includes current and recent appeals and sets out details 

of what stage the appeal is at, as well as the decision, if it has been made. 

 

26.6. Alternatively, you can view current appeals on the Planning Inspectorate’s Appeals 

Casework Portal, available online at: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-

inspectorate   

 

 

 

 

Page 83

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/section106
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-appeals/planning-appeals-register
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate


30 
 

27. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 
 

27.1. When a person carries out development without planning permission, the council 

considers what action to take. Although we investigate allegations, the decision on 

whether to take formal action is discretionary.  

 

27.2. If we find a breach of planning control has occurred, we can consider enforcement action. 

However, before such action is taken, we will give the person an opportunity to put things 

right. This could involve us asking for a new retrospective planning application. 

 
27.3. If no application is made and the breach is deemed to be harmful in planning terms, then 

formal action will be considered. We have several tools we can use, including 

enforcement notices and high court injunctions, however, as most breaches of planning 

control are not criminal matters, formal action is always the last resort. 
 

27.4. Before reporting a suspected breach of planning control, please take a look at the 

our Enforcement Statement, available at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-

advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement    

 

27.5. If you do suspect a breach of planning control: 

 

1. Please complete the Reporting Form. 

2. For further information on planning enforcement, please contact the Customer 

Service Team by telephone - 01235 422600 or email the Enforcement Team 

directly at: planning.enforcement@southandvale.gov.uk    

3. Further details on our approach to addressing planning enforcement matters is 

available on our website at: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-

advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84

file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
https://eform.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ebase/ufsmain?formid=ENFORCEMENT_COMPLAINT&SOVA_TAG=VALE&ebd=0&ebz=1_1473948604648
mailto:planning.enforcement@southandvale.gov.uk
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
file://///SAVVPSPFIL03/Services/Planning/Vale/Dev%20Policy%20FileTree.(USE.from%20Jan'11)/LDF/Local%20Plan%202041/007.%20SCI/07.%20Consultation%20version%20SCI/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement


31 
 

GLOSSARY  
 

Term Definition 
 

Area Action Plan 
(AAP) 

A type of DPD that can be used to guide the development of a 
specific site or location, for example, a town centre, or other 
places where significant change is planned. 
 

Adoption Formal approval by the council of a DPD or SPD whereupon it 
achieves its full weight in making planning decisions. Sometimes 
referred to as ‘made’. 
 

Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR) 

A report produced at least annually assessing: 
• progress with the preparation of the local plan and other 
planning policy documents against the timetable published in the 
Local Development Scheme, and 
• the extent to which adopted plan policies are being 
successfully implemented. 
 

Breach of Planning 
Control 

A breach of planning control is defined in Section 17A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as:  
• the carrying out of development without the required planning 
permission; or 
• failing to comply with any condition or limitation subject to 
which planning permission has been granted. 
 

Charging Schedule A document produced by the council. As the charging authority, 
the document sets out rates to which the amount of Community 
Infrastructure Levy is chargeable in respect of development 
within the area to be determined. 
 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 
 

A levy (tax) that councils can choose to charge on new 
developments in their area. The money can be used to support 
development by funding infrastructure. 

Community Right to 
Build Order  

A type of neighbourhood development order allowing 
communities to decide for themselves what is built. This might 
include, for example, new community facilities and affordable 
housing. 
 

Constitution Vale of White Horse District Council’s Constitution sets out how 
the council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures that are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people. 
 

Consultation A dynamic process of dialogue by which individuals and 
organisations are asked their views about an issue, for example 
- planning decisions, including the Local Plan, with the objective 
of giving everyone the opportunity to comment on decisions, 
policies or programmes of action. 

Consultation 
Statement/Report 

A document providing a summary of consultation responses and 
the key issues received on public consultation of planning policy 
documents. This document also sets out the changes made to a 
planning policy document following responses to a consultation. 

Page 85



32 
 

Term Definition 
 

Development Forum A Development Forum ensures that key stakeholders are 
engaged at the earliest possible stage to help shape a 
development. It particularly allows an applicant to positively 
engage with council officers, local councillors, towns and 
parishes and local community groups. 
 

Development 
Management (DM) 

The Development Management Team is responsible for 
assessing planning applications in accordance with the adopted 
development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and 
any other material considerations, including consultation 
responses.  
 

Development Plan This includes adopted Local Plans, Neighbourhood Plans and 
the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. It is defined in 
section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
Planning applications have to be decided in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 

Development Plan 
Documents (DPDs) 

Development Plan Documents set planning policies in council 
areas. All DPDs are subject to public consultation and 
independent examination. 
 

Duty to Co-operate 
(DtC) 

Created in the Localism Act 2011 and amends the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. It places a legal duty on 
councils, county councils in England and public bodies to 
engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to 
maximise the effectiveness of Local and Marine Plan preparation 
in the context of strategic cross-boundary matters. 
 

Full Planning 
Permission 
 

The ‘Application for Planning Permission’ form should be used 
for making a detailed planning application for development under 
Section 62 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), excluding householder developments. It should 
include all details of the application, such as transport, design 
and landscaping.  
 

General Permitted 
Development Order 
2015 

This Order sets out classes of development for which a grant of 
planning permission is automatically given, provided that no 
restrictive condition is attached or that the development is 
exempt from the permitted development rights. 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate  

A Lawful Development Certificate shows that the existing use of 
a building is lawful for planning purposes or that a proposal does 
not require planning permission.  
 

Listed Building  Buildings and structures which are listed by the Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media and Sport as being of special 
architectural and historic interest and whose protection and 
maintenance are the subject of special legislation. Listed 
building consent is required before any works are carried out on 

Page 86



33 
 

Term Definition 
 

a listed building. 
 

Local Development 
Order (LDO) 

An Order made by the council (under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a specific 
development proposal or classes of development. 
 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

This sets out the timetable and work programme for the 
preparation of the Local Plan and other Development Plan 
Documents. 
 

Local Plan The plan for the local area that sets out the long–term spatial 
vision and development framework for the district, as well as and 
strategic policies and proposals to deliver that vision. This 
replaces the Local Development Framework. 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 
1 (LPP1) 

This document contains the long-term spatial vision and 
strategic policies that guide growth in the district. 
 

Local Plan 2031 Part 
2 (LPP2) 

This document contains detailed development management 
policies and additional site allocations that guide growth in the 
district. 
 

Major Applications Applications for developments of 10 or more dwellings, or 1,000 
sq m or more gross non-residential floorspace (including 
changes of use of existing buildings). 
 

Material Planning 
Consideration 

This is a matter that should be taken into account in deciding a 
planning application or on an appeal against a planning decision. 
This can include issues such as overlooking/loss of privacy, 
parking, noise, effect on a listed building or conservation area, or 
the effect on nature conservation etc. 
 

Minor Application Applications for developments of up to 9 dwellings or up to 999 
sq m gross non-residential floorspace (including changes of use 
of existing buildings), changes of use of open land and 
telecommunications. 
 

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

This sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied at a local level. The NPPF 
is a material consideration when making decisions on planning 
applications or appeals. 
 

National Planning 
Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) 

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is a planning 
practice online resource covering a range of planning issues. 

Neighbourhood 
Development Order 

A Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) can be used to 
permit different types of development (in full or outline) without 
the need for planning permission. 
 

Neighbourhood 
Development Plans 

A plan prepared by a town or parish or a neighbourhood forum 
for a particular neighbourhood area (made under the Planning 

Page 87



34 
 

Term Definition 
 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

Outline Planning 
Permission 

The Application for Outline Planning Permission is generally 
used to find out, at an early stage, whether or not a proposal is 
likely to be approved by the planning authority. This type of 
planning application allows fewer details about the proposal to 
be submitted. Further details are often provided through 
Reserved Matters Applications.  
 

Oxfordshire Growth 
Board 

The Growth Board is a joint committee of the six councils of 
Oxfordshire, together with key strategic partners. It has been set 
up to facilitate and enable joint working on economic 
development, strategic planning and growth.  
 

Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal 

The Oxfordshire Growth Board secured £215m of government 
investment for new homes and infrastructure across Oxfordshire. 
This was secured through the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal. In exchange for the investment within Oxfordshire, the six 
Local Authorities will plan to deliver 100,000 new homes across 
Oxfordshire between 2011 and 2031.  
 

Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 

The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a strategic planning document that 
seeks to provide a joined-up approach to planning across the 
county. It was agreed by all the councils within Oxfordshire to 
develop this plan as part of the Housing and Growth Deal.  
 

Planning Appeals After a decision on a planning application has been made by a 
local council, the applicant can appeal against the decision 
made. The Planning Inspectorate will organise for an 
independent Inspector to review the decision made and will 
make a decision.  
 

Planning 
Enforcement 

The Planning Enforcement Team can investigate when a person 
carries out development without the benefit of having planning 
permission. The team investigate what action is appropriate to 
take.  
 

Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) 

The Planning Inspectorate (PINS) is an executive agency 
sponsored by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. PINS deal with planning appeals, national 
infrastructure planning applications, examinations of Local Plans 
and other planning-related and specialist casework. 
 

Planning Permission Formal permission from a Local Planning Authority for the 
erection or alteration of buildings or similar development.  
 

Planning Policy The Planning Policy Team is responsible for producing the 
planning documents that make up the Development Plan. 
 

Pre-Application Pre–application is an informal process, independent of the 
formal planning application process, that provides an indication 
as to whether a proposal is likely to be considered acceptable or 

Page 88



35 
 

Term Definition 
 

not. The advice given does not constitute a formal response or 
decision of the council, but is an informal opinion by a Planning 
Officer. 
 

Prior Approval  Prior Approval means that a developer has to seek approval 
from the council that specified elements of the development are 
acceptable before work can proceed. The matters for prior 
approval will vary depending on the type of development. These 
are set out in full in the relevant parts in Schedule 2 of the 
General Permitted Development Order. 
 

Referendum A general vote by the electorate on a single political question 
which has been referred to them for a direct decision. For a 
neighbourhood plan referendum, the following question will be 
asked: Do you want [insert name of local planning authority] to 
use the Neighbourhood Plan for [insert name of neighbourhood 
area] to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 
 

Reserved Matters Reserved matters are those aspects of a proposed development 
where an applicant can choose not to submit details with an 
outline planning application, (i.e. they can be ‘reserved’ for later 
determination). 
 

Safeguarding Safeguarding in planning matters is a mechanism that is 
employed to ensure land which has been identified for 
development in the future is protected from conflicting 
development.  
 

Section 106 A legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act. They are legal agreements between the council 
and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a 
developer, ensuring that certain works related to a development 
are undertaken. 
 

Stakeholders Stakeholders can affect or be affected by the council’s actions, 
objectives and policies. The council will consult with key 
stakeholders at different stages of planning.  
 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement (SCI) 

The SCI sets out standards to be achieved by the council in 
relation to involving the community in the preparation, alteration 
and continuing review of all Development Plan Documents 
(DPDs) and in determining planning applications for 
development. 
 

Statutory Consultees Statutory consultees are those organisations and bodies, 
defined by statute, that local planning authorities are legally 
required to consult before reaching a decision on relevant 
planning applications.  
 

Strategic 
Environmental 

An assessment of the environmental effects of policies, plans 
and programmes, which will be part of the public consultation on 

Page 89



36 
 

Term Definition 
 

Assessment (SEA) the policies. 
 

Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 

A planning policy document that adds further detail to the 
policies in the Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular 
issues, such as design. Supplementary Planning Documents are 
capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions 
but are not part of the Development Plan.  
 

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) 

The process of assessing the economic, social and environment 
effects of a proposed plan. This process implements the 
requirements of the SEA Directive. It is required to be 
undertaken for all DPDs. 
 

Telecommunications 
Development 

In relation to telecommunications installation, there are three 
types of application/notification. These are: applications for 
notification of prior approval; applications for full planning 
permission; and licence notifications.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



37 
 

APPENDIX A: 

Publicity of Planning Applications and Consultation with Residents  

(Currently subject to change due to local Covid-19 restrictions). 

The table below sets out the method of public notification we are required to carry out for 

different types of applications.   

The requirements are based on the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Town and Country Planning (Permission in Principle) 

(Amendment) Order 2017, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development (England) Order 2015.  

Type of Development Publicity 

Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) application accompanied by 
an environmental statement  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 

Does not accord with the 
provisions of the development plan 
in force in the area in which the 
land to which the application 
relates is situated  
 
(Departure from the Development 
Plan) 
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 

Would affect a right of way to which 
Part 3 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 applies  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  

 

Major application  
 

• Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier AND  

• By publication of the notice in a newspaper 
circulating in the locality in which the land to 
which the application relates is situated  
 

Other and Minor applications  • Site notice in at least 1 place on or near the 
land to which the application relates for not 
less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier 

 

Page 91



38 
 

 

 

Applications affecting the setting of 
listed buildings  
 

• Publish in a local newspaper circulating in 
the locality in which the land is situated AND 

• For not less than 7 days display on or near 
the land, a notice indicating the nature of the 
development in question and naming a place 
within the locality where a copy of the 
application, and of all plans and other 
documents submitted with it, will be open to 
inspection by the public at all reasonable 
hours during the period of 21 days beginning 
with the date of publication of the notice 

Applications affecting the character 
and appearance of a conservation 
area 

• Published in a local newspaper circulating in 
the locality in which the land is situated AND 

• For not less than 7 days display on or near 
the land, a notice indicating the nature of the 
development in question and naming a place 
within the locality where a copy of the 
application, and of all plans and other 
documents submitted with it, will be open to 
inspection by the public at all reasonable 
hours during the period of 21 days beginning 
with the date of publication of the notice 

Planning applications within 10 
metres of relevant railway land  

• Serving notice (by letter) on any 
infrastructure manager of relevant railway 
land  
 

Permission in Principle  • Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 14 days 
 

Permission in Principle – Technical 
Details  

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 14 days OR 

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 21 days if the application site is 
within the setting of a listed building or 
conservation area  

 

Prior Notification  
(Change of use - office to 
residential and light industrial to 
residential) 

• Site notice in at least one place on or near 
the land to which the application relates for 
not less than 21 days OR 

• By writing a letter to any adjoining owner or 
occupier 
 

Prior Notification  
 
(Large extensions) 

• By writing a letter to each adjoining owner / 
occupier (specifying the date, not less than 
21 days by which representations are to be 
made to the Local Planning Authority)  

Page 92



39 
 

In addition to notifying residents we also consult with the relevant statutory and technical 

consultees and the town and parish council.   

The following types of application do not have any requirements set out through the Acts 

requiring consultation with residents or town and parish councils.  Therefore, the Local 

Planning Authority has discretion as to informing interested parties.   

Agricultural Notification  • The LPA has a period of 28 days from the receipt of 
the application to determine it 

• The LPA have discretion over consulting parish 
councils and other groups about the proposal  
 

Discharge of Conditions  • The LPA will undertake consultation with the 
relevant technical consultee where necessary  
 

Minor Amendment  • As an application to make a non-material 
amendment is not an application for planning 
permission, the LPA has discretion as to whether 
they inform interested parties or seek their views  
 

 

 

 

 

Type of Development Publicity 

Page 93



Page 94



1

Summary of Consultation Responses – Draft Revised Statement of Community Involvement

Consultation 27 February to 9 April 2020

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Response 1 Feels that Vale doesn’t have a good record on 
consultations issues. Disagreed with the 5 District 
Council Partnership Contract and felt that his response 
was ignored. 

Noted. We receive a high volume of 
correspondence and therefore we are unable 
to respond to individual comments. 

Mr Scharf Advocated for climate change and biodiversity loss to 
be key considerations likely to be given weight - this 
change would be for the benefit of both the consultees 
and prospective applicants/developers.

Would like committees to run in a way so that nothing 
should be said at committee that has not already been 
said in writing.

The Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework encourages Councils to take a 
proactive approach to mitigating and adapting 
to Climate Change (NPPF, paragraph 149).  
Policies are already included in the current 
adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 
Parts 1 and 2 to mitigate the impact of climate 
change and the Council will be reviewing this 
as we prepare a new Local Plan 2041 for the 
Vale of White Horse. The Council encourages 
all residents who are concerned about these 
matters to respond to consultations on these 
documents.

The Council’s constitution determines how 
planning committees are run.

Response 3 No point in any public consultation when decisions are 
made outside the democratic process.

The Council read all responses and give them 
careful consideration. 

P
age 95



2

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Response 4 SCI process is confusing to people with no planning 
knowledge. Suggests a short 2 min video to explain 
how people can get involved.

The SCI is a statutory document that sets out 
how we will engage with the public on Planning 
Policy documents and on Planning 
Applications. There is a glossary at the end of 
the document which explains the planning 
terminology used. The council are happy to 
help answer any questions and can be 
contacted by telephone on 01235 422600 or 
email planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

We will certainly consider the suggested 
method of a video for future consultations. 

Response 5 Wants residents’ opinions to be heard, respected and 
not ignored. They would like Planners to undertake a 
mandatory online poll of residents for large schemes. 
Feels that the method of informing the public of 
planning applications by laminated notices is outdated 
and urges for the use of Facebook and internet 
platforms.

The Council has to consider a number of 
factors in progressing with policy documents 
and determining applications. Consultation is a 
one of the key factors: the Council reads all 
responses to consultations and gives them 
careful consideration. 

It is a legal requirement that a site notice is 
erected, and thus we will continue to seek to 
erect site notices where we are statutorily 
required to do so. This is a process used by 
other Authorities as standard practice.

The Council will consider approaches to 
engage as best as it can with its communities, 
including the use of social media, where 
considered appropriate and in accordance with 
statutory guidance. 

P
age 96

mailto:planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


3

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Response 6 Thinks that the SCI is too long and doesn’t cover what 
they perceive to be of public interest. This is what they 
would prefer to know:
1: How to access applications
2: How to respond to applications
3: In simplistic terms, what are grounds for objection, 
and conversely what would not be deemed appropriate 
under planning law. 

As a framework, residents want to know:
1: What applications are VWHDC vs OCC as planning 
authority.
2: What happens when large applications opposed by 
residents and regulatory bodies get approved. Who 
appeals and why does VWHDC allows large developers 
to take advantage of them with regards to planning 
conditions, etc.
3: Why large developments (as part of or prior to the 
local plan) are given approval without supporting 
infrastructure being in place. Thinks that VWHDC needs 
social housing instead of affordable housing.

The Council considers that the SCI 
appropriately covers how to access 
applications, how to respond to applications 
and the grounds for objections. The Council’s 
website also provides further detail on this. If 
you still have further questions, you may wish 
to contact our Customer Services Team by 
telephone (01235 422600) or via email - 
planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

We acknowledge these points and we will 
propose making a modification to the SCI to 
provide clarity regarding applications for the 
district and county. Section 27 of the SCI sets 
out who can appeal a decision on a planning 
application and provides links to further 
information. We work with developers and 
communities throughout the planning process 
to ensure infrastructure is appropriately 
implemented. We will consider your social 
housing point whilst developing our new Local 
Plan 2041. 

Add further 
sections on what 
applications are 
covered by the 
district and which 
are covered by 
the county.

Agreed – 
suggested 
change taken 
forward and 
added in 12.4 
– 12.6.

Mr Smith Wants the document to be proof-read because of 
grammar mistakes and inconsistencies. Makes the 
point that if VWHDC uses results from previous 
consultations, that they could be out of date and people 

The document is in draft form and will be 
reviewed prior to finalising.  The Council will 
consider the consistency suggestions made.

Further 
proofreading.

Agreed.

P
age 97

mailto:planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


4

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

may have changed their opinion since. Wants there to 
be a fixed charge on printed copies of documents, with 
more explanation regarding the pricing. Wants more 
opportunities to appeal planning applications. Confused 
about how Planning Enforcement operates.

The Council encourages customers to get in 
contact about the pricing of printed documents 
and provides a standard fee reflecting the size 
of the document. 

We are unable to change the planning appeal 
process as this is set out by national legislation 
and policy. We will propose expanding the 
Planning Enforcement section to provide 
further clarity. 
 

Consider 
expanding the 
Planning 
Enforcement 
section to provide 
further clarity. 

Suggested 
change taken 
forward -
Planning 
Enforcement 
Section 
presented in 
a different 
format for 
clarity 
regarding the 
processes.

Samuel 
Pocock

No comment. Noted.

Mr Hatzis No comment. Noted.
Response 10 Thinks that public opinion is overruled and ignored in 

this SCI exercise. Feels that the public is ignored 
regarding development of areas and wants there to be 
a committee if an application attracts more than two 
objections.

We receive a high volume of correspondence 
and are unable to respond to individual 
comments that we receive during a particular 
consultation. The comments we receive 
regarding planning policy documents and on 
planning applications will be made publicly 
available online at the earliest opportunity, 
once the consultation has finished.

P
age 98



5

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

The Council’s constitution sets out the process 
for planning committee, rather than the SCI.

Mr Lynch Feels that the document is confusing and contains 
planning jargon. "Have in place effective mechanisms 
for documenting views and clear feedback mechanisms 
to demonstrate how the views of the community have 
influenced and benefited the plan.’’ 

In the section ‘Recognising the needs of different 
groups’ - there should be a forum for local planning,
architectural and development groups that regularly use 
the service.

Argues that VWHDC needs to be more proactive and 
less passive in collecting the views of local 
communities. 

Wants there to be a well-designed focus group to go 
into the communities.

Thinks that the Local Plan puts more emphasis on 
housing growth without considering its supporting 
services.

Feels the document is too long and isn’t inventive. 

At the end of the SCI document the Glossary 
section explains all planning terminology that 
has been used.

Regarding feedback, please see the SCI’s 
‘Providing feedback and sharing information’ 
section. For example, ‘we will keep you 
informed of progress and explain decisions 
and/or outcomes on planning policy documents 
through your preferred channel of 
communication’.

The Council provides various options of ways 
in which the public can get involved in 
consultations, particularly in Section 9.

Regarding planning for new housing, the 
Government has set out a clear intention within 
their policies, including the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF, see paragraph 59), 
to ‘significantly boost the supply of homes’. 
This is taken forward by the Council at the 
local level through the Adopted Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2031.  

The SCI is a statutory document which sets out 
how we engage with local communities (local 

P
age 99



6

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

residents, businesses, organisations and 
statutory consultees). We have, as concisely 
as possible, provided all the information 
needed and have used diagrams and other 
graphical design to make this user-friendly. 

Response 13a Wants the document to be proofread for graphical 
issues that are not letting them read the content. Wants 
multiple pages to be reissued.

The document is in draft form and will be 
reviewed prior to finalising.  

Proofreading Agreed

Response 14 Wants the Green Belt to be expanded and improved. 
Wants more green spaces which are easily accessible. 

Finds the SCI format off-putting, doubts that many 
people read the document. They didn’t finish reading it 
themselves. Prefers a printed survey to be sent through 
the post.

The Green Belt is dealt with via Planning 
Policy, rather than the SCI. The SCI deals with 
how the LPA will engage with the community.

The SCI is split into 3 concise parts which can 
be read separately. We will consider the format 
of the document when finalising the SCI.  Hard 
copies of the survey can be requested by 
contacting our community engagement team. It 
would be too costly to print a survey for every 
household within the district - we aim to 
advertise consultations through online methods 
and through Town and Parish Councils. 

Mrs Moorley Proposes that community involvement needs to include 
vulnerable individuals (e.g. elderly and the young).
Concerned that there is too much housing 
development, and this overwhelms the community, 
especially the elderly. 

Concerned that the elderly cannot partake, because of 
issues with being immobile. Moreover, they feel that if 
they have written by post they are ignored because 

In the SCI Part 1 – in the section ‘recognising 
the need of different groups’ we have stated 
that we endeavour to engage with groups in 
our community that may find us less accessible 
(e.g. disability groups and ethnic groups – 
these are sometimes referred to as ‘hard to 
reach’ groups) or those likely to be particularly 
affected by a proposal. We encourage 
involvement from groups that have traditionally 

P
age 100



7

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

they don’t receive feedback. Argues that they want 
individuals to be heard instead of groups, if wanting to 
consult in the most effective way.

Confused and upset about how bus stops are planned. 
Argues that there aren’t any plans for how to 
accommodate the elderly. Want there to be safer 
crossings made. 

The format of the document is clear and well explained. 
Thinks that the document might be too long for some 
people.

not been involved in the planning process (for 
example, holding targeted events with younger 
people). All consultation responses, whether 
electronic or postal, are treated with the same 
consideration.

Useful information regarding new bus stops 
can be found here: 
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads
-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/bus-stops-
and-shelters - bus stops are the responsibility 
of Oxfordshire County Council.

Response 16 The Vale website is difficult to use for the elderly and 
believes that because of this they should have been 
given more time to comment on issues. Feels that even 
though there is good involvement, their opinion on a 
matter was ignored in the consultation for the drafted 
Local Plan and finds it a waste of time.

Thinks that the SCI doesn’t address conflict of interest 
because they believe that the Vale had a financial 
interest in a previous matter. Wants the results of 
consultations to be complied with. 

We receive a high volume of correspondence 
and are unable to respond to individual 
comments that we receive during a particular 
consultation. Comment summaries and officer 
responses to all comments on the SCI will be 
published alongside the finalised document.

The SCI sets out how the Local Planning 
Authority will engage with the community. The 
Council reads all responses to consultations 
and gives them careful consideration.

Oxfordshire 
Transport & 
Access Group

For major applications it would be helpful if there were a 
separate category for applications for either more than 
49 homes or more than 4,999 square metres of gross 
floor area. Confused what is meant by floor area. 

The definition of major applications is in 
accordance with the government definition set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

‘Floor area’ 
should be 
updated to 
floorspace in 
accordance with 

Agree 
modification 
– to use up to 
date NPPF 
definition. 

P
age 101

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/bus-stops-and-shelters
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/bus-stops-and-shelters
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/bus-stops-and-shelters


8

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

A summary of the decision-making body / personnel for 
each of the various types of Planning Policy Documents 
would be helpful. 

A few general principles should be included. For 
example:

 A proportion of homes must be "affordable", with 
an indication of the intended proportion;

 A proportion of homes must be accessible to 
disabled people, with an indication of the 
proportion (this should be higher than the 
national average).

 Highway improvements must improve 
accessibility;

 Community buildings provided must be 
accessible.

Floor area relates to the internal floorspace 
proposed by an application. We will propose a 
modification of the SCI to clarify this. 

The Council is the decision-making body for all 
planning policy documents. 

National and Local Policy set out the details 
and principles for planning policy. The SCI sets 
out how we will engage with the community 
and is therefore not a document that sets out 
policy.  

NPPF definition 
of major sites.

Suggested 
change taken 
forward.

Highways 
England

Have reviewed the consultation and have no 
comments.

Noted. 

Historic 
England

We support the general aims and approach to the draft 
Statement of Community Involvement. We
welcome the acknowledgement of Historic England as 
a specific consultation body with respect to
local plans at paragraph 10.5 and neighbourhood plans 
at 10.6, as well as reference to statutory consultees 
regarding planning applications at paragraph 22.2.

Noted and support welcomed.

Uffington 
Parish Council

Clarify role and engagement of individuals as 
stakeholders vs organised bodies. 

Section 22 of the SCI sets out who we will 
engage and consult with regarding planning 

P
age 102



9

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Their experience of creating a neighbourhood plan and 
its relationship to the Local Plan was good.

In the application process additional information from 
the applicant and/or advice given during Step 5 has not 
been made public. In order to ensure transparency, this 
should be made public and the parish council should be 
given the opportunity to comment.

policy documents and on planning 
applications, including statutory bodies and 
members of the public. All comments 
submitted will be given consideration. 

Step 5 in Figure 9 states that “if an application 
is formally amended to address any planning 
issues raised, we will usually re-consult 
anyone who responded to the original 
consultation”. Therefore, the usual process 
would enable further comments to be 
submitted. 

Harcourt Hill 
Campus

Object to the current draft of the Statement of 
Community Involvement on the basis it does not pay 
sufficient attention to the University, which is a key part 
of its local community. In response, the SCI should be 
amended to specifically recognise Higher Education 
providers. We have set out the required changes below 
which would allow the University to change its position 
and support the SCI. Please note that text in red 
strikethrough shows where we propose a deletion and 
blue text shows a proposed insertion.

Paragraph 9.5: Make the following changes to the 
penultimate bullet point: Target work with community 
groups, voluntary organisations, and businesses and 
education providers

Paragraph 10.2: make the following changes:

We acknowledge these points and are content 
to take them into account / make the 
suggested changes. 

Add ‘and 
education 
providers’ to 9.5 
and ‘schools, and 
colleges and 
higher education 
providers; and 
‘hard to reach’ 
groups’ to 10.2.

Agree 
modification 
– suggested 
change taken 
forward.

P
age 103



10

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

We continuously look to understand who we need to 
talk to in the local community to ensure that we consult 
in the most effective way. The local community 
includes, but is not limited to, the following: town and 
parish councils and meetings; local residents; local 
interest groups; local businesses; local community 
groups and organisations; faith groups; schools, and 
colleges and higher education providers; and ‘hard to 
reach’ groups.

Radley Parish 
Council

Summary of comments
i. Paras 11.13 – 11.23 of draft statement. 
Neighbourhood Development Plans. In exercising the 
‘duty to support’, VWHDC should contribute 
constructively to the delivery of parish council’s 
planning objectives and not focus solely on process.
ii. Paras 11.28 – 11.31. CIL. There is an urgent need for 
mechanisms to be established to allow for tripartite 
discussion between district, county and parish about 
priorities for CIL expenditure.
iii. Paras 20.1 – 20.3. Development Forums should be 
mandatory.
iv. Para 22. Consultation on planning applications. 
Parish councils should be consulted on ‘discharge of 
conditions’ applications.
v. Paras 25.4 – 25.6. Planning Committee involvement 
in decisions on planning applications: We have
concerns that the role of the planning committee is 
being eroded. We would like to see a published 
protocol clarifying the basis on which applications are 

Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful 
set of tools for local people to plan for the 
types of development to meet their 
community’s needs, where the ambition of the 
neighbourhood is aligned with the strategic 
needs and priorities of the wider local area. We 
provide advice and guidance throughout the 
process and the Council’s Neighbourhood 
Planning Team can assist in delivering a 
neighbourhood plan which is in general 
conformity with the strategic policies of the 
adopted development plan and addresses the 
Parish Council’s planning objectives.

The SCI sets out how the Council will engage 
with the local community on planning 
documents and planning applications. For 
issues with specific Planning Policy areas, 
comments would need to be made when these 
documents are consulted upon. 

P
age 104



11

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

referred to the committee for decision. We also have 
concerns about how pre-commencement conditions are 
handled.
vi. Paras 26.1 – 26.4. Section 106/planning obligations. 
Three-way meetings involving the district, county and 
parish should be incorporated as a recognised part of 
the pre-application process for strategic site 
development.

It would not be appropriate to have 
development forums on all applications and 
could unnecessarily delay development 
coming forward. It is therefore not appropriate 
to make development forums mandatory. 
Where there is a significant level of public 
interest on an application the Council will 
consider the use of a development forum. 

As para 25.4 states “The criteria for deciding 
which applications should be considered by 
Planning Committee are available on our 
website: 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-
andadvice/planning-and-building/planning-
committees”. 

The Council’s constitution sets out the process 
for planning committee, rather than the SCI.

Regarding Discharge of Condition applications, 
these will generally relate to technical issues 
and therefore the Council will consult the 
relevant technical consultee. 

Scottish and 
Southern 
Electricity 
Networks

SEPD is concerned that insufficient discussion has 
taken place between SEPD and Planning Authorities 
concerning the future of these lines prior to the granting 
of planning permission. SEPD believes that in these 

The SCI sets out how the Council will engage 
with the local community and key stakeholders 
(SEPD are one of these) regarding planning 
services.  Issues relating to specific planning 

P
age 105

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-andadvice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-andadvice/planning-and-building/planning-committees
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-andadvice/planning-and-building/planning-committees


12

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

circumstances, the Planning Authority should impose a 
condition prohibiting development until such time as the 
developer has reached agreement with the Distribution 
Network Operator (DNO) (a) as to how the development 
can be laid out such that the line(s) can be retained in 
their current position; or (b) such that contractual 
arrangements have been agreed to modify the 
overhead lines.

applications will need to be addressed through 
engagement on that planning application. 

Marcham 
Parish Council

1. S26 should provide that draft S106 agreements be 
sent to the relevant Parish Council for information 
purposes and invite comment. Currently agreements 
are finalised between the District Council and the 
developer/landowner. The Parish Council may be 
aware of local facts, which could be relevant. Whilst the 
situation is changing with CIL, the Parish Council at 
least should have the opportunity to have sight of 
anything which affects its parish including the draft 
S106 agreements. 

2. The Council, too, would request that Parish and 
Town Councils are notified when applications to 
discharge conditions are submitted. This would give an 
opportunity for the Parish Council to view the 
application, to check that what is proposed falls in line 
with its initial comments on an application.

Paragraph 26.3 provides appropriate guidance 
on this, stating that “We do not consult on 
Section 106 agreements. However, we seek 
confirmation from towns and parishes on 
community facilities that the new development 
may impact upon or require improvement as a 
result of the development. Once we have an 
agreement and the development has 
commenced, we will notify towns and parish 
councils and meetings of the sums available 
for identified community facilities and provide 
an update to them on a six-monthly basis.” 

Discharge of condition applications generally 
relate to technical issues; therefore, the LPA 
will undertake consultation with the relevant 
technical consultee where necessary. 

Nuclear 
Regulation

Due to the location of the Harwell nuclear licensed site, 
ONR requests to be consulted in line with our Land Use 
Planning processes which are published at 

The Office for Nuclear Regulation is a statutory 
consultee and will be consulted in accordance 

P
age 106



13

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

http://www.onr.org.uk/land-use-planning.htm for 
proposed developments within our consultation zones 
that meet our consultation criteria.

with national policy and ONR guidance, as set 
out in the SCI.

Wycombe 
District Council

No comments to make on the draft SCI. Noted.

Oxford City 
Council

Support the Draft Revised Statement of Community 
Involvement.

Noted, and support is welcomed. 

Wantage and 
Grove 
Campaign 
Group

-Thank you for combining the previous documents into 
one – this makes it much clearer.

- What does "early involvement with local communities 
in the preparation of our planning policy documents and 
in the consideration of planning applications," (Page 5) 
mean?

- How will you "endeavour to engage with a wide range 
of formal and informal local community groups and 
voluntary organisations, stakeholders, town and parish 
councils and parish meetings and other groups in the 
community that we become aware of" (page 5)?

- The document states that you "make our planning 
documents, background studies and responses to 

Noted.

“Early involvement with local communities in 
the preparation of our planning policy 
documents and in the consideration of 
planning applications” is a principle which 
underpins our Statement of Community 
Involvement. Specific examples of how the 
LPA will engage with communities can be 
found when detailing the approaches to 
consulting on Planning Policy documents and 
planning applications. This is also the case for 
how we will “endeavour to engage with a wide 
range of formal and informal local community 
groups and voluntary organisations, 
stakeholders, town and parish councils and 
parish meetings and other groups in the 
community that we become aware of". 

The Council do not consider it appropriate to 
place planning documents in Parish Council 

P
age 107

http://www.onr.org.uk/land-use-planning.htm


14

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

consultations…readily available to the public on our 
website and in some cases on paper at local libraries 
and at our offices" (page 5 box 5). Why not in parish 
council offices?

- Can you provide a list of "deposit locations" (para 3.3) 
please?

- This link does not exist "Further information on our 
SPDs can be found online at: 
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/spd ." (para 11.8).

- The Figures in Section 11 are very clear – thank you.

- Many of the strategic decisions which drive the 
planning policy in the Vale are taken at either OXLEP or 
the Growth Board, of both of which the District Council 
are a member – how does the Vale ensure that the 
local Community are involved in this process and why 
isn’t this included in this document?
We understand that the "Assessment of Growth Needs 
commission" is underway and that there will be no 
separate consultation on this. Given all the issues for 
the Vale created by the SHMA since 2014 and the lack 
of consultation around that, this lack of consultation on 
the Assessment of Growth Needs seems to be a 
significant issue.

offices as not all Parish Councils or Parish 
Meetings will have offices. 

There is no definitive list of “deposit locations”, 
though these are typically libraries within the 
district; where these deposit locations are will 
depend on the type of document/s being 
consulted on and where it is appropriate to 
make copies available. 

The link will be updated when finalising the 
SCI. 

Noted and support welcomed.

The SCI sets out how the LPA will engage with 
the community on planning documents that the 
district council is responsible for. Issues of 
other organisations’ governance and 
engagement methods cannot be addressed by 
the Council’s SCI. 

Evidence to support the production of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 will be commissioned 
and produced by the Oxfordshire Plan team in 
consultation with the district and city councils. 
This plan is required by legislation to go 
through the same consultation processes as 
the district’s own Local Plan would. The 

Update link to 
SPD page on 
Vale website. 
Para 11.8

Agree 
modification 
– to correct 
link. 

P
age 108

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/spd


15

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

- During the planning application process, (Figure 9 
step 5) the requirement appears to be, that when an 
application is formally amended to address any 
planning issues raised, to re-consult anyone who 
responded to the original consultation.
It may be that the amendment changes the application 
in such a way that an individual who didn’t respond to 
the original consultation may want to. Surely any 
amendment should be referred to all those who share a 
boundary with the site, the town or parish council, any 
relevant specialist consultees and anybody else who 
might be affected not just those who have already 
responded.
- Any minor application can only be discussed at the 
Planning Committee if the chairman agrees to the local 
district councillor’s request to call in an application. No 
mention is made of the obligation of the individual 
district councillor to call in an application if an individual 
or the town or parish council requests it. What grounds 
does the councillor have for refusing to call in an 
application? Also, what grounds does the chairman of 
the Planning Committee have for refusing the request?
- Para 19.2 states that any pre-application advice letters 
between the applicant and the council will be disclosed 
when the application is formally submitted. No mention 
is made of notes of any discussions held either by 
telephone or face to face meetings. Surely these should 
also be disclosed?
- Section 20 relates to development forums. We have 
found the development forums for Crab Hill and Grove 
Airfield a useful way of providing communication 

Oxfordshire Plan team will be responsible for 
engagement with local communities and have 
their own Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

The usual process when an amendment has 
been made to an application will be to re-
consult those who have already commented. 
However, the Council has the discretion to 
consult more widely if it considers the 
amendment to warrant a greater level of 
consultation. 

The Council’s constitution addresses matters 
of process regarding planning committees. 
This is not addressed by the SCI. 

The Council consider it appropriate that the 
pre-application advice given is disclosed when 
the application is formally submitted. 

We note your positive experience of 
development forums, and your proposition of 
the forums being required for developments of 
200 or more. However, we have to balance the 
interests of all stakeholders and the Council 
consider that it is appropriate it applies its 

P
age 109

https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-February-2019.pdf
https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-February-2019.pdf


16

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

channels between the community and the developer. 
We would suggest that these should be made a formal 
part of the process for any large development where 
applications involve more than 200 dwellings or are part 
of a large scheme of more than 200 dwellings.
- Section 22 relates to who is consulted on any 
application. We have noticed that even though some of 
the reserved matter applications for major 
developments will be visible from the AONB, they are 
not always listed as a consultee. Why is this? Could 
they be added to the requirements in some way?

discretion when considering which proposals 
are likely to generate significant public interest 
and would benefit from a developer forum.
Where it is deemed appropriate the council will 
consult with the AONB board on planning 
applications which may impact the AONB. 

Fyfield and 
Tubney Parish 
Council

Consultation is duly made; it is done so as a formality 
without substance. Responses to representations are 
formal, superficial and unsubstantiated; and 
representations are then ignored.
The planning procedure must be flexible. 
Representations made on behalf of local communities, 
who best understand the situation on the ground, are 
essential and must be respected.
An effective dialogue between the planners and the 
community should be established; plans should be 
modified if necessary.
The process of Community Involvement is outlined in 
the flow chart on page 12 of the Draft Revised 
Statement of Community Involvement. This should be 
modified as follows:
May we suggest the text in the third box from the top in 
the diagram on page 12 which reads ‘Process 
representations received’ could be modified to read:

The council has to consider a number of 
factors in progressing with policy documents 
and determining applications. Consultation is a 
one of the key factors: the council reads all 
responses to consultations and gives them 
careful consideration. 

The council considers Figure 1 to accurately 
represent the necessary stages involved in the 
production of a development plan document. 

P
age 110



17

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

‘Note, respond carefully to and, where appropriate, act 
upon representations received, and modify the plan 
accordingly’. Also, the text in the sixth box on page 12 
which reads ‘Respond to representations received on 
the published DPD’ could be modified to read:
‘Note, respond carefully to and, where appropriate, act 
upon representations received on the published DPD, 
and modify the plan accordingly’.
The process of consultation with the community must 
be improved and the text of the SCI changed to reflect 
this.

Cherwell 
District Council

Supportive of Section 2 and of the commitments made 
under the Duty to Co-operate.
Supportive of the commitment in paragraph 10.5 to 
always consult on Planning Policy Documents.
Supportive of the commitment to notify Town and 
Parish Councils of applications adjacent to their 
boundary but would request clarification that such 
notification extends to Town and Parish Councils 
outside of Vale of White Horse administrative area. We 
would also like to request clarification on whether 
adjoining Local Planning Authorities would be notified of 
applications for any strategic scale sites. CDC would 
wish to be notified of any planning applications for 
strategic sites in close proximity to their border.

We note the comments and welcome support. 

Clarifications will be made to the document 
regarding adjoining LPAs being notified of 
strategic sites coming forward adjacent to 
district boundary. 

We can confirm that the council consults 
adjoining districts but not adjoining parishes. 
However, if parishes wish to submit views then 
they will be considered. 

Modify document 
to provide clarity 
re adjacent 
districts being 
notified of 
applications that 
may affect them. 

Agree with 
modification -
to provide 
further clarity. 
Suggested 
change taken 
forward.

Nuclear
Decommission
ing Authority

Agree with the principles contained within the draft SCI. 
However, would wish to list the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority (‘the NDA’) as a Local 
Stakeholder representing the interests of a business 

We note and welcome your support for the 
principles contained in the SCI. 

P
age 111



18

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

within the Vale of the White Horse district as part of any 
upcoming Local Plan consultation opportunities.

We recognise that NDA are a local 
stakeholder. The interests of local businesses 
are stated in the SCI as needing to be 
considered, therefore, we consider that the 
NDA would fall into this category and is 
therefore recognised in the SCI.

CPRE There is no acknowledgement of the climate 
emergency. 

Proposed a change in wording in the introductions as 
follows; ‘Decisions we make, and policies we set, affect 
local residents, businesses and organisations now and 
in the future, so it’s important they are that everyone 
is involved from the start.’

More emphasis should be given on the process by 
which the feedback is considered and incorporated into 
the plans.

The principles of engagement in paragraph 2.2 must be 
defined in the context of sustainability and the climate 
emergency declared by the Vale. 

Further clarification should be given to what 
circumstances paper copies will be provided to Parish 
Councils. Electronic copies should suffice with an 
obligation on Parish Councils to provide access on 
request to those without internet access. 

The council acknowledges the comments 
made by CPRE. 

We will make a modification reflecting these 
comments, for clarity. 

Comments received on planning policy 
documents are reviewed and summarised. An 
officer response is provided which sets out a 
response to the comment received. This 
commitment is set out in paragraph 14.1. 

Sustainable engagement generally refers to 
the physical, emotional and social wellbeing of 
participants, which are not within the SCI’s 
remit. Sustainability and the climate 
emergency will be considered in the new Local 
Plan 2041.  

There are no set circumstances for when 
paper copies will be provided. It will be for the 
LPA to make a judgement as to whether paper 

Proposed a 
change in 
wording in the 
introductions as 
follows; 
‘Decisions we 
make, and 
policies we set, 
affect local 
residents, 
businesses and 
organisations 
now and in the 
future, so it’s 
important they 
are that 
everyone is 
involved from the 
start.’

Agree with 
majority of 
modification 
to provide 
further clarity.

‘Decisions 
we make, 
and policies 
we set, affect 
local 
residents, 
businesses 
and 
organisations 
now and in 
the future, 
so it’s 
important 
they are that 
everyone 
has the 
opportunity 

P
age 112



19

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Paragraph 3.5 needs to be expanded to explain the 
status and role of the database in more detail. If asked 
to be added to database, it is not clear what will happen 
and what you will be consulted upon. 

Paragraph 6.2 should set out the targets for any SCI 
review. 

The diagram in paragraph 7.1 is misleading. There is 
no mention of DPD’s, SPD’s, the new 2041 plan and it 
is not clear where the OCC mineral plan fits into 
equation. 

There is no chart for the Local Plan process. This 
implies that the Local Plan is completed, however 
consultation has started on the Local Plan 2041 with a 
call for sites. Consultation process for a Local Plan 
must be defined. 

In Figure 1, box 3 and box 6, further explanation is 
required about how the representations will be 
reviewed, considered and acted upon. 

The link in paragraph 11.8 does not work.

copies will be required to be distributed 
depending on the consultation.  

More information is provided by following the 
link to sign up, or information is available if you 
were to call the number provided. We do not 
consider it appropriate to define all of this 
information in the SCI. 

This paragraph states the SCI will be reviewed 
periodically to take account of changes to 
legislation, government guidance or local 
circumstances. The targets of any review 
would therefore be to take into account any 
changes in these areas.

The Vale of White Horse Development Plan 
currently consists of Vale of White Horse Local 
Plan 2031, Parts 1 and 2, Oxfordshire County 
Council Minerals and Waste Plan and made 
Neighbourhood Plans. SPDs are not part of the 
Development Plan and therefore not included 
in the diagram. 
A Local Plan is a Development Plan 
Document, and therefore should follow the 
consultation requirements as set out in Figure 
1. This is explained at paragraph 11.4. 

We will update the link in paragraph 11.8. Update link to 
SPD page on 

to be 
involved from 
the start.’

Majority of 
suggested 
change taken 
forward.

Agreed – 
suggested 

P
age 113



20

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Reference should be given to the climate emergency 
declared by the Vale in section 11.9: Sustainability 
Appraisal. There needs to be a commitment to follow 
equivalent UK legislation post Brexit.
 
There should be an additional step in Figure 5: CIL 
Preparation to appraise any significant changes to the 
schedule following consultation.

In paragraph 13.6 change may to will.

Comments are often summarized or abbreviated 
(justifiably?) More often than not they are dismissed. 
Very few comments are accepted leading to changes to 
the documents, and the overall feeling is that due 
process might have been followed, but the comments 
are ignored - the plan is right.

In paragraph 14.4, mention is needed of the online 
process used to collected comments, whereby 
comments are required section by section, so 
responses are fragmented, and it is very hard to make 
an argument that applies to the overall plan, rather than 
individual sections. 

Development Forum for Valley Park was a waste of 
time. Developer was defensive and not prepared to 
listen, neither were other participants. Just wanted to 

This will be addressed by the new Local Plan 
2041, rather than the SCI.

In regard to Figure 5, a consultation statement 
is required to be submitted as part of the CIL 
Examination, and this action would therefore 
be included in this step. 

This is a matter of judgement for the LPA, and 
therefore the wording should remain ‘may’. 

Comments are summarised so that similar 
issues raised by multiple representations can 
be appropriately addressed comprehensively, 
The LPA take all comments into consideration 
and will make appropriate changes to the 
documents to reflect the comments received.  

Comment forms will differ depending on the 
consultation and in some cases, it is 
appropriate for the form to be divided. There is 
also, in most cases, an additional question 
where any other issues that you feel you may 
not have addressed already can be raised. 

We note your view on the Valley Park 
Development Forum, however there are 

Vale website. 
Para 11.8

change taken 
forward.

P
age 114



21

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

say what a bad idea the project was. Not a constructive 
process. 

Needs something on how decisions are communicated. 
For big applications requiring a S106 the committee 
may be minded to grant permission, but the decision is 
not implemented until the S106 has been agreed. 
Meanwhile there is no record of status on the planning 
database, and you have to wait weeks before the 
minutes of the planning committee meeting are 
published. Case in point is Valley Park. P14/V2873/O. 
Database shows no decision issued. But it went to 
Planning Committee FOUR years ago. What is going 
on.

The speaking time for major applications should be 
changed and there should be an opportunity for 
committee members to question the speakers. 

The S106 is the one area where the community can 
see some benefit from a development and where there 
is almost no scope for engagement and consultation. A 
sympathetic officer may list parish requests for S106 
when reporting to the planning committee. After 
committee the S106 goes into a black hole (Valley Park 
S106 has been there for 4 years). When it emerges, 
and the S106 published and the decisions issued, it is 
too late to correct any mistakes. e.g. one S106 
mentioned defined the wrong parish (Harwell, not E 
Hendred) for receipt of tennis court money. A draft of 
the near final S106 should be provided to those 

examples of members of the community 
finding these forums beneficial. 

Decision notices are placed on the website 
once a decision has been made on an 
application. Any problems with individual 
cases, should be discussed with the case 
officer. 

The process at planning committee is provided 
for in Council’s constitution and cannot be 
amended through the SCI.  

S106: Paragraph 26.3 provides appropriate 
guidance on this, stating that “We do not 
consult on Section 106 agreements - this is not 
a statutory duty. However, we seek 
confirmation from towns and parishes on 
community facilities that the new development 
may impact upon or require improvement as a 
result of the development. Once we have an 
agreement and the development has 
commenced, we will notify towns and parish 
councils and meetings of the sums available 
for identified community facilities and provide 
an update to them on a six-monthly basis.” 

P
age 115



22

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

affected by it for review/checking prior to final 
agreement.

In the ‘Who we consult with’ section, please re-instate 
a) the commitment for wider notification for major 
applications and b) the option of email alerts. SCI must 
include details of how one can register for planning 
notifications.

Under Planning Enforcements, the statements need to 
be backed up with actions. 

There needs to be an additional paragraph defining 
how the ‘reporter’ and the public will be kept informed of 
the status of the breach and the remedial actions 
sought. 

In Appendix A, where it states, “applications affecting 
the character and appearance of a conservation area” 
Shouldn't these also be notified to 
landowners/occupiers?

We will consider re-instating the commitment 
for wider notification for major applications. 
Email alerts are still an option, and this is set 
out in the table at paragraph 21.1. 

The Council will keep the complainant 
informed of the progress. This information is 
available on the Council website: 
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-
enforcement/how-we-deal-with-complaints.

The table in appendix A is based on guidance 
set out in national legislation. Adjacent 
neighbours to the application will be notified as 
set out in section 2 of the SCI. 

Consider re-
instating the 
following; ‘In most 
cases, where new 
development (e.g. 
‘major’ 
application) 
affects more 
properties than 
those that are 
immediately 
adjacent to the 
boundary of the 
site, wider 
consultation may 
be carried out.’

Agree with 
modification 
to provide 
further clarity.

Response 39 Wants to know how officers decide if stakeholder and 
public comments are valid and if applicants are made 
aware of these. Feels that applicants do not answer 
questions.

Has found examples of incorrect application 
documentation in the past. 

Applicants are made aware of the validity of 
comments and officer’s conclusions are set out 
in the Officer / Delegated Report. 

If errors are found in applications that are 
minor and therefore do not affect the 
application as a whole, the applicant would not 
be expected to re-apply or re write their forms. 

P
age 116

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/how-we-deal-with-complaints
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/how-we-deal-with-complaints
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/how-we-deal-with-complaints


23

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Would like errors in initial application forms to be picked 
up – concerned that errors are overlooked in full 
applications.

Roger Cox The revised SCI is clear, logical and deals with all 
aspects of local authority planning, with links to the 
background detail. I consider it to a be useful guide 
which would enable all parts of the community to 
engage in the planning process.

Noted and support welcomed.

Need not 
Greed 
Oxfordshire

Key concerns include;
 Key evidence documents such as the Housing 

Needs assessment should be subject to a 
transparent public debate and community 
involvement should be extended to the earliest part 
of the process. 

 An option based purely on the natural growth needs 
of the existing population should be considered 
when assessing the levels of growth. 

 There should be more clarity on how comments 
received during consultations are taken on board 
and how documents are modified to reflect these. 

Recommends an additional objective to paragraph 1.2 
(proposed wording suggested can be found in full 
response). 

The council acknowledges the comments 
made by Need not Greed Oxfordshire. 

The level of growth within the district is not an 
issued to be considered by the SCI. The SCI 
sets out the stages of consultation for 
development plan documents, and when 
representations can be made on the proposed 
document and accompanying evidence base. 
Draft evidence-based documents are available 
at either Regulation 18 or 19 consultation for 
public consultation and comments received will 
be considered when finalising policy 
documents. 
  

The council will consider the additional 
proposed objective when finalising the SCI. 

Need Not Greed 
suggest the 
council consider 
amending 

Agreed in 
principle – 
1.2 already 
mentions 

P
age 117



24

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Recommends three changes to Figure one;
 Add footnote to Figure 1 setting out what is meant 

by pre-production stage (proposed wording 
suggested can be found in full response). 

 Amend the third box from the top to ‘respond clearly 
and publicly to representations received and where 
appropriate modify the plan accordingly.’

 Amend the sixth box from the top to ‘respond clearly 
and publicly to representations received and where 
appropriate modify the plan accordingly’.

Paragraph 6.2 should make clear how the effectiveness 
of the SCI will be reviewed. It should set out what 
targets there are for public engagement

Reference to European Directive EC/2001/42 in 
paragraph 11.9 and the footnote on page 16 needs to 
be reconsidered. It should be noted that the alternatives 
to this legislation is unclear. They would be unhappy if 
there is any weakening of the Environmental standards. 
Consider mentioning the climate crisis and the key zero 
carbon reduction targets. 

The reasons for concerns about the level of growth 
include; 
 There is no clear national spatial policy, instead 

there seems to be a ‘development-everywhere’ 
approach. 

The council considers Figure 1 to accurately 
represent the necessary stages involved in the 
production of a development plan document. 

There are no set targets for public 
engagement, however the Council is 
continually trying to improve its methods to 
reach more people. 

Paragraph 6.2 explains that the SCI will be 
updated to take account of changes in 
legislation. If there are changes to legislation 
mentioned within the SCI, there is scope for 
the SCI to be updated to take into account the 
changes. 

The remaining points relate to a matter of 
policy. The SCI sets out how the LPA will 
engage with the community on planning 
documents. Representations regarding policy 
will need to be made on the appropriate 
document and at the appropriate time. 

paragraph 1.2 to 
add the following: 
‘To give local 
people and 
organisations 
various 
opportunities to 
get involved and 
influence and
guide local plans 
and planning 
applications’

some of 
these points 
relating to 
opportunities 
but part of 
the wording 
will be 
incorporated, 
i.e.  ‘and 
highlights the 
opportunities 
for local 
communities 
to provide 
comments on 
new planning 
documents, 
such as 
Local Plans, 
and how they 
might be 
involved in 
the 
development 
of their local 
area/district.

P
age 118



25

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

 The previous plans were entirely based on one set 
of figures from the Oxfordshire SHMA which was 
produced by GL Hearn. 

 Once these figures were ‘accepted’, they were 
beyond challenge by local people. Valid claims were 
made at Local Plan Examinations but were 
dismissed. 

 The risks of a jobs-led strategy were not recognised 
or mitigated and there was no contingency planning 
for the risk that job growth might not materialise. 

 There are proposals to build 1 million more homes in 
the Oxford/Cambridge Arc. With this, there is 
uncertainty surrounding the Oxford to Cambridge 
Expressway. 

 There has been a standoff between SODC 
councillors and government minister Robert Jenrick 
about progressing the South Local Plan. The 
timetable set by Jenrick is unlikely to be the last 
word and can be overcome by the plan being out of 
date and the Coronavirus crisis having an effect. 

 These problems are further illuminated by the 
housing developments known as North and North 
West Abingdon. The concerns for these sites are set 
out in Appendix 1 of the full response. 

(Further explanation on these points can be found in 
the full response).

The focus should be on proper balance of economic, 
environmental and social considerations; local 
democracy controlled by locally elected and 

P
age 119



26

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

accountable councillors; and environmental and rural 
sustainability, putting landscape, nature and rural 
communities at the heart of decision-making. 

Concern raised about the imposition of excessive 
growth and centralisation by Whitehall. The Arc 
pressures may mean that planning history will repeat 
itself in next Vale of White Horse Local Plan. 

Local People and organisations must be consulted 
about the overall level of growth. 

Thames Water New developments may increase the requirements for 
water and wastewater infrastructure. The timescale for 
delivering this infrastructure can be time consuming. 
Developers are encouraged to work with Thames Water 
at an early stage to minimise the need for phasing 
conditions on planning permissions and to ensure new 
development is aligned with any infrastructure upgrades 
required. Refers to Paragraph 40 of the NPPF where it 
encourages developers to engage with local 
communities and statutory and non-statutory 
consultees before submitting their applications.

Would welcome text within SCI that encouraging 
developers to seek pre-application advice with Thames 
Water to discuss any water and wastewater 
infrastructure required to support the development.  
Thames Water provided a link to include within the SCI 
or on the Council Website.

Noted. The SCI sets out how the LPA will 
engage with the local community and key 
stakeholders such as Thames Water. 

The remaining points relate to a matter of 
policy. The SCI sets out how the LPA will 
engage with the community on planning 
documents. Representations regarding policy 
will need to be made on the appropriate 
document and at the appropriate time.

Comment noted and agreed.

Potentially seek 
to add a sentence 
to section 19: 
Pre-Application 
Advice to 
encourage 
applicants to seek 
advice from other 
key stakeholders 
such as Thames 
Water.

Agreed – 
reminds 
applicants of 
further steps 
/ provides 
clarity. 
Suggested 
change taken 
forward.

P
age 120



27

Name/
Organisation/
Comment ID

Comment Summary Officer Response Proposed 
Modification

Agree/ 
Disagree with 
Modification 
and reason 
why

Ms Nicholson Asks about engaging with the local community (i.e. 
what methods of communication) and wants the Council 
to give ‘recognition of present weaknesses in such 
methods and what you might do to improve this’. 

Clear language and accessibility are all very well, but if 
the channels themselves are weak, it is all pointless.

Paragraphs 9.5 and 21.1 of the Statement of 
Community Involvement set out the methods of 
engagement we will undertake when 
consulting on Planning Policy documents and 
on planning applications.  We will continue to 
work with our Community Engagement Team 
to ensure our methods are effective in 
informing people of any consultations we are 
undertaking.

Mrs 
Wooldridge

It seems clear. One of the issues with putting things out 
for public approval is that if you steer the questions 
appropriately it is pretty easy to get an answer you 
want. In this case, approval of this paper.

Noted. We will discuss with our Community 
Engagement Team. 

P
age 121



Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Planning
Author: Deborah Bryson
Telephone: 01235 422600
Textphone: 18001 01235 422600
E-mail: deborah.bryson@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: Watchfield and Shrivenham
Cabinet member responsible: Cllr. Debby Hallett
E-mail: Debby.Hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
To: CABINET
Date: 7 October 2020

Making the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Development Plan Review

That Cabinet recommends to Council:

1. To make the revised Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Development Plan, as set out in 
Appendix 2 of this report, so that it becomes part of the council’s development plan.

2. To delegate to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning and in agreement with the Qualifying Body, the correction of any spelling, 
grammatical, typographical or factual errors together with any improvements from a 
presentational perspective.

Purpose of Report

1. To provide an update to Cabinet on the progress of the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Development Plan Review and to present the relevant considerations in relation to 
whether the revised plan should be made (formally adopted).

Corporate Objectives 

2. Supporting the development of neighbourhood plans for our towns and villages.

Background

3. Great Coxwell Parish Council was identified as the qualifying body and the parish of 
Great Coxwell was designated as a Neighbourhood Area in August 2013, under the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (2012). A referendum was held on 12 
March 2015, where 95.08 per cent of those who voted (49.2 per cent of the parish) 

Page 122

Agenda Item 8

mailto:deborah.bryson@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Debby.Hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


were in favour of the plan. On 15 July 2015 the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan 
was officially made and became part of the Development Plan.

4. Great Coxwell Parish Council have subsequently submitted a revised neighbourhood 
plan alongside a table setting out the justification for the proposed modifications 
(Appendix 1), which includes updating community policies (these do not form part of 
the development plan), correction of errors, an amended layout and updating 
information to reflect the current circumstances.

5. These amendments are considered to be minor. In accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), minor (non-material) updates to a neighbourhood 
plan do not materially affect the policies in the plan. The council may make such 
updates at any time, provided it has the consent of the qualifying body. Consultation, 
examination and referendum are not required when making non-material modifications 
to a made neighbourhood plan.

6. Section 61M(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, (as applied to 
neighbourhood plans by section 38C(2)(c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004) advises that a modification of a neighbourhood plan is to be undertaken by 
replacing the plan with a new one containing the modification. Sections 61M(4) and 
61M(4A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enables the council to modify a 
neighbourhood plan for the purpose of correcting errors or where the modification does 
not materially affect the planning policies of the plan. 

7. Great Coxwell Parish Council (the qualifying body) asked the council to modify the 
made neighbourhood plan in accordance with the changes set out in Appendix 1. The 
council can therefore be satisfied that the parish council consents to the changes 
proposed and the replacement of the made Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan with 
the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan Review 2020 available in Appendix 2. 

Options

8. Whilst there is no requirement to review or update a neighbourhood plan; so there is an 
option not to make the updates, it is considered helpful for errors to be corrected in 
order that the plan reflects the latest situation. Not making the amendments would 
mean the plan is not up to date, which can have implications in decision making on 
planning applications. Consequently, we do not recommend this option.

9. Another option is to make different changes to those proposed by the qualifying body. 
However this has not been requested by Great Coxwell Parish Council and their 
consent is needed as required by Section 61M(5) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. On this occasion, we do not consider that any other changes are required. 
We have worked closely with the qualifying body to ensure changes proposed meet the 
relevant requirements, in particular, that they do not materially change the planning 
policies in the plan. Consequently, we do not recommend this option.

10.The recommended option is to accept the requested changes and make the reviewed 
plan. Producing and updating a neighbourhood plan is a right that communities can 
exercise. By making the revised plan we would be satisfying our duty to guide and 
assist communities preparing or reviewing neighbourhood plans. Furthermore, by 
progressing the update of the plan, we would be bringing the neighbourhood plan up to 
date with the latest information, correcting errors and creating a clearer and better 
layout. 

Page 123

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted


Financial Implications

11.There are no financial implications of this decision other than use of staff resource, 
which is within the existing budget. The review is composed of minor modifications and 
consequently is not subject to consultation, examination or referendum costs. Due to 
the minor nature of the modifications we are not entitled to claim Government grant 
funding for this review.

Legal Implications

12.Sections 61M(4) and 61M(4A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enables a 
local planning authority to modify a neighbourhood plan they have made for the 
purpose of correcting errors or if they consider that the modification does not materially 
affect the planning policies of the plan.

13.Great Coxwell Parish Council as qualifying body has requested and given permission, 
as required by Section 61M(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, for the 
council to update their neighbourhood plan. Paragraph 3 of Schedule 4B to the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 sets out that a council has a duty to provide advice or 
assistance to a parish council, neighbourhood forum or community organisation that is 
producing or reviewing a neighbourhood plan.

14.The requirements of section 61M of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 have 
been met. The updates set out in Appendix 1 are not considered to materially affect the 
planning policies in the plan.

Risks

15.A risk to progressing the making of the review of the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Plan is that there may be differing opinions as to whether the changes are not material, 
as this is a matter of planning judgement. Paragraph 84A of the NPPG sets out that 
Minor (non-material) updates to a neighbourhood plan or Order would not materially 
affect the planning policies in the plan. This matter has been carefully considered and 
the changes proposed (see Appendix 1) do not relate to the existing policy wording or, 
in the case of changes to supporting text, materially affect how the planning policies in 
the plan are interpreted. 

Conclusion

16.As the reviewed Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan represents minor modifications to 
update and correct errors within the currently made Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Plan, it is recommended that the reviewed Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Development 
Plan is made.   

Background Papers

Appendix 1: Table of changes
Appendix 2: Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan review 2020

Page 124

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted


1

Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan Update 

Table of Proposed Changes 

Old Part 1 – The Plan

Old Page Old 
Paragraph

Old Text (removed) New 
paragraph

Proposed New Text (added) Justification for the Change

Cover 2014-2031 2020-2031 Factual update to bring time period information up to 
date

Contents (Out-of-date) (Edit at end of process) Factual update to reflect the combination of Parts 1 and 
2 of the Neighbourhood Plan and incorporation of the 
non-land related community policies.

Header (Out-of-date) (Change date) Update to reflect the above and new date of publication.
1 Photo 7 (A number of photographs are out-of-date and need to be 

replaced – see final page for a list)
(New images selected) Need to replace a number of photographs no longer 

reflect the situation ‘on the ground’, eg businesses 
closed/topography changed.

2 1.1 The Localism Act 2011 states that ‘A “neighbourhood 
development plan” is a plan which sets out policies 
(however expressed) in relation to the development and 
use of land in the whole or any part of a particular 
neighbourhood area specified in the plan’.  Great Coxwell 
policies that do not relate to the development and use of 
land are set out in Appendix B.    The Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan covers the period to 2031 in line with 
the Vale of White Horse District Council Local Plan.

The Localism Act 2011 states that “A ‘neighbourhood development plan’ is a 
plan which sets out policies (however expressed) in relation to the 
development and use of land in the whole or any part of a particular 
neighbourhood area specified in the plan”.  The Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan covers the period to 2031 in line with the Vale of White 
Horse District Council Local Plan.  Community Priorities and Actions that do 
not relate to the use of land are shown in a different colour.

Appendix B Policies are policies that don’t relate to the 
use of land.  These community Policies (now called 
Community Priorities and Actions in the updated Plan) 
are obviously different from planning policies, therefore 
they are shown in a different colour with an explanation 
that they are Community Priorities and Actions 
Planning perspectives, design perspectives and 
community perspectives were previously published in 
three separate sections of the Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan (GCNP).  Putting all three back 
together makes the needs, wishes and proposals of the 
Great Coxwell community (as expressed in the Vision 
Statement, SWOT analysis and Objectives) clearer and 
more readable.  It represents a change of format, not a 
change of content.

1.2 This Neighbourhood Plan describes strategic objectives and 
policies for the village and parish of Great Coxwell.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan is organised into a number of headings 
based on, and closely related to, those of the Vale of White 
Horse District Local Plan 2031.  It looks at the parish as it is 
today and sets out policies to ensure that the village will 
continue to be surrounded by the open space and green 
buffer that give it identity as a village.  Its policies will be 
used to guide decision making in the area.

This Neighbourhood Plan describes strategic objectives and policies for the 
village and parish of Great Coxwell.  It is organised into a number of 
headings based on, and closely related to, those of the Vale of White Horse 
District Local Plan 2031.  It looks at the parish as it is today and sets out 
policies to ensure that the village and parish will continue to benefit from 
the open space and green buffer that give it identity as a village set in a rural 
parish.  Its policies will be used to guide decision making in the area.

Update to clarify and emphasise the rural character of 
the whole parish

1.3 The Plan and its policies have been developed from written 
responses to a questionnaire, scoping discussions with 
individuals and opportunities for public discussion at Parish 
meetings.  These were followed by a formal consultation 
period that included press advertisements, delivery of a 
draft copy of the Plan to every household and business 
premises (with a personal discussion where possible), public 
meetings and collation of written feedback.  Electronic 
versions of the documentation and opportunities to 

The Neighbourhood Plan was adopted in 2014 and updated in 2019. Its 
policies have been developed from written responses to a questionnaire, 
scoping discussions with individuals and opportunities for public discussion 
at Parish meetings.  These were followed by a formal consultation period 
that included press advertisements, delivery of a draft copy of the Plan to 
every household and business premises (with a personal discussion where 
possible), public meetings and collation of written feedback.  Electronic 
versions of the documentation and opportunities to respond have also been 
made available on a parish website, www.greatcoxwell.com.

To bring the NP up-to-date due to the review process.  

P
age 125



2

respond have also been made available on a dedicated 
website, greatcoxwell.com.

1.4 This is a quintessential English parish, with a village area, 
surrounded by agricultural and pastoral land, about 1½ 
miles from the centre of Faringdon.  Farmland, stretching 
for approximately 1 mile, separates the two places.  It is 
quiet and rural.  The village is a ‘cul-de-sac’ and this 
contributes to its character and influences traffic flow and 
parking behaviour.  The village is effectively a pedestrian 
precinct (photographs 32-4).  Villagers stop to chat to each 
other.  Car drivers are usually very considerate and 
appreciate that children and dogs may be walking in the 
roads.  The roads are also frequented by horse-riders; some 
of these are children.

This is a quintessential English parish, with a village area, surrounded by 
agricultural and pastoral land, about 1½ miles from the centre of Faringdon.  
Farmland, stretching for approximately 1/2 mile, separates the two places.  
It is quiet and rural.  From the crossroads, the village to the north, west and 
south is a ‘cul-de-sac’ and this contributes to its character and influences 
traffic flow and parking behaviour.  A large part of the village is effectively a 
pedestrian precinct (photographs 23-25).  Villagers stop to chat to each 
other.  Car drivers are usually very considerate and appreciate that children 
and dogs may be walking in the roads.  The roads are also frequented by 
horse-riders; some of these are children.

Additional detail to improve the accuracy of the 
description and a change to ½ mile to reflect the 
disappearance of agricultural land under new housing. 

1.5-6 There is a good community feel – many parishioners know 
and look out for each other: meals, shopping lifts, company, 
child care.  People are friendly and helpful and welcoming 
to newcomers.  There are active church, Woman’s Institute 
and other community groups running events such as coffee 
mornings on a weekly basis.  Well-publicised Great Coxwell 
Village Teas are held monthly.  A crib scene is created and 
managed each year at the Great Barn and volunteers run 
special Art Weeks events in the village.

There are regular concerts (ranging from classical to folk) in 
the village (houses of residents, the Great Barn and church).  
Artists’ studios in the village are opened for Oxfordshire ‘Art 
Weeks’ in May annually.  Visitors come from all over the 
country and overseas to visit the Great Barn, the church, 
and to enjoy some of the finest views of the Uffington 
White Horse.

There is a good community feel – many parishioners know and look out for 
each other: providing meals, shopping lifts, company, child care.  People are 
friendly and helpful and welcoming to newcomers.  

There is an active church, a Woman’s Institute, Book Club, and other 
community groups running events such as coffee mornings on a weekly 
basis.  Well-publicised Great Coxwell Village Teas are held monthly.  A crib 
scene is staged each year at the Great Barn, and volunteers run special Art 
Weeks events in the village.  There are frequent concerts (ranging from 
classical to folk) in the village.  Artists’ studios in the village are opened for 
Oxfordshire ‘Art Weeks’ in May annually.  Visitors come from all over the 
country and overseas to visit the Great Barn, the church, and to enjoy some 
of the finest views of the Uffington White Horse.

Grammatical change and update to reflect latest 
situation.

3 Map 1 Change to show the new parish boundary Factual update to show the new parish boundary
(Area designation unchanged)

4 1.9 To the north of the village and situated more centrally within 
the parish lies Badbury Clump, an Iron Age hill fort, a popular 
beauty spot with views to the Berkshire Downs to the south 
and across the Thames valley to the north.  This, together 
with the late 12th-century church of St Giles (photograph 2), 
is situated on an outcrop of the limestone Corallian Ridge 
known locally as the ‘golden ridge’, which runs north-east to 
south-west through the parish. Much of the historic built 
environment, including the late 13th-century Great Barn 
(photograph 4), a building of national importance, has been 
constructed using its stone. The village brook rising on the 
southern slopes of the Clump runs past and feeds a pond 
next to the Great Barn, thereafter bounding and running 
through and alongside the properties to the west of the 

To the north of the village and situated more centrally within the parish lies 
Badbury Hill, an Iron Age hill fort, a popular beauty spot with views to the 
Berkshire Downs to the south and across the Thames valley to the north.  
(The National Trust has allocated a portion of the wood to the south-west 
for leisure mountain biking, appointed a ranger and initiated a regeneration 
programme in the ancient woodland.)  This, together with the late 12th 
century church of St Giles (photograph 2), is situated on an outcrop of the 
limestone Corallian Ridge known locally as the ‘golden ridge’, which runs 
north-east to south-west through the parish.  Much of the historic built 
environment, including the late 13th century Great Barn (photograph 5), a 
building of national importance, has been constructed using its stone. The 
village brook rising on the southern slopes of the Hill runs past and feeds a 
pond next to the Great Barn, thereafter bounding and running through and 
alongside the properties to the west of the main village road, which include 

Amendment to correct an error, update the use of the 
land by the National Trust and reference and reflect 
revised NPPF

P
age 126



3

main village road, which include the Parish’s third public 
building, the Reading Room (photograph 3).
…

the Parish’s third public building, the Reading Room (photograph 3).  
Paragraph 175 of the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
February 2019, provides enhanced protection for irreplaceable habitats. 

1.12 Sub Area A: The village settlement contains the great 
majority of domestic properties (117) and parish residents 
(282).  Cherry  Orchard  and  Puddleduck  Lane  branch  east  
and  west  from  the  main  village  road  at  the  crossing.    
The  National  Trust  owns  the Great Barn and Court House 
at the northern end of the village and five other houses 
(Sub Area A —photograph 5).

Sub Area A: The village settlement contains the great majority of domestic 
properties (approximately 120) and parish residents (approximately 300). 
Cherry  Orchard  and  Puddleduck  Lane  branch  east  and  west  from  the  
main  village  road  at  the  crossroads.   The  National  Trust  owns  the Great 
Barn and Court House at the northern end of the village and four other 
houses  (Sub Area A —photograph 4).

The number of residents is constantly changing, so the 
figures have been updated to be approximate values, so 
they will remain relevant for longer.

Sub Area B: The agricultural land to the west and north of 
the parish is mostly in the ownership of the National Trust, 
and contains historic sites such as Badbury Clump, and the 
only east-west vehicular route through the parish (B4019)

Sub Area B: The agricultural land to the west and north of the parish is 
mostly in the ownership of the National Trust, and contains historic sites 
such as Badbury Hill, and the only east-west vehicular route through the 
parish (B4019)

Correction of error.

Sub Area C: The land to the south-east and east of the 
parish comprises a mix of agricultural and a small area of 
commercial land and premises, including Chowle Farm 
trading estate (self-styled Faringdon Business Park), a golf 
course, riding stables and a children’s nursery.  Farmland on 
the Great Faringdon boundary has been the subject of a 
housing development planning application for 200+ 
dwellings, which has been granted outline permission.  The 
farmland comprising Sub Area C provides the green buffer 
separating Great Coxwell from Faringdon’s urban area (Sub 
Area c—photograph 7).

Sub Area C: The land to the south-east and east of the parish comprises a 
mix of agricultural and a small area of commercial land and premises, 
including Chowle Farm trading estate (self-styled Faringdon Business Park), 
and a children’s nursery incorporating an outdoor activity area (“The 
Ranch”).  The farmland comprising Sub Area C provides the green buffer 
separating Great Coxwell from Faringdon’s urban area and A420 ribbon 
development (photograph 26 – green buffer Sub Area C)

Changed to update the business changes and housing 
development.

6 1.15 …where listed and unlisted buildings of the 17th, 18th and 
19th centuries predominate, with 20th century in-fill 
buildings…

1.5.3 …where listed and unlisted buildings of the 17th, 18th and 19th centuries 
predominate, with 20th and 21st century in-fill buildings…

Update to reflect latest situation.

6 1.17 Cherry Orchard running east from the crossing, with mostly 
detached 20th century houses followed by semi-detached 
former council houses in uniform styles of two periods, 
early and mid-20th century, and the village park.

1.5.5 Cherry Orchard running east from the crossroads, with mostly detached 
20th century houses followed by semi-detached former council houses in 
uniform styles of two periods, early and mid-20th century, and the village 
park.

Correction of error.

6 1.19 Buildings in the east of the parish, domestic and 
employment, along the A420, farmland forming the green 
buffer against coalescence; and the Fernham Fields site that 
is subject to a development of 200+ houses with outline 
planning permission.  

Buildings in the east of the parish, domestic and employment, along the 
A420, farmland forming the green buffer against coalescence. 

Updated to remove reference to the then proposed 
building development now almost completed.

Importantly, a large part of the village of Great Coxwell was 
designated as a Conservation Area in the 1980s (map 3)

Importantly, a large part of the village of Great Coxwell was designated as a 
Conservation Area on 3 April 1971 (map 4)

Updated following recent confirmation of the exact date 
of designation

8 2.2-3 The population of the parish is approximately 300.  There is 
a high level of home ownership.  Three-quarters of homes 
are detached, many have been extended, and there are few 
one and two-bedroom properties.

It has been noticed in the consultation process that there is 
limited availability of smaller houses in Great Coxwell.  

The population of the parish is approximately 300.  There is a high level of 
home ownership.  Three-quarters of homes are detached, many have been 
extended, and there are few one and two-bedroom properties. Thus there is 
limited availability of smaller houses in Great Coxwell.  Paragraph 11 of the 
Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 refers. 

Update to reference and reflect revised NPPF.

P
age 127



4

2.4 Commercial activity varies between the three Sub Areas, A, 
B and C.  In A (the village), businesses are run from home 
and there is home working.  There are no retail outlets.  Sub 
Area B contains farming enterprises, including arable, 
meadow, horse grazing and forestry.  In Sub Area C there 
are riding stables, a golf course, a privately-run children’s 
nursery, a bed-and-breakfast establishment and business 
premises.

Commercial activity varies between the three Sub Areas, A, B and C.  In A 
(the village), businesses are run from home and there is home working.  
There are no retail outlets.  Sub Area B contains farming enterprises, 
including arable, meadow, horse grazing and forestry.  In Sub Area C there 
are a privately-run children’s nursery including an outdoor activity area (The 
Range) and business premises’.

Update to reflect changed business.

2.5 Access into the village is by a winding rural road that leads 
from the A420 and Faringdon by way of a roundabout.  A 
steep single-track deeply etched ‘hollow’ way leads uphill to 
the B4019 to the north of the village.

Access into the village is by a winding rural road that leads from the A420 and 
Faringdon by way of a roundabout.  This route to the village and bus stop is 
difficult for pedestrians when flooded A steep single-track deeply etched 
‘hollow’ way leads uphill to the B4019 to the north of the village.

Clarification of detail.

2.6 The Faringdon Community Bus runs between the village and 
Faringdon (the local service centre, 1½ miles distant) on 
Monday to Friday mornings.

A bus service to Faringdon, stops on Monday to Friday mornings, except for 
Bank Holidays.

Update to show community bus service clearly.

2.7 There is a half-hourly bus service to Faringdon, Oxford and 
Swindon, which stops about ½ mile from the village centre 
at an exposed roundabout; no shelter is provided.  The path 
to the bus stops at the roundabout is often flooded.  A bus 
shelter exists on the A420 (eastbound only) about ¾ mile 
from the village.  This is accessed by way of a footpath 
crossing the golf course a field and the road.

There is a frequent bus service to Faringdon, Oxford and Swindon, which 
stops about ½ mile from the village centre at an exposed roundabout; no 
shelter is provided.  A bus shelter exists on the A420 (eastbound only) about 
¾ mile from the village.  

Update to reflect latest bus service details.

2.8 Well-used footpaths connect the different parts of the 
village and lead outward into the parish in all directions, 
forming a network of pedestrian routes.  Three are 
particularly important to parishioners: the path leading east 
from the village to the bus stop on the A420, the footpath 
from Cherry Orchard behind the riding stables, forming a 
safe pedestrian route to the bus stops at the roundabout 
and the path to Faringdon along the road between the two 
places (see Map 4 for all the Public Rights of Way).

Well-used footpaths connect the different parts of the village and lead 
outward into the parish in all directions, forming a network of pedestrian 
routes. Footpaths are monitored by the parish footpaths Warden and unsafe 
and unstable stiles replaced with new stiles or ‘kissing’ gates’.  Three paths 
are particularly important to parishioners: the path leading east from the 
village to the bus stop on the A420, the footpath from Cherry Orchard 
behind the outdoor activity area “The Ranch” (part of Annabelle’s nursery), 
forming a safe pedestrian route to the bus stops at the roundabout and the 
path to Faringdon along the road between the two places (see Map 7 for all 
the Public Rights of Way).

Updates to reflect current parish policy and business 
change.

2.10 The focus of village social life is the Reading Room 
(maximum capacity 60 persons; no provision for car 
parking) used as both a village and church hall.  It is in need 
of structural attention.  The church (similar capacity, limited 
parking and no toilet facilities) is situated prominently at 
one end of the village

The focus of village social life is the Reading Room (maximum capacity 60 
persons; no provision for car parking) used as both a village and church hall.  
The Reading Room is in need of structural attention.  The church (similar 
capacity, limited parking and no toilet facilities) is situated prominently 
towards one end of the village.  The district council’s most up-to-date Local 
Leisure Facilities Report (2016) identified (through a qualitative audit) 
priorities for investment to village halls.

Update to add clarity and refer to the Leisure Facilities 
Report.

9 2.11 Other amenities include: a village Park comprising a 
children’s playground and basketball/netball court (with 
wildlife interest, planted hedgerows and a willow shelter, 
with tables and seats) serving residents of the parish and 
further afield, created by significant community effort and 
fund raising (it has no toilet facilities); a post-box, with a 
daily collection; several footpaths and bridleways; recycling 
services (weekly/fortnightly collections); and a mobile 
library visits the village on a fortnightly basis.

Other amenities include: a village park comprising a children’s playground 
and basketball/netball court (with wildlife interest, planted hedgerows and 
tables and seats) serving residents of the parish and further afield, created 
by significant community effort and fund raising (it has no toilet facilities); a 
post-box, with a daily collection; several footpaths and bridleways; recycling 
services (weekly/fortnightly collections). The red telephone box close to the 
Reading Room serves as a parish book exchange.

Update to reflect changed use of telephone box.

P
age 128



5

2.13 Great Coxwell parish is an area of great landscape, 
archaeological, historic and architectural interest and 
distinctiveness.  From Badbury Clump (part of the National 
Trust-owned Coleshill and Buscot estates), the highest point 
in the parish, there are views of a gentle rolling landscape 
on all sides.  The Iron Age Camp on the summit has been 
designated a Scheduled Monument by English Heritage

Great Coxwell parish is an area of great landscape, archaeological, historic 
and architectural interest and distinctiveness.  From Badbury Hill (part of the 
National Trust-owned Coleshill and Buscot estates), the highest point in the 
parish, there are views of a gentle rolling landscape on all sides.  
Only the upper enclosure of the Iron Age hillfort on its summit has been 
designated a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) by English Heritage (Map 
3 shows the extent and setting of the site and the location of prehistoric finds 
Neolithic to Medieval). 
Paragraph 194 of the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
July 2018 refers. 

Correction to provide greater detail and accuracy.
The updated NPPF provides greater protection of this 
important parish asset.

2.14 Lying in the gentle southern slope of Badbury Clump 
alongside the village main street and houses, the village 
brook and drains cannot handle additional run-off especially 
at the southern end of the village and in Puddleduck Lane.

Lying on the gentle southern slope of Badbury Hill alongside the village main 
street and houses, the village brook and drains cannot handle additional 
run-off especially at the southern end of the village and in Puddleduck Lane.

Correction of error.

2.16 Most of the village (Sub Area A) is a Conservation Area, 
designated in 1971 and without more detailed appraisal.  
Great Coxwell Parish Council has been advised by the 
District Council to support the production of a Conservation 
Area Character Appraisal and this is being carried out.  The 
church (Grade II*) and six monuments in the churchyard are 
Listed (Grade II) by English Heritage, together with ten 
village properties (also Grade II).  Also Listed are the Great 
Barn (Grade I and a Scheduled Monument) and an 
associated shelter shed with granary (Grade II)

Most of the village (Sub Area A) is a Conservation Area, designated on 3 April 
1971 and without more detailed appraisal.  Great Coxwell Parish Council is 
currently producing a Conservation Area Character Appraisal draft, following 
advice by Vale of White Horse District Council.  Subject to adoption of an 
appraisal by VOWDC, a Conservation Area Character Appraisal will help to 
assist local planning policy contained in the Local Plan and the review of the 
Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan.
The church (Grade 2*) and six monuments in the churchyard are Listed 
(Grade II) by English Heritage, together with ten village properties (also 
Grade II).  Also Listed are the Great Barn (Grade I and a Scheduled 
Monument) and an associated shelter shed with granary (Grade II)

New wording to bring progress with the Conservation 
Area Character Appraisal up-to-date.

2.17 The Conservation Area Character Appraisal will identify 
features and buildings of local interest, ie non-designated 
but of historic importance to the Parish.  Subject to 
personal discussions and the willingness of the residents 
nominally affected, the Appraisal will propose changes to 
the boundaries of the Conservation Area to reinforce the 
integrity of the rural village in its relationship with the 
developing town of Faringdon nearby.

It is intended that the Conservation Area Character Appraisal should identify 
features and buildings of local interest, i.e. non-designated but of historic 
importance to the Parish.  An Appraisal document and Boundary Review is 
the responsibility of the Local Planning Authority. However, in due course it 
is hoped that the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group can work with the 
Local Authority to undertake a review. Then, subject to personal discussions 
and the willingness of the residents nominally affected, the Appraisal is likely 
to propose changes to the boundaries of the Conservation Area to reinforce 
the integrity of the rural village in its relationship with the developing town 
of Faringdon nearby.

Error correction and a clarification of the scope of a 
Conservation Area Appraisal

2.18 Parts of the West Oxfordshire Heights Conservation Target 
Area (CTA) lies in the parish, comprising Local Wildlife Sites 
and replanted Ancient Woodland.  The parish is part of the 
Great Western Community Forest Plan, 2007.  Dividing the 
parish into two areas, Rolling Farmland and Wooded 
Estatelands, the Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study 
has identified two significant areas of woodland of 38.6ha 
and 120.8ha, the latter designated as ‘ancient’, ie 
continuously wooded for at least 400 years, with a canopy 
of ash and oak with a hazel dominated shrub layer that 
supports a wide range of flora and fauna, including some 

Parts of the West Oxfordshire Heights Conservation Target Area (CTA) lie in 
the parish, comprising Local Wildlife Sites and replanted Ancient Woodland.  
The parish is part of the Great Western Community Forest Plan, 2007.  
Dividing the parish into two areas, Rolling Farmland and Wooded Estate 
lands, the Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study has identified two 
significant areas of woodland of 38.6ha and 120.8ha, the latter designated 
as ‘ancient’, i.e. continuously wooded for at least 400 years, with a canopy 
of ash and oak with a hazel dominated shrub layer that supports a wide 
range of flora and fauna, including some uncommon species.  Turfpit Copse 
is an ancient copse that borders the former golf course.  Much of the land 
described above is owned by the National Trust, the Parish’s largest 
landowner, and is publicly accessible 

Error correction and update re the golf course, with 
clarification of the major landowner

P
age 129



6

uncommon species.   Turfpit Copse is an ancient copse that 
borders Faringdon Golf Course.  

10 2.19 Quarrying has resulted in the exposure of an important 
geological feature at Wicklesham and Coxwell Pits, 
containing the Faringdon sponge gravels.  This is one of 
Britain’s richest sites for fossils, many of which have been 
found only in the Faringdon area.  This Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) extends into the north-east corner 
of the Parish (Sub Area C).  Fossils have been found in the 
field known as Siberia.

Quarrying has resulted in the exposure of an important geological feature at 
Wicklesham and Coxwell Pits, containing the Faringdon sponge gravels. This 
is one of Britain’s richest sites for fossils, many of which have been found 
only in the Faringdon area.  This Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
extends towards the north-east corner of the Parish (Sub Area C).  Fossils 
have been found in the field known as Siberia.

Update.  This site was formerly outside, but adjacent to 
the parish boundary.  It is now within Faringdon parish 
but still bounded by the (unchanged) Great Coxwell NP 
area designation.

Map 4, 
now 5

Change to show the new parish boundary Factual update to show the new parish boundary
(Area designation unchanged)

13 SWOT The matrix has been populated following a village 
questionnaire, to which 87% of households responded.  It 
has also been informed by scoping interviews, comments 
made at formal and informal meetings, conversations and 
from written feedback.  Oft-repeated comments are 
highlighted in bold.

The Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis was 
drawn up from initial views and comments expressed in questionnaire 
responses and parish meetings, 2012 to early 2013; aims achieved since 
2013 were deleted in 2020.  Oft-repeated comments are highlighted in bold.

Clarification, simplification and updating of introduction 
in tandem with par. 16 below.

13 SWOT Situation on the ‘Golden Ridge’ – attractive and historic.
Badbury Clump beauty spot (photograph 15): focal point,
leisure destination - not overwhelming domestic places.

Badbury Hill beauty spot (photograph 17): focal point, leisure destination - 
not overwhelming domestic places.

Correction of error.

14 Vision In 20 years’ time, Great Coxwell will still be a small, peaceful 
village in a rural parish with outstanding heritage assets.  
The clear separation provided by farmland will have been 
preserved between the village and the nearby town of 
Faringdon.  The current amenities and services will have 
been properly maintained (e.g. roads, public footpaths and 
bridleways, village Park, Reading Room) and upgraded (e.g. 
bus services) where appropriate and the heritage assets 
conserved. It will continue to be a safe and friendly place to 
live for both young and old people whether living in families 
or on their own.

In 20 years time, Great Coxwell will still be a small, peaceful rural village 
parish.  The clear separation between the village and the nearby town of 
Faringdon will have been preserved.  The current amenities (which include 
our roads, public footpaths and bridleways, the village park and Parish 
Reading Room) and services will have been properly maintained and 
upgraded where appropriate, taking into account the need to protect the 
environment.  Our outstanding heritage assets will be conserved and the 
village will continue to be a safe and friendly place to live.

Updated and improved to enhance the presentation and 
remove extraneous detail.

16 (Para 1) The Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats 
(SWOT) analysis was drawn up from initial views and 
comments expressed in questionnaire responses and parish 
meetings, 2012 to early 2013.  The Vision for Great Coxwell 
is a short summary.  The five Objective headings are based 
on those used in the Vale of White Horse District Council 
Local Plan 2031, using the SWOT findings and informal 
meetings and scoping interviews that took place throughout 
2013.  The ensuing policies have been developed by the 
parish Neighbourhood Planning team in 2014, drawing on 
this information.  Finally, pre-submission Consultation 
responses have been considered and incorporated where 
possible.

Specific objectives were developed following a village questionnaire, to 
which 87% of households responded.  It has also been informed by scoping 
interviews, comments made at formal and informal meetings, conversations 
and from written feedback.  The five Objective headings are based on the 
five ‘themes’ (referred to earlier) used in the Vale of White Horse District 
Council Local Plan 2031, using the SWOT findings and informal meetings and 
scoping interviews that took place throughout 2013.  The ensuing policies 
have been developed by the Parish Neighbourhood Planning team in 2014, 
drawing on this information.  Finally, pre-submission Consultation responses 
have been considered and incorporated where possible.

Clarification in tandem with par. 13 above, attempting to 
avoid duplication, to improve and make each of these 
two introductory paragraphs more relevant.

16 Support existing businesses, such as the riding stables, golf 
course and children’s nursery

Support existing businesses, such as Annabelle’s Nursery Update to show changed business operations.

P
age 130



7

Support the use of local bus services with convenient and 
sheltered bus stops.

Support the use of local bus services ensuring the provision of convenient and 
sheltered bus stops.

Clarification of parish policy.

18 Maintain, expand and enhance the true value of the village 
Conservation Area and the Parish’s heritage assets (as 
further described in the forthcoming Conservation Area 
Character Appraisal).

Maintain, expand and enhance the value of the village Conservation Area 
and the Parish’s heritage assets.

Clarification

20 6.1 Great Coxwell has been designated a ‘Smaller Village’ in the 
Vale of White Horse District draft Local Plan 2031 
Settlement Hierarchy, having a ‘low level of services and 
facilities, where any development should be modest in scale 
and primarily to meet local needs’ .  ‘Local needs’ in this 
context means the needs of Great Coxwell parish and 
village.  The few development opportunities that exist will 
be supported if they meet the criteria set down in this Plan 
and its underlying documents.

Great Coxwell has been designated a ‘smaller village’ in the Vale of White 
Horse District Local Plan 2031 Settlement Hierarchy, having a ‘low level of 
services and facilities, where any development should be modest in scale 
and primarily to meet local needs’.  ‘Local needs’ in this context means the 
needs of Great Coxwell parish and village.  The few development 
opportunities that exist will be supported if they meet the criteria set down 
in this Plan and its underlying documents.

Factual update to reflect status of LPP1

6.2 According to the draft Local Plan, at Great Coxwell, ‘limited 
development may be appropriate within the existing built 
areas’ .  This Neighbourhood Plan clarifies this tenet in 
accordance with local needs.  For example, building 
development should be commensurate with Great 
Coxwell’s small size and population, and not be to the 
detriment of the parish’s distinctive rural character and 
setting.  This is compatible with our interpretation of the 
word ‘sustainable’ in the Local Plan.

According to the Local Plan, at Great Coxwell, ‘limited development may be 
appropriate within the existing built areas’.  This Neighbourhood Plan 
clarifies this tenet in accordance with local needs.  Building development 
should be commensurate with Great Coxwell’s small size and population 
without detriment to the parish’s distinctive rural character and setting i.e. 
environmentally sustainable.

Factual update to reflect status of LPP1 and wording 
clarification

6.3 The Neighbourhood Plan also seeks to promote business 
and employment and sustainability, through adequate 
infrastructure and services.

The Neighbourhood Plan also seeks to promote business and employment 
sustainability, through adequate infrastructure and services.

Correction of error

6.4 The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, in combination 
with the Neighbourhood Design Statement and 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal establishes a policy 
framework to guide changes including development in the 
parish up to 2031. The approach adheres to the four 
principal thematic areas in the Vale Local Plan 2031:

 Maintaining/building a healthy and sustainable 
community.

 Supporting economic prosperity.
 Supporting sustainable transport and accessibility.
 Protecting the environment and responding to 

climate change.

The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan establishes a policy framework to 
guide changes including development in the parish up to 2031. The 
approach adheres to the five principal thematic areas in the Vale Local Plan 
2031.

Updated to avoid duplication

6.5 Development in Great Coxwell must also be in accordance 
with Core Policies 2 and 3 of the emerging Local Plan 2031 
Part 1, in which Great Coxwell is categorised as a ‘Smaller 
Village’. This allows for some limited development within 
the existing built up area of the settlement.

Development in Great Coxwell must also be in accordance with VWHDC 
Local Plan 2031, Part 1, Core Policy 3, page 42, in which Great Coxwell is 
categorised as a ‘smaller village’. This allows for some limited development 
within the existing built up area of the settlement.

Update for clarification and to reflect status of LPP1

6.11 Support the trend to work productively from home 
throughout the parish

Support the trend to work productively from home throughout the parish.  
The Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 
states:  Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is 
essential for economic growth and social well-being.

Statutory update to reflect introduction of updated NPPF

P
age 131



8

23 6.13 Because the policies under this heading are non-planning 
related, and the Localism Act 2011 states that ‘A 
“neighbourhood development plan” is a plan which sets out 
policies.. in relation to the development and use of land’, 
the objectives under this heading may be found in Appendix 
A, Community Policies.

The policies under this heading are non-planning related, ie in relation to the 
development and use of land. therefore, there are no objectives under this 
heading but Community Priorities have been developed (refer Part 3)

Community priorities and actions were previously listed 
in an Appendix.  
Planning perspectives, design perspectives and 
community perspectives were previously published in 
three separate sections of the Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan (GCNP).  Putting all three back 
together makes the needs, wishes and proposals of the 
Great Coxwell community (as expressed in the Vision 
Statement, SWOT analysis and Objectives) clearer and 
more readable.  It represents a change of format, not a 
change of content.

26 6.17 Please see the Neighbourhood Design Statement and 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal for detailed 
information and policies regarding the characteristics of the 
village.

The original Plan consisted of two physically separate 
documents.  This comment referred readers of the Plan 
(Part 1) to the Design Statement (Part 2).  The two 
documents are amalgamated in the updated plan so the 
reference to the Design Statement is no longer necessary.  
The Conservation Appraisal is still in development, see 
paragraphs 2.16-7.

Policy EDQ3: Where a Design and Access Statement is 
required, developers must ensure it demonstrates how 
their proposal reinforces Great Coxwell’s character, as 
described in the Neighbourhood Design Statement and the 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal.

33 Policy EDQ3: Where a Design and Access Statement is required, developers 
must ensure it demonstrates how their proposal reinforces Great Coxwell’s 
character, as described in the Neighbourhood Design policies and the 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal.

Updated to reflect new presentation within the document.

Policy EDQ3: Further policies under this heading may be 
found in Appendix B.

33 Policy EDQ3: There are further Community Policies under this heading’ Community priorities and actions were previously listed 
in an Appendix.  Planning perspectives, design 
perspectives and community perspectives were 
previously published in three separate sections of the 
Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan (GCNP).

Putting all three back together makes the needs, wishes 
and proposals of the Great Coxwell community (as 
expressed in the Vision Statement, SWOT analysis and 
Objectives) clearer and more readable. It represents a 
change of format, not a change of content.

26 6.18 As much as possible, we aim to preserve and conserve the 
natural environment around us.

35
3.1.17

As far as possible we aim to preserve and enhance the natural environment 
around us.

Update for clarification

27 Map 5, 
now 7

34 Change to show new parish boundary Factual update to show the new parish boundary
(Area designation unchanged)

28 7.1-2 The planning policies will be used by the Vale of White 
Horse District Council to determine planning applications in 
the parish.

The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood 
Design Statement are already in regular use at monthly 
Parish Council meetings as a yardstick in the assessment of 
planning applications.  The planning policies and their 
relevance will be reviewed at the annual Parish Meeting in 
May.

The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan is already in regular use at monthly 
Parish Council meetings as a yardstick in the assessment of planning 
applications.  The policies we have developed relate to the development and 
use of land, infrastructure and amenities in the context of planning, and 
their relevance will be reviewed periodically. Many of these Policies reflect 
policies in the Vale of White Horse District Development Plan 2031.  The 
revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 and 
National Planning Practice Guidance provide the national planning context. 
The planning policies (listed in green text in Part 3) will be used by the Vale 

Update to advise of the revised NPPF, NPPG and LP

P
age 132



9

of White Horse District Council to determine planning applications in the 
parish.

P
age 133



10

Old Part 2 – Design Statement

Page Old 
Paragraph

Old Text (removed) New 
page

Proposed New Text (added) Justification for the Change

3.2 Policies relating to design
New paragraph – Originally, the policies relating to building design were in a separate 
document but have been incorporated.

This introductory paragraph explains that 
originally the design policies were in a separate 
document, but have been incorporated.

4 1.1 This Neighbourhoood Design Statement is the first 
to be written for the parish of Great Coxwell.  It 
forms part of Great Coxwell’s Neighbourhood Plan 
and is designed to support the Plan’s vision for 
Great Coxwell by providing detailed planning 
policies arising from the evidence base for the Plan 
and a Conservation Area Character Appraisal for 
Great Coxwell village. The Neighbourhood Design 
Statement is intended to be a useful and influential 
document, providing guidance for those wishing to 
carry out works in the parish. 

13 Paragraphs 124-5 of the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 
sets out a design vision.  The detailed planning policies arise from the evidence base for the 
Plan and a Conservation Area Character Appraisal for Great Coxwell. 

Update and review of statutory guidance – taking 
advantage of the publication of the revised NPPF 
and reflecting the combination of the plan and 
design statement.

1.3 It sets down the character and qualities of the area 
to be retained and enhanced so that local 
knowledge and perceptions may contribute to the 
continuation of the high quality of its environment.

13 It sets down the character and qualities of the area to be retained and enhanced so that local 
knowledge and perceptions may contribute to the continuation of the high quality of its 
environment. Design that is based on the principles of urban planning is not appropriate in 
the rural environment of Great Coxwell Parish.

This text was adopted in the 2014 
Neighbourhood Design Statement (Plan, Part 2, 
Paragraph 1.11).  The former Design Statement 
and Plan are amalgamated.  This text now 
appears in the updated Plan as Part 2, Paragraph 
2.1.6.

1.5 The sources for this Design Statement are included 
in Appendix E of the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Plan, 2031, coupled with studies of the house 
styles, building materials, hedgerows, wildflowers, 
etc., carried out locally.

13 Sources included studies of house styles, building materials, hedgerows, wild flowers, etc. 
carried out locally, in addition to references in Appendix 4.3, Bibliography and Evidence Base 
Summary’

Clarification to reflect combining plan and design 
statement.

1.6 The neighbourhood will change with new housing 
developments but also with the smaller 
adjustments to homes, open spaces, and streets 
that may alter the appearance and texture of the 
area.  Some of these changes will not be subject to 
planning control.

Reflects combining plan and design statement to 
remove duplication between the two.

1.7 The statement is therefore for the use of: Statutory 
bodies such as The Vale of White Horse District 
Council, Oxfordshire County Council and Thames 
Water; Planners, Developers, Architects, Builders, 
Designers and Engineers; Local Community Groups; 
Residents of Great Coxwell and Residents and 
users of the surrounding area.

13 The policies are for the use of: Statutory bodies such as The Vale of White Horse District 
Council, Oxfordshire County Council and Thames Water; Planners, Developers, Architects, 
Builders, Designers and Engineers; Local Community Groups; Residents of Great Coxwell and 
Residents and users of the surrounding area.

Clarification following the merging of two 
documents

1.10 Sections printed in green relate to items that 
provide guidance to be used when considering 
planning applications and in other decisions 
affecting the parish.  Many of these Policies reflect 
the saved policies in the Vale of White Horse 
District Development Plan 2031.  The National 
Planning Policy (NPPF) and National Planning 

14 Sections printed in green relate to items that provide guidance to be used when considering 
planning applications and in other decisions affecting the parish.  Many of these Policies 
reflect the policies in the Vale of White Horse District Development Plan 2031.  The revised 
National Planning Policy (NPPF), February 2019, and National Planning Practice Guidance 
provide the national planning context.

Statutory update

P
age 134



11

Practice Guidance provide the national planning 
context.

5 2.1 The Area is defined as the area of Great Coxwell 
Parish within its parish boundaries.  This area 
received Area Designation for the development of 
a Neighbourhood Plan in 2013

11 The Area was defined as the area of Great Coxwell Parish within its parish boundaries.  This 
area received Area Designation for the development of a Neighbourhood Plan in 2013.  In 
April 2019 the parish boundary was amended, with an area (shown on Map 1) moved from 
the parish of Great Coxwell to become part of the parish of Faringdon. The Great Coxwell 
neighbourhood plan still covers this area as the area designation remains unchanged’

Update to reflect the boundary change 
transferring the new housing developments to 
Faringdon parish.

6 3.1 Badbury Clump. The hill fort known as Badbury 
Clump is Great Coxwell’s earliest monument.  In 
the centre of the parish at its highest point, it was 
created to oversee and protect a landscape of 
scattered Early/Mid Iron Age homesteads, at least 
one of which was situated at the ancient southern 
end of the village where Iron Age pottery has been 
found.  The western Vale of the White Horse, the 
western end of the Berkshire Downs, upper 
Thames Valley and the Cotswolds can be see from 
the fort, into which cattle and other livestock 
would have been driven in times of threat.  The 
National Trust owns and manages Badbury Clump 
and the ancient woodland surrounding it to the 
south-west and north-west, with public access, 
information and footpaths.

6
1.3.1

Badbury Hill:  The hill fort known as Badbury Hill is Great Coxwell’s earliest monument.  In the 
centre of the parish at its highest point, it was created to oversee and protect a landscape of 
scattered Early/Mid Iron Age homesteads, at least one of which was situated at the ancient 
southern end of the village where Iron Age pottery has been found.  The western Vale of the 
White Horse, the western end of the Berkshire Downs, upper Thames Valley and the 
Cotswolds can be seen from the fort, into which cattle and other livestock would have been 
driven in times of threat.  The National Trust owns and manages Badbury Hill and the ancient 
woodland surrounding it to the south-west and north-west, with public access, information 
and footpaths.

Error correction.

3.3 The Stream and Holloway: A (nameless) stream, a 
tributary of the River Cole, runs south from 
Badbury Clump. Where the hill slope flattens the 
village grew up on the east side of this stream.  
Parallel to it an ancient hollow way, still well-
preserved, gave access by foot to the early village.

6
1.3.3

The Stream and Holloway:  A (nameless) stream, a tributary of the River Cole, runs south from 
Badbury Hill. Where the hill slope flattens the village grew up on the east side of this stream.  
The well-preserved hollow way gives access to the village from the north of the parish.

Clarification of wording.

3.8 Radnor Estate.  The Coleshill Estate was the seat of 
the Earls of Radnor from the 18th century.  The 
Coleshill and Buscot estates (7000 acres, with 11 
let farms and 850 acres of woodland) were left to 
the National Trust in 1956 at the death of Ernest 
Cook, the last owner.  The entire western half of 
the parish belongs to this estate, is farmed 
organically, is inalienable and is under the National 
Trust’s conservation management.

6
1.3.7

Radnor Estate:  The Coleshill Estate was the seat of the Earls of Radnor from the 18th century.  
The Coleshill and Buscot estates (7000 acres, with 11 let farms and 850 acres of woodland) 
were left to the National Trust in 1956 at the death of Ernest Cook, the last owner.  The entire 
western half of the parish was part of the Radnor Estate, is farmed organically, is inalienable 
and is under the National Trust’s conservation management.

Clarification of wording.

3.10 The Reading Room.  The red-brick Reading Room of 
1900 on the west side of the village street is one of 
several such survivals in Oxfordshire, small public 
buildings erected in villages by subscription or 
patronage (in this case donated by the Earl of 
Radnor) to provide a studious alternative to the 
public house for working men.  It is the focus of 
village social life, hosting parish meetings, weekly 
coffee mornings, monthly village teas and lunches, 
WI meetings, children’s workshops, parties, the 
Christmas Fair and the all-day village Café during 
Oxfordshire Art Weeks in May.

7
1.3.9

The Parish Reading Room:  The red-brick Reading Room of 1900 on the west side of the 
village street is one of several such survivals in Oxfordshire, small public buildings erected in 
villages by subscription or patronage (in this case donated by the Earl of Radnor) to provide a 
studious alternative to the public house for working men.  It is the focus of village social life, 
hosting parish meetings, weekly coffee mornings, monthly village teas and lunches, Women’s 
Institute meetings, children’s workshops, parties, the Christmas Fair and the all-day village 
Café during Oxfordshire Art Weeks in May. The Reading Room is to be ‘Wi-Fi’ enabled.

Correction and update.

P
age 135



12

8 3.11 Great Coxwell Park.  The Park was established ten 
years ago on the field to the south of Cherry 
Orchard.  A large grassed open area bounded by 
hedges and trees, there are hard courts for 
basketball etc, a children’s play area, picnic tables, 
wildflower areas, accessible paths and an 
information board.

7
1.3.10

Great Coxwell Park:  The Park was established in 2004 on the field to the south of Cherry 
Orchard.  A large grassed open area bounded by hedges and trees, there are hard courts for 
basketball etc, a children’s play area, picnic tables, wildflower areas, accessible paths and an 
information board.

Updated to reflect specific date of establishment.

4.1 The parish and village of Great Coxwell straddle the 
mid-Vale Ridge of Corallian limestone, with a more 
elevated cap of greensand centrally on Badbury 
Clump (the same formation as on Folly Hill in 
Faringdon to the north-east).  From the Clump the 
arable fields and pasture of the north, north-west 
and north-east portions of the parish descend 
towards the Thames Valley and Kelmscott to the 
north.  To the south the ridge terminates with the 
church of St Giles situated on an elevated spur of 
the Corallian Ridge, with fields descending south 
and west to the western clay Vale.

11
1.7.1

The parish and village of Great Coxwell straddle the mid-Vale ridge of Corallian limestone, 
with a more elevated cap of greensand centrally on Badbury Hill (the same formation as on 
Folly Hill in Faringdon to the north-east).  From the Hill the arable fields and pasture of the 
north, north-west and north-east portions of the parish descend towards the Thames Valley 
and Kelmscott to the north.  To the south the ridge terminates with the church of St Giles 
situated on an elevated spur of the Corallian ridge, with fields descending south and west to 
the western clay Vale.

Correction of error.

10 5.1 There are spectacular views (maps 3 and 4):
Of much of the parish to the north and south from 
the ridge by the Clump and from the circular walk 
around the perimeter of the Clump

36 There are spectacular views (maps 4 and 7):
Of much of the parish to the north and south from the ridge by Badbury Hill and from the 
circular walk around the perimeter of the Hill

Error correction and change to reflect the 
repositioning and renumbering of the maps 
within the new document

11 5.5 Paragraph 2 –
The open grassed area around the Great Barn 
includes a fishpond, probably of monastic origin, in 
meadowland, and grassy lawns on the other three 
sides of the Barn.  Accessible to the public at all 
times, including the open shed on the opposite 
side of the drive, and parking spaces along the road 
for half a dozen cars by the low front stone wall 
(the Barn itself is open every day and night, while 
another smaller barn near the pond is normally 
locked but may be used by arrangement with the 
National Trust, the owner of the property).  From 
beyond the pond a marked footpath with stile 
leads up the hill towards the Clump. This attractive 
open space is used frequently by visitors to the 
Barn for picnics, walks and resting, and as an 
outdoor adjunct to the Barn when there are 
concerts, parties or events inside.  In recent years 
there have been a series of summertime musical 
events and celebrations which attracted villagers 
and visitors from further afield.  Each Christmas 
period the Barn is open night and day for viewing a 
lit Nativity inside, and is the scene of a children’s 
Christmas Eve carol service with a donkey 
procession.

36
3.2.5

Paragraph 2 –
The open grassed area around the Great Barn includes a fishpond, probably of monastic 
origin, in meadowland, and grassy lawns on the other three sides of the Barn.  Accessible to 
the public at all times, including the open shed on the opposite side of the drive, and parking 
spaces along the road for half a dozen cars by the low front stone wall (the Barn itself is open 
every day, while another smaller barn near the pond is normally locked but may be used by 
arrangement with the National Trust, the owner of the property).  From beyond the pond a 
marked footpath with stile leads up the hill towards Badbury Hill. This attractive open space is 
used frequently by visitors to the Barn for picnics, walks and resting, and as an outdoor 
adjunct to the Barn when there are concerts, parties or events inside.  In recent years there 
have been a series of summertime musical events and celebrations which attracted villagers 
and visitors from further afield.  Each Christmas period the Barn is open night and day for 
viewing a lit Nativity inside, and is the scene of a children’s Christmas Eve carol service with a 
donkey procession.

Correction of error.

Paragraph 3 –
The Golf Course is a small but highly praised nine-
hole course, open every day to paying customers, 

37 Paragraph 3 – Update to reflect the closure of the golf course.

P
age 136



13

in a beautiful and well-maintained semi-natural 
environment with wetlands and water birds in the 
course.  Wooded areas and streams with otter 
activity screen it from the A420.  A public right of 
way through it gives the village direct pedestrian 
access to the bus-stop on the A420.

The site of the former golf course is a beautiful semi-natural environment with wetlands and 
water birds; a public right of way through this provides direct pedestrian access to the bus-
stop on the A420.

Paragraph 4 –
The Riding Stables are situated in several fields 
along the north side of the road leading from 
Cherry Orchard out to the A420, and account for 
many of the horses and riders often to be 
encountered in the village, a much-loved feature.

37 Paragraph 4 –
The Ranch (outdoor children’s play area attached to Annabelle’s Nursery) is situated on the 
north side of the road leading from Cherry Orchard out to the A420. 

Update to describe the change of use.

5.6 Paragraph 1 –
‘Siberia’, the large former East Field lying between 
the village and the Golf Course.  This is farmed 
organically by the National Trust and is one of the 
best-loved local resorts for walking and dog 
walking, or just enjoying the poppies and the view 
of the Downs and White Horse.

Paragraph 4 –
…Without both of which the riding stables, an 
important rural feature of Great Coxwell as well as 
an important local business, would not be viable 
(please see Great Coxwell’s Neighbourhood Plan 
document, Map 4 on page 10).

37
3.2.6

Paragraph 1 –
‘Siberia’, the large former East Field lying between the village and the former Golf Course.  
This is farmed organically by the National Trust and is one of the best-loved local resorts for 
walking and dog walking, or just enjoying the poppies and the view of the Downs and White 
Horse.

Paragraph 4 –
…Without both of which the Ranch (an outdoor activity area – part of Annabell’s Nursery), an 
important rural feature of Great Coxwell as well as an important local business, would not be 
viable (please see Great Coxwell’s Neighbourhood Plan document, Map 4 on page 10).

Paragraphs 1 and 3:  Update to reflect current 
situation.

12 5.8 Paragraph 1 – 
Badbury Clump, and its environs immediately to 
the west and north. The Clump, the site of an 
Early/Mid Iron Age hillfort whose circular interior, 
ditches and main entry are still easily detectable, 
became a beech plantation in the 18th century.  The 
Bluebell carpet under the beech trees is specially 
mentioned in the National Trust’s publicity and 
elsewhere and is visited nationally.  The land where 
it falls away dramatically to the west and north is 
heavily forested comprising areas of ancient 
woodland (Map 6).  The Clump and surrounding 
woodland are closely managed by the National 
Trust, which encourages visitors on foot by 
providing a large accessible car park and a network 
of footpaths, and visitors on bikes by providing 
cycle routes.

40
3.2.8

Paragraph 1 – 
Badbury Hill, and its environs immediately to the west and north. The Hill, the site of an 
Early/Mid Iron Age hillfort whose circular interior, ditches and main entry are still easily 
detectable, became a beech plantation in the 18th century.  The Bluebell carpet under the 
beech trees is specially mentioned in the National Trust’s publicity and elsewhere and is 
visited nationally.  The land where it falls away dramatically to the west and north is heavily 
forested comprising areas of ancient woodland (Map 3).  The Hill and surrounding woodland 
are closely managed by the National Trust, which encourages visitors on foot by providing a 
large accessible car park and a network of footpaths, and visitors on bikes by providing cycle 
routes.

Error correction.

13 Paragraph 2 – 
Wooded areas fringing the Golf Course and Riding 
Stables.  These contain desirable wildlife, 
hedgerow fruits in season, provide shelter for the 
horses, privacy and windbreaks for the golfers and 
streams for otters.

40
3.2.8

Paragraph 2 – 
Wooded areas fringing the former golf course and Annabelle’s Nursery.  These contain 
desirable wildlife, hedgerow fruits in season, provide shelter for the horses, and streams for 
otters.

Update to show changed business operations.

Map 6 Change to show new parish boundary Factual update to show the new parish boundary

P
age 137



14

(Area designation unchanged)
5.9 Wooded areas that are enjoyed by users of parish 

footpaths are:
Other large areas of woodland to north and west of 
the Clump (map 6) (Coxwell Wood, Oak Wood, 
Rowleaze Wood).
Numerous other smaller copses and mature 
hedgerows as well as named smaller woodlands to 
the east (eg Smallgains Copse) and to the west 
(Fern Copse); small areas of woods and trees  

40
3.2.9

Wooded areas that are enjoyed by users of parish footpaths include:
Other large areas of woodland to north and west of the Hill (map 6) (Coxwell Wood, Oak 
Wood, Rowleaze Wood), 

Numerous other smaller copses and mature hedgerows as well as named smaller woodlands 
to the east (eg Smallgains Copse) and to the west (Fern Copse). 

These small areas 

Corrections of error and improvements to the 
clarity of the paragraph.

5.10 Paragraph 3 –
Wooded areas fringing the fields and pastures, the 
disused former village road entry, the Golf Course 
and presently derelict dwelling houses along the 
western side of the A420 road present and 
safeguard the rural character of the parish.  As one 
enters the parish of Great Coxwell from the north-
east, the beauty of the landscape as seen from the 
A420 roadside would be greatly degraded and the 
existing high standard breached were these 
wooded areas to disappear.

40
3.2.10

Paragraph 3 -  
Wooded areas fringing the fields and pastures, the disused former village road entry, the 
former golf course and the sites along the western side of the A420 road present and 
safeguard the rural character of the parish.  As one enters the parish of Great Coxwell from 
the north-east, the beauty of the landscape as seen from the A420 roadside would be greatly 
degraded and the existing high standard breached were these wooded areas to disappear.

Update to reflect current situation.

15 5.12 The streets in the village are characterised by soft 
banks and verges, intermittently mown.  A low 
narrow footpath running along the west side of the 
village street from the crossroads southwards to 
Morys has almost as informal a look and feel as the 
grass verges opposite; it allows larger vehicles eg 
council waste collection vehicles to get through 
when cars are parked on the road.  Another 
footpath runs from the crossing east down the 
north side of Cherry Orchard to the turn in the 
road, and two similar ones, one on each side, run a 
short distance north from the crossing.

41
3.2.12

The streets in the village are characterised by soft banks and verges, for which the parish 
council has taken over responsibility for maintenance.  A low narrow footpath running along 
the west side of the village street from the crossroads southwards to Morys has almost as 
informal a look and feel as the grass verges opposite; it allows larger vehicles e.g. council 
waste collection vehicles to get through when cars are parked on the road.  Another footpath 
runs from the crossroads east down the north side of Cherry Orchard to the turn in the road, 
and two similar ones, one on each side, run a short distance north from the crossroads.

Error correction and update in line with parish 
council responsibilities. 

5.13 The only street lighting is within the modern 
Laurels estate; this is subdued.  There is minimal 
street furniture.  The streets have very low levels of 
traffic and provide major access routes for 
pedestrians and cyclists.  A special character and 
sense of place of the village is the use made of the 
streets as social areas, strengthening the sense of 
community.  More pedestrians than cars use the 
main village street, which is like a wide pathway – a 
place where people casually chat, where children 
play and ride their bikes, where older people move 
at their own pace and where dogs are walked.  
These characteristics are much valued by both 
residents and visitors.

41
3.2.13

The only street lighting is within the modern Laurels estate; this is subdued.  There is minimal 
street furniture.  The streets have very low levels of traffic and provide major access routes 
for pedestrians and cyclists.  A special character and sense of place of the village is the use 
made of the streets as social areas, strengthening the sense of community.  More pedestrians 
than cars use the main village street, which is like a wide pathway – a place where people 
casually chat, where children play and ride their bikes, where older people move at their own 
pace and where dogs are walked. The rural streetscape is much valued by residents and 
visitors, as is the cobbled path leading from the village pump to the church.
The SWOT analysis on pages 20/1 mentions, under ‘Threats’, the problem of rat running and 
increased road traffic owing to the increase in traffic between Oxford and Swindon.  Both are 
increasing and the special characteristics of village streets mentioned in this paragraph are 
under threat’.

Adding specifics to a general comment for clarity.

P
age 138



15

5.14 Two of the four streets leading from the crossing 
end in bridleways: well used footpaths connect the 
different parts of the village (the village can be 
circumnavigated by footpath (map 3) and lead 
outwards into the parish in all directions forming a 
network of parish pedestrian routes. 

41
3.2.14

Two of the four streets leading from the crossroads end in bridleways: well used footpaths 
connect the different parts of the village (the village can be circumnavigated by footpath 
(map 7) and lead outwards into the parish in all directions forming a network of parish 
pedestrian routes. 

Correction of error.

5.15 Paragraph 1 – 
Paths circumnavigating the village from the main 
village crossing: starting at the crossing, turn south 
to the right of Kestrels on Cherry Orchard, down 
Dark Lane along the back/east side of the houses 
on the main village street.  Behind the church the 
path turns west along the southern boundary of 
Spicer’s and out to the road; north up the road 
turning left south of Pear Tree Cottage and Farm, 
crossing the stream into the west field then north 
over a stile onto a public right-of-way through Pear 
Tree Close and adjacent paddocks, over another 
stile then walking north along the back/east side of 
the houses on the main village street, now along 
the west bank of the village stream.  The path 
leaves the stream to turn west then north around 
Puddle House and Orchard Cottage, out to 
Puddleduck Lane and thence return to the main 
village crossing.

41-42
3.2.15

Paragraph 1 - 
Paths circumnavigating the village from the main village crossroads: starting at the 
crossroads, turn south to the right of Kestrels on Cherry Orchard, down Dark Lane along the 
back/east side of the houses on the main village street.  Behind the church the path turns 
west along the southern boundary of Spicer’s and out to the road; north up the road turning 
left south of Pear Tree Cottage and Farm, crossing the stream into the west field then north 
over a stile onto a public right-of-way through Pear Tree Close and adjacent paddocks, over 
another stile then walking north along the back/east side of the houses on the main village 
street, now along the west bank of the village stream.  The path leaves the stream to turn 
west then north around Puddle House and Orchard Cottage, out to Puddleduck Lane and 
thence return to the main village crossroads

Correction of errors.

Paragraph 4 –
Path leading eastwards from the east end of Cherry 
Orchard, running behind the riding stables towards 
the Great Coxwell bus-stop at the roundabout off 
the A420. 

42
3.2.15

Paragraph 4 –
Path leading eastwards from the east end of Cherry Orchard, running behind the Ranch 
towards the Great Coxwell bus-stop at the roundabout off the A420. 

Update to reflect change of business ownership 
and title.

Paragraph 5 – 
Path to Little Coxwell leading east from the main 
village street between Hillside and Wayside, 
crossing ‘Siberia’ and the Golf Course to the A420 
(where the bus request stops for Oxford, with 
shelter, and Swindon, are the nearest from the 
centre of the village).

42
3.2.15

Paragraph 5 – 
Path to Little Coxwell leading east from the main village street between Hillside and Wayside, 
crossing ‘Siberia’ and the former golf course to the A420 (where the bus stops for Oxford 
(with shelter), and Swindon.

Update to reflect current situation.

16 Paragraph 9 – 
The main remaining footpaths cover the parish to 
the north, north east and north west of Badbury 
Clump, several linking Badbury Hill Farm with farms 
in neighbouring parishes.

42
3.2.15

Paragraph 9 – 
The main remaining footpaths cover the parish to the north, north east and north west of 
Badbury Hill, several linking Badbury Hill Farm with farms in neighbouring parishes.

Correction of error.

Paragraph 10 – 
Path from the car park at Badbury Clump skirting 
the clump along the south and west sides then 
heading downhill through Coxwell Wood to 
Brimstone Farm to meet the north-south D’Arcy 
Dalton Way in Coleshill parish.

3.2.15 Paragraph 10 – 
Path from the car park at Badbury Hill skirting the clump along the south and west sides then 
heading downhill through Coxwell Wood to Brimstone Farm to meet the north-south D’Arcy 
Dalton Way in Coleshill parish.

Correction of error.

5.17 No main roads have ever come into the village.  
The village crossing from the mid 18th century 

44
3.2.17

No main roads have ever come into the village.  The village crossroads from the mid 18 th  
century consisted of four lanes: leading to the west a bridleway to Coleshill (as continues); a 

Error correction.

P
age 139



16

consisted of four lanes: leading to the west a 
bridleway to Coleshill (as continues); a lane leading 
south through the village to bridleways to Longcot, 
etc. (as continues); a lane leading north to the Barn 
(here a hollow way is now used by road traffic to 
access the B4019) and a lane east formerly 
accessing Faringdon by way of Gipsy Lane.

lane leading south through the village to bridleways to Longcot, etc. (as continues); a lane 
leading north to the Barn (here a hollow way is now used by road traffic to access the B4019) 
and a lane east formerly accessing Faringdon by way of Gipsy Lane.

5.20 The present northern road entrance to the village 
from the B4019 is down a single-track, steep and 
deeply-etched hollow way (Holloway) typical of 
medieval cart-tracks in use before the advent of 
horse ownership, coaching or vehicular use. 
Currently, cars use this route at morning and 
evening rush hour between the B4019 and the 
A420 to avoid 
Faringdon, threatening the conservation and 
survival of this feature. The junction with the 
A4019 is difficult and dangerous. 

44
3.2.20

The present northern road entrance to the village from the B4019 is down a single-track, 
steep and deeply-etched hollow way (Holloway) typical of medieval cart-tracks in use before 
the advent of horse ownership, coaching or vehicular use. New evidence shows that vehicles 
unrelated to the village use this route throughout the day to drive between the B4019 and 
the A420 to avoid 
Faringdon, threatening the conservation and survival of this feature. The junction with the 
A4019 is difficult and dangerous. 

Change to reflect 2019 survey of vehicle 
movements carried out locally.

5.21 Where the B4019 from Faringdon to Coleshill and 
Swindon bisects the parish from Steed’s Farm past 
Badbury Clump and through the southern end of 
Coxwell Wood, the route is extremely scenic, 
winding and hilly, with the northern entrance to 
Great Coxwell village (just described) set in a 
hollow, blind from both directions.

44
3.2.21

Where the B4019 from Faringdon to Coleshill and Swindon bisects the parish from Steed’s 
Farm past Badbury Hill and through the southern end of Coxwell Wood, the route is 
extremely scenic, winding and hilly, with the northern entrance to Great Coxwell village (just 
described) set in a hollow, blind from both directions.

Error correction.

5.22 The stretch of the A420 bounding the parish to the 
south-east is also hilly and winding.  The existing 
entrances to Great Coxwell (giving access to the 
Golf Course) and to Chowle Farm estate are 
extremely dangerous, and the intended 
redevelopment of several domestic properties 
between the two could create four dangerous 
entries and exits within a very small stretch of road 
where the speed is unrestricted.

45
3.2.22

The stretch of the A420 bounding the parish to the south-east is also hilly and winding.  The 
existing entrances to Great Coxwell (giving access to Annabelle’s nursery, The Ranch and the 
former golf course) and to Chowle Farm estate are extremely dangerous, and any 
redevelopment of the properties between the two could create additional dangerous entries 
and exits within a very small stretch of road where the speed is unrestricted.

Update to reflect current situation.

18 5.23 Settlement Pattern
Because of Great Coxwell’s long settlement history 
and building variety in the village, buildings in the 
parish have been categorised as follows:
Sub Area A
Northern Character Area.  The north-west sector of 
the village north of Puddleduck Lane and west of 
the main village road, where National Trust owned 
land meets the historic medieval Great Barn, post-
medieval Court House and the associated 
traditional farm buildings.  Apart from Holloway 
House, its associated outbuildings and two 20th 
century detached houses, this sector is dominated 
by the Great Barn complex and lies entirely within 
the Conservation Area.

Removal of duplication following combination of 
Parts 1 and 2 of the NP.

P
age 140



17

2.     Southern Character Area.   The village south of 
the crossing on both sides of the main street, with 
the medieval church and monuments, where listed 
and unlisted buildings of the 17th, 18th and 19th 
centuries predominate, with 20th century in-fill 
buildings, mostly closer together and close to the 
street in traditional fashion, and mostly with 
extensive back gardens which run down to the 
village stream on the west side, and to the East 
Field on the east side.  This category includes the 
Laurels (to the east of the main village street) of 
the late 20th century.  This Character Area 
comprises the historic core of the medieval village, 
clustered around a small green and overlooked by 
St Giles Church. 
3.     Puddleduck Lane Character Area.  Lined with 
19th and 20th-century detached houses.  This has a 
distinctly rural feel, engendered by the single track 
lane without a footpath (photograph on the front 
cover of Part 2, Design Statement).
4.     Eastern Character Area.  Cherry Orchard 
running east from the crossing, with mostly 
detached 20th century houses followed by semi-
detached former council houses in uniform styles 
of two periods, early and mid-20th century, and the 
village park.  This area includes Maitland Close 
(also known as Whitfields) of 20th and 21st century 
detached residences.  It is distinguished by the 
predominance of 20th century houses, but of low 
density in a non-urban environment.
Sub Area B
Buildings in the farming landscape in the west and 
northwest of the parish: mansion, farmhouses, 
farm buildings, farm cottages and sheds.
Sub Area C
Buildings in the east of the parish, domestic and 
employment, along the A420.
Policy NDS6.  Pargaraph 2 – 
In Sub Area A, the scale, massing and bulk of 
building development should be commensurate 
with the surrounding buildings’ and their rural 
location.  In Sub Areas B and C, large buildings 
should be sensitively designed to avoid dominating 
rural views.  Careful positioning of new build is 
necessary everywhere to maintain and support the 
privacy of existing buildings.

45 Policy NDS6: Paragraph 2 – 
In Sub Area A, the scale, massing and bulk of building development should be commensurate 
with the surrounding buildings and their rural location.  In Sub Areas B and C, large buildings 
should be sensitively designed to avoid dominating rural views. Careful positioning of new 
build is necessary everywhere to maintain and support the privacy of existing buildings.

Error correction.

19 5.31 There is great variability in the provision of parking 
provision in village sector 2, with some houses 
providing parking in garages and drives for 5 or 6 
cars, and others lacking any facilities or space and 
requiring on-street parking.  This has already led to 

46
3.2.30

There is great variability in the provision of parking provision in village Sub Area A, sector 2, 
with some houses providing parking in garages and drives for 5 or 6 cars, and others lacking 
any facilities or space and requiring on-street parking.  This occasionally has led to protracted 
blockages and potentially could lead to serious situations in an emergency. 

Wording changed to improve accuracy and clarity 
and ongoing relevance.

P
age 141



18

protracted blockages and could lead to serious 
situations in an emergency. 

DF 20 5.32 Plot sizes vary in village sector 2 where buildings 
themselves vary more in size, and are more 
uniformly spacious in 3 and 4.

46
3.2.31

Plot sizes vary in village Sub Area A, sector 2 where buildings themselves vary more in size, 
and are more uniformly spacious in Sub Area A, sectors 3 and 4.

Wording changed to improve accuracy and 
clarity.

DF 20 5.34 An important feature of village sector 2 is the 
lowness of storeys.

46
3.2.33

An important feature of village Sub Area A, sector 2 is the lowness of storeys. Wording changed to improve accuracy and 
clarity.

22 5.41 Gardens contribute significantly to the overall 
impression of the area as rural and predominantly 
green. Both large and small plots contain mature 
native species of shrubs and trees, as do the 
hedges of the fields visible from streets, rows and 
gardens. (Native species noted and others felt 
appropriate are listed in the St Giles churchyard 
survey which is available from St Giles church or 
the Parish Council). Many of the gardens contain 
hedges and walls with some having fences, and 
many of the front gardens even of modern houses 
preserve the existing rural walls and hedges. 

49
3.2.40

Gardens contribute significantly to the overall impression of the area as rural and 
predominantly green. Both large and small plots contain mature native species of shrubs and 
trees, as do the hedges of the fields visible from streets, rows and gardens. (Native species 
noted, and others felt appropriate, are listed in the St Giles churchyard survey which is 
available from St Giles church or the Parish Council). Many of the gardens contain hedges and 
walls with some having fences, and many of the front gardens even of modern houses 
preserve the existing rural walls and hedges. 

Correcting punctuation

P
age 142



19

Photographs

The existing Neighbourhood Plan lists 34 photographs on page 29, all of which are referenced to aspects of the Plan text.  Depending on the space available and the opportunity to enhance the quality of the images, some will be 
removed or replaced with suitable alternatives.  The following photographs are out-of-date and will need to be replaced like-for-like:

Page Number Description Reason for Removal Reference
1 7 Sub-Area C: Faringdon Golf Course Course closed P4, Paragraph 1.12
7 11 Commercial Activity: entrance to Faringdon Golf Course from Coxwell Road (Sub-Area C): soft verges, coursed stone walls Course closed P8, Paragraph 2.4

11 8 A420 frontage, Sub-Area C, roadside neglect Change to visual appearance of bin P13, SWOT Weaknesses
9 A420 frontage, Sub-Area C, roadside neglect Signage removed P13, SWOT Weaknesses

15 20 The main village street, looking south (Sub-Area A): a refuse truck passes a vehicle parked in the road (Transport and Getting 
Around)

Vehicle update P17

21 War Memorial (Sub-Area A): scene of annual Remembrance Day service (Community Life) Hedging replaced P17
18 26 Entrance to Chowle Farm trading estate on the A420 Sub-Area C): safety and appearance issues (Built Environment) Building demolished P16

27 A420 south-west verge looking north-east, with lay-by (Sub-Area C): derelict appearance of roadside and footpath to village 
from bus shelter (Commercial Activity)

Sign removed P16

21 28 Chowle Farm trading estate seen from the A420 roadside (Sub-Area C): quality of buildings and site Building demolished P21, Policy BE3
24 29 A420 looking north-east, Great Coxwell exit (Sub-Area C): safety issues Vehicle update P24, Policy TGA1

P
age 143



20

Old Appendix A - Community Policies

This document, known as ‘Appendix A’, is not a separate document in the updated Plan because the non-planning-related community policies (now Community Priorities and Actions) appear with the relevant planning policies in the 
updated Plan, Part 3.

We have included these policy elements in the revised Neighbourhood Plan following a full reappraisal of the role of the parish council.  This has led to updated explanatory text and updated policy wording (shown in purple in the draft 
text).  These Community Policies are included within Part 3 alongside their accompanying planning policies, but are shown in purple.

Updates to the Community Policies to reflect the latest position incorporates: Policy CA2, page 17; Policy TGA1, page 18; Policy CL1, page 19; Policies EDQ1-5, page 21.

Old Page Old 
Paragraph

Old Text (removed) New 
paragraph

Proposed New Text (added)

3.1.1 During development of the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan we have also identified Community 
Priorities and Actions CPAs (listed in purple text in Part 3), those things that are important to the 
community and should be recognised in the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan. The role of the 
Great Coxwell Parish Council is to provide amenities and facilities for the benefit of the community 
that directly relate to these Community Priorities.

22
Appendix 
A, Policy 

CA2

Policy CA2 
supportin

g text

Home-based work will reduce commuting and vehicular movements (thereby 
helping the environment). It will require high-speed broadband which is being 
rolled out by Oxfordshire County Council

29 Home-based work reduces commuting and vehicle movements (thereby helping the 
environment).
We will encourage and support the provision of a range of communication technologies to
support home working; including:
• Retain and promote high speed broadband (Gigaclear Fibre to the Home, BT Fibre to the Cabinet)
• Provide community access to high speed broadband in the Reading Room
• Consider support for improved mobile phone coverage and speed without having a detrimental 
effect on other Neighbourhood Plan Policies, for example by leveraging high speed broadband in 
the home for indoor mobile phone reception

23
Appendix 
A, Policy 

TGA1

Transport 
for getting 

around

OBJECTIVE: Maintain and where necessary upgrade, transport and accessibility to 
and from the village.

Maintain and improve public transport connections, footpaths (in particular the 
Siberia footpath) and cycle paths to reduce the need for journeys by car. New 
arrangements should maximize safety and convenience for parishioners, 
schoolchildren and visitors.

The Neighbourhood Plan acknowledges that land in Great Coxwell Parish has been 
designated for development by the Vale of White Horse District Council in its Local 
Plan 2031. Such development would impact transport and accessibility and a 
request for developer funding is filed that would upgrade footpaths and cycle 
paths, particularly between Great Coxwell and Faringdon (Map 5)

Policy TGA1: Maintain/Upgrade Transport and Accessibility.
Vehicles: Schemes designed to minimize the impact of vehicles, particularly in the 
narrower parts of the roadway, eg Puddleduck Lane and south of the Reading 
Room, and giving equal status to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and other non-
drivers will be permitted.

Pedestrians and cyclists: Cycle paths and adequate pedestrian routes should be 
provided between the village and Faringdon to enable the opportunity for travel 
without cars. Specifically, the narrow, poorly surfaced and often flooded single 
footpath, also used of necessity by cyclists, linking the village with the service 

30-31 We will maintain, and where necessary upgrade, transport and accessibility to and from the village; 
to include public transport connections, footpaths and cycle paths to reduce the need for journeys by 
car. Any new arrangements should maximize safety and convenience for parishioners, schoolchildren 
and visitors.

Cycle paths and adequate pedestrian routes should be provided between the village and Faringdon 
to enable the opportunity for travel without cars. Specifically, the narrow, poorly surfaced and often 
flooded single footpath, also used of necessity by cyclists, linking the village with the service centre, 
Faringdon, has been upgraded with developer funding.

With developer contributions, we will seek to provide a cycle-friendly environment at the Great Barn, 
Reading Room and church in line with The National Trust policy to promote access. Any 
improvements to bridleways necessary to encourage the popular outdoor pursuit of horse-riding in 
the parish should be made.

Vehicular traffic
We will consider schemes designed to reduce the impact of vehicles and calm traffic by minimizing 
the need to park in the road, and giving equal status to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and other 
non-drivers. We will work with partners to facilitate off-street parking to prevent degradation and 
obstruction of footpaths and verges by vehicles.

As the population of the wider area increases owing to new development, developer funding should 
ensure continued safety and convenience of access to and from the village.

P
age 144



21

centre, Faringdon, should be upgraded with developer funding. The path towards 
Badbury Clump also needs upgrading. Ensure footpaths are maintained.

Bus services: The following improvements should be made to encourage more 
people to take the bus rather than drive a private car:

 In the light of population increase due to new development, the relevant 
authorities to ensure that a more frequent bus service is provided, 
including the bus service into the village, subject to the potential traffic 
issues.

 Shelter from inclement weather – with developer funding, a bus shelter 
should be provided as close as possible to the village as well as on either 
side of the Faringdon road near the roundabout for the Route 66 (Oxford 
to Swindon) bus.

 All existing bus stops should be retained.

Roads: When the population of the Parish increases owing to new development, 
developer funding should ensure continued safety and convenience of access to 
and from the village. Work with developers to formulate and progress with 
developer funding a conservation/ traffic plan for the Holloway entrance to the 
village, ensuring the appropriate balance between the need for road improvement 
and the preservation of the village and parish natural and historic environment.

The 20mph speed limit for built-up areas recommended by Oxfordshire County Council will be 
promoted for Great Coxwell, and we will consider its implementation.

We will formulate and progress a conservation / traffic plan for traffic flow in the Holloway between 
the village and the Highworth Road (B4019), ensuring the appropriate balance between the need for 
road improvement and the preservation of the village and parish natural and historic environment, 
and addressing safety issues at the B4019 junction.

Public Transport
Improvements should be made to encourage more people to take the bus rather than drive a private 
car, we will:
• Support and aim to improve the Faringdon Community Bus (No. 61) which provides the only public 
transport link between the village and Faringdon
• Aim to use developer funding to provide a bus shelter as close as possible to the village as well as 
on either side of Coxwell Road near the roundabout for the Route S6 (Oxford to Swindon) bus
• Ensure all existing bus stops are retained

Appendix 
A

Local 
facilities

OBJECTIVE: Encourage the use of local facilities in Faringdon and liaise on issues 
that affect us both.
Work jointly with Faringdon Town Council to share and improve resources.

Policy TGA2 Encourage Liaison with Faringdon on planning issues
Liaise with Faringdon on issues that affect us both. It should be recognized that 
Great Coxwell is a stakeholder to be consulted in planning applications particularly 
those close to
our boundaries.
With developer contributions, seek to provide a cycle friendly environment at the 
Great Barn, Reading Room and church in line with The National Trust policy to 
promote access.

Community Priorities CL: Community Life:
Local Services and Facilities
We will encourage the use of local facilities in Faringdon and liaise on issues that affect both 
Faringdon and Great Coxwell, we aim to work jointly with Faringdon Town Council to share and 
improve resources. Great Coxwell is a stakeholder and will be consulted in planning applications 
particularly those close to our boundaries.

Maintain and Upgrade Current Amenities
We will encourage use of the Great Coxwell Village Park by all sections of the community recognising 
that active use by all is the main deterrent to misuse of the park.

This includes liaison with the Great Coxwell Parish Council to ensure the Park is developed in line with 
the aspirations of the wider village community with respect to ownership, equipment and use.

Appendix 
A

Neighbourhood Design Statement Policies

Policy NDS1 (Vistas)
Tree and hedge growth throughout the area should be managed to retain and 
frame vistas
and glimpses.

Policy NDS3 (Wooded Areas and Trees)
The wooded areas should be actively managed in accordance with Oxfordshire 
County
Council’s Oxfordshire Landscape and Wildlife Study and form the basis of action 
by the
responsible authorities, volunteer groups and others.

35 Community Priorities EDQ: Environment and Design Quality:

Introduction
We will ensure the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan Policies pays due consideration to 
any impact on the environment. The parish council will work in partnership with the National Trust 
to conserve and enhance the environment as and when funding opportunities arise. This could 
include the establishment of ‘protected views’ and/or covenants with landowners and dealing with 
relevant planning issues.

Sustainable energy use
We will promote the use of environmentally friendly vehicles and support and encourage the 
continuation of the existing low levels of artificial light in the village and parish. We will support 
sustainable energy schemes e.g. domestic solar and wind turbines and green energy suppliers and 
discourage vehicle ‘idling’.

Biodiversity

P
age 145



22

We will safeguard landscape features and biodiversity, encourage tree planting, support wildlife 
sustaining farming practices and encourage sympathetic maintenance of trees, hedges and habitats. 
Tree and hedge growth throughout the area should be managed to retain and frame vistas and 
glimpses.
The wooded areas should be actively managed in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council’s 
Oxfordshire Landscape and Wildlife Study and form the basis of action by the responsible 
authorities, volunteer groups and others.

Use of contractors
We will support reducing the visibility of aerials, satellite dishes and cables, report fly-tipping and 
organise litter-clearing events and consider policies for delivery vans and forthcoming delivery 
drones, encourage improvement of unhealthy and unsafe low water pressure in parts of the parish.

Education
Build on existing ideas of connectedness to the land for new residents and children, educate people 
on the impact of climate change.

P
age 146



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan
2020 - 2031

Great Coxwell Parish Council
March 2020

1

Page 147



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

Contents

1 About Great Coxwell 5

1.1 Character of the parish 5

1.2 Geography 5

1.3 History 6

1.4 Parish Sub Areas (Map 1) 7
Sub Area A (Map 2) 7
Sub Area B 7
Sub Area C 7

1.5 Settlement pattern 9
Sub Area A 9
Sub Area B 9
Sub Area C 9

1.6 Boundaries of the area 11

1.7 Setting 11

2 About The Neighbourhood Plan 13

2.1 Introduction 13

2.2 Vision statement 14

2.3 Five principal themes 14
Built environment 14
Commercial activity 14
Transport and getting around 15
Community life 15
Environment and design quality (Maps 3, 4) 16

2.4 Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) 20

2.5 Objectives 22
Built environment 22
Commercial activity 22
Transport and getting around 23
Community life 24
Environment and design quality 24

Page 148



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

2.6 Delivery strategy 24

3 Policies and Community Priorities 27

3.1 Policies 27
Built environment (BE) 27
Commercial activity (CA) 28
Transport and getting around (TGA) 30
Community life (CL) 31
Environment and design quality (EDQ) (Map 5) 32

3.2 Policies relating to design 36
Vistas 36
Green spaces (Map 6) 36
Wooded areas, trees and churchyard 40
Linear spaces: footpaths, edges and verges (Map 7) 41
Roads and traffic 44
Positioning, plots 45
Drives, garages and parking plot size 46
Plot Size 46
Bulk of buildings 46
Roofs 47
Walls 47
Windows 48
Gardens and landscaping 48
Drainage 49

4 Appendices 52

4.1 List of maps and photographs  52

4.2 Summary of listed buildings and Scheduled Ancient Monuments 55

4.3 Bibliography & summary of evidence base 56

Page 149



Section 1
About Great Coxwell

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 150



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

5

1 About Great Coxwell

1.1 Character of the parish

1.1.1 This is a quintessential English parish, with a village area, surrounded by agricultural 
and pastoral land, about 1½ miles from the centre of Faringdon.  Farmland, stretching for 
approximately ½ mile, separates the two places.  It is quiet and rural.  From the crossroads, 
the village to the north, west and south is a cul-de-sac and this contributes to its character 
and influences traffic flow and parking behaviour.  A large part of the village is effectively a 
pedestrian precinct (photographs 23 - 25).  Villagers stop to chat to each other.  Car drivers are 
usually very considerate and appreciate that children and dogs may be walking in the roads.  
The roads are also frequented by horse-riders; some of these are children.

1.1.2 There is a good community feel – many parishioners know and look out for each other: 
providing meals, shopping lifts, company, child care.  People are friendly and helpful and 
welcoming to newcomers.  

1.1.3 There is an active church, a Women’s Institute, book club, and other community groups running 
events such as coffee mornings on a weekly basis.  Well-publicised Great Coxwell Village Teas 
are held monthly.  A crib scene is staged each year at the Great Barn, and volunteers run special 
Art Weeks events in the village.  There are frequent concerts (ranging from classical to folk) in 
the village.  Artists’ studios in the village are opened for Oxfordshire Art Weeks in May annually.  
Visitors come from all over the country and overseas to visit the Great Barn, the church, and to 
enjoy some of the finest views of the Uffington White Horse.

1.2 Geography

1.2.1 This ancient village probably takes its name from the ‘holy’ well or stream rising to the south of 
the village of Little Coxwell.  Great Coxwell and Little Coxwell might originally have comprised 
one settlement although they were separate entities by Domesday in the 11th century and are 
physically separated today by the A420 road.

1.2.2 The Great Coxwell village settlement is situated towards the south-east of the parish.  The 
village is rich in historic buildings and vernacular styles (of local materials), with much of it 
designated as a Conservation Area. 

1.2.3 To the north of the village and situated more centrally within the parish lies Badbury Hill, 
an Iron Age hill fort, a popular beauty spot with views to the Berkshire Downs to the south 
and across the Thames Valley to the north.  (The National Trust has allocated a portion of 
the wood to the south-west for leisure mountain biking, appointed a ranger and initiated a 
regeneration programme in the ancient woodland.)  This, together with the late 12th century 
church of St Giles (photograph 2), is situated on an outcrop of the limestone Corallian Ridge 
known locally as the golden ridge, which runs north-east to south-west through the parish.  
Much of the historic built environment, including the late 13th century Great Barn (photograph 
5), a building of national importance, has been constructed using its stone. The village brook 
rising on the southern slopes of the Hill runs past and feeds a pond next to the Great Barn, 
thereafter, bounding and running through and alongside the properties to the west of the main 
village road, which include the Parish’s third public building, the Reading Room (photograph 
3).  Paragraph 175 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019, 
provides enhanced protection for irreplaceable habitats.

1.2.4 The village lies adjacent to the north slope of the Berkshire Downs, an area renowned for 
Page 151



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

6

horse breeding and training.  Horses and riders are frequent users of the village street and 
bridleways.  In former times, tracks and small roads led from the village in all directions out 
into the parish and beyond, and many of these routes still exist as public rights of way.  

1.2.5 The main artery for road transport is the A420, linking Oxford and Swindon, which runs along 
the south-eastern parish boundary, ½ mile from the village (Map 1).

1.3 History

1.3.1 Badbury Hill:  The hill fort known as Badbury Hill is Great Coxwell’s earliest monument.  In 
the centre of the parish at its highest point, it was created to oversee and protect a landscape 
of scattered Early/Mid Iron Age homesteads, at least one of which was situated at the ancient 
southern end of the village where Iron Age pottery has been found.  The western Vale of the 
White Horse, the western end of the Berkshire Downs, upper Thames Valley and the Cotswolds 
can be seen from the fort, into which cattle and other livestock would have been driven in 
times of threat.  The National Trust owns and manages Badbury Hill and the ancient woodland 
surrounding it to the south-west and north-west, with public access, information and footpaths.

1.3.2 The Cock Well:  Great and Little Coxwell are mentioned separately in Domesday and had 
become divided by Late Saxon times, but in earlier Saxon times must have formed two parts of 
one manor called after the spring, probably one of the county’s many holy wells, still to be seen 
south of Little Coxwell.  The origin of the name is obscure and possibly British.

1.3.3 The stream and Holloway:  A (nameless) stream, a tributary of the River Cole, runs south from 
Badbury Hill. Where the hill slope flattens the village grew up on the east side of this stream.  
The well-preserved hollow way gives access to the village from the north of the parish.

1.3.4 St Giles Church:  The situation of the church of St Giles, on an outcrop of the Corallian ridge 
overlooking the western Vale and the Downs, suggests an early use of the site; perhaps there 
was an earlier, timber church here. The present church was built in the late 12th century and is 
little changed.

1.3.5 Earliest village and East Field:  The (nameless) village street, the only village thoroughfare 
before modern times, narrows and curves around the Corallian outcrop below the church. 
This is the oldest preserved part of the village, with a village pump on a tiny green in front of 
one of the houses (please see the Map 4 of Great Coxwell village, showing the boundary of the 
Conservation Area).

1.3.6 Great Barn and Court House:  The Great Barn at the north end of the village is a Grade One 
listed scheduled monument of national importance.  It was built in the 13th century to store 
the grain belonging to a thriving 13th century estate that once supported Beaulieu Abbey in 
Hampshire.  Many of the villagers would have worked in the grange’s fields for the Cistercian 
monks. The adjacent 16th century (possibly medieval) and later Court House may incorporate 
remains of the medieval grange.  The Barn was loved by William Morris, who brought his guests 
to wonder at the structure, calling it 'unapproachable in its dignity'.

1.3.7 Radnor Estate:  The Coleshill Estate was the seat of the Earls of Radnor from the 18th century.  
The Coleshill and Buscot estates (7000 acres, with 11 let farms and 850 acres of woodland) 
were left to the National Trust in 1956 at the death of Ernest Cook, the last owner.  The entire 
western half of the parish was part of the Radnor estate, is farmed organically, is inalienable 
and is under the National Trust’s conservation management.

1.3.8 The Chapel and Chapel House:  18th century listed Chapel House on the east side of the village 
street is a reminder of the Nonconformist Chapel that once stood to its north.

Page 152



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

7

1.3.9 The Parish Reading Room:  The red-brick Reading Room of 1900 on the west side of the village 
street is one of several such survivals in Oxfordshire, small public buildings erected in villages 
by subscription or patronage (in this case donated by the Earl of Radnor) to provide a studious 
alternative to the public house for working men.  It is the focus of village social life, hosting 
parish meetings, weekly coffee mornings, monthly village teas and lunches, Women’s Institute 
meetings, children’s workshops, parties, the Christmas Fair and the all-day village Café during 
Oxfordshire Art Weeks in May. The Reading Room is to be ‘Wi-Fi’ enabled.

1.3.10 Great Coxwell Park:  The Park was established in 2004 on the field to the south of Cherry 
Orchard.  A large grassed open area bounded by hedges and trees, there are hard courts for 
basketball etc, a children’s play area, picnic tables, wildflower areas, accessible paths and an 
information board.

1.4 Parish Sub Areas (Map 1)

1.4.1 For the purposes of the Plan, the parish has been divided into three Sub Areas (Map 1 and the 
cover photograph shows the village landscape to the south). This settlement hierarchy defines 
three main areas of the parish based on an assessment of their characteristics and functional 
relationships with their surrounding areas.

Sub Area A (Map 2)

The village settlement contains the great majority of domestic properties (approximately 120) 
and parish residents (approximately 300).  Cherry Orchard and Puddleduck Lane branch east 
and west from the main village road at the crossroads.  The National Trust owns the Great 
Barn and Court House at the northern end of the village and four other houses (Sub Area A—
photograph 4).

Sub Area B

The agricultural land to the west and north of the parish is mostly in the ownership of the 
National Trust, and contains historic sites such as Badbury Hill, and the only east-west 
vehicular route through the parish (B4019) (Sub Area B—photograph 6).  

Sub Area C

The land to the south-east and east of the parish comprises a mix of agricultural and a small 
area of commercial land and premises, including Chowle Farm trading estate (self-styled 
Faringdon Business Park), and a children’s nursery incorporating an outdoor activity area 
(The Ranch).  The farmland comprising Sub Area C provides the green buffer separating Great 
Coxwell from Faringdon’s urban area and A420 ribbon development (photograph 26 – green 
buffer Sub Area C).

Page 153



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

8

Map 1

Page 154



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

9

1.5 Settlement pattern

1.5.1 Because of Great Coxwell’s long settlement history and the variety of buildings in the village, a 
more detailed categorisation of Sub Area A follows:

Sub Area A

1.5.2 Northern Character Area: comprises the north-west sector (Sector 1) of the village north of 
Puddleduck Lane and west of the main village road, where National Trust owned land meets 
the historic medieval Great Barn, post-medieval Court House and the associated traditional 
farm buildings.  Apart from Holloway House, its associated outbuildings and two 20th century 
detached houses, this sector is dominated by the Great Barn complex and it lies entirely within 
the Conservation Area.

1.5.3 Southern Character Area (Sector 2): comprises the village south of the crossing on both sides of 
the main street, with the medieval church and monuments, where listed and unlisted buildings 
of the 17th, 18th and 19th centuries predominate, with 20th and 21st century in-fill buildings, 
mostly closer together and close to the street in traditional fashion, and mostly with extensive 
back gardens which run down to the village stream on the west side, and to the East Field on 
the east side.  This category includes the Laurels (to the east of the main village street) of the 
late 20th century.  This Character Area comprises the historic core of the medieval village, 
clustered around a small green and overlooked by St Giles Church. 

1.5.4 Puddleduck Lane Character Area (Sector 3): is lined with 19th and 20th century detached 
houses.  This has a distinctly rural feel, engendered by the single track lane without a footpath.

1.5.5 Eastern Character Area (Sector 4): comprises Cherry Orchard running east from the crossroads, 
with mostly detached 20th century houses followed by semi-detached former council houses 
in uniform styles of two periods, early and mid-20th century, and the village park.  This 
area includes Maitland Close (also known as Whitfields) of 20th and 21st century detached 
residences.  It is distinguished by the predominance of 20th century houses, but of low density 
in a non-urban environment.

Sub Area B

1.5.6 Buildings in the farming landscape in the west and north-west of the parish: mansion, 
farmhouses, farm buildings, farm cottages and sheds.

Sub Area C

1.5.7 Buildings in the east of the parish, domestic and employment, along the A420, farmland 
forming the green buffer against coalescence.

Page 155



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

10

Map 2
Page 156



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

11

1.6 Boundaries of the area

1.6.1 The Area was defined as the area of Great Coxwell parish within its parish boundaries. This 
area received Area Designation for the development of a Neighbourhood Plan in 2013. In 
April 2019, the parish boundary was amended, with an area (shown on Map 5) moved from 
the parish of Great Coxwell to become part of the parish of Faringdon.  The Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan still covers this area as the area designation remains unchanged. 

1.6.2 The parish is bounded by the A420 carriageway and the parish of Little Coxwell on the east, 
and by the parishes of Greater Faringdon on the north, Buscot, Eaton Hastings and Coleshill on 
the west, and Longcot on the south.

1.7 Setting

1.7.1 The parish and village of Great Coxwell straddle the mid-Vale ridge of Corallian limestone, with 
a more elevated cap of greensand centrally on Badbury Hill (the same formation as on Folly Hill 
in Faringdon to the north-east).  From the Hill the arable fields and pasture of the north, north-
west and north-east portions of the parish descend towards the Thames Valley and Kelmscott 
to the north.  To the south the ridge terminates with the church of St Giles situated on an 
elevated spur of the Corallian ridge, with fields descending south and west to the western clay 
Vale.

1.7.2 Importantly, a large part of the village of Great Coxwell was designated as a Conservation Area 
on 3 April 1971 (Map 4).

Page 157



Section 2
About The Neighbourhood Plan

8

9

10

11

12

Page 158



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

13

Section 2
About The Neighbourhood Plan

2 About The Neighbourhood Plan

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 The Localism Act 2011 states that a ‘neighbourhood development plan is a plan which sets 
out policies (however expressed) in relation to the development and use of land in the whole 
or any part of a particular neighbourhood area specified in the plan’.  The Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan covers the period to 2031 in line with the Vale of White Horse District 
Council Local Plan.  Community Priorities that do not relate to the use of land are shown in a 
different colour.

2.1.2 This Neighbourhood Plan describes strategic objectives and policies for the village and parish 
of Great Coxwell.  It is organised into a number of headings based on, and closely related to, 
those of the Vale of White Horse District Local Plan 2031.  It looks at the parish as it is today 
and sets out policies to ensure that the village and parish will continue to benefit from the open 
space and green buffer that give it identity as a village set in a rural parish.  Its policies will be 
used to guide decision making in the area.

2.1.3 The Neighbourhood Plan was adopted in 2014 and updated in 2020. Its policies have been 
developed from written responses to a questionnaire, scoping discussions with individuals 
and opportunities for public discussion at Parish meetings.  These were followed by a formal 
consultation period that included press advertisements, delivery of a draft copy of the Plan 
to every household and business premises (with a personal discussion where possible), 
public meetings and collation of written feedback.  Electronic versions of the documentation 
and opportunities to respond have also been made available on a parish website, www.
greatcoxwell.com.

2.1.4 Paragraphs 124-5 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019, 
sets out a design vision.  The detailed planning policies arise from the evidence base for the 
Plan and a Conservation Area Character Appraisal for Great Coxwell. 

2.1.5 The Neighbourhood Plan describes the parish of Great Coxwell as it is today and highlights the 
qualities which are valued by those who visit and live in the parish. 

2.1.6 It sets down the character and qualities of the area to be retained and enhanced so that local 
knowledge and perceptions may contribute to the continuation of the high quality of its 
environment. Design that is based on the principles of urban planning is not appropriate in the 
rural environment of Great Coxwell parish.

2.1.7 This is to ensure that further development and change is not prevented but is based on an 
understanding of the past and present which have contributed to the qualities of the parish, 
and that new schemes will add positively to its future. 

2.1.8 Sources included studies of house styles, building materials, hedgerows, wild flowers, etc. 
carried out locally, in addition to references in Appendix 4.3: Bibliography and Evidence Base 
Summary.

2.1.9 The policies are for the use of: statutory bodies such as the Vale of White Horse District Council, 
Oxfordshire County Council and Thames Water; planners, developers, architects, builders, 
designers and engineers; local community groups; residents of Great Coxwell and residents and 
users of the surrounding area.

2.1.10 Statements in plain text are a narrative of the characteristics of the environment to be found 
in Great Coxwell.  When new developments or alterations are considered in this area, plans Page 159



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

14

should be sympathetic to the existing conditions described. 

2.1.11 Sections printed in green relate to policies that provide guidance to be used when considering 
planning applications and in other decisions affecting the parish.  Many of these Policies reflect 
the policies in the Vale of White Horse District Development Plan 2031.  The revised National 
Planning Policy (NPPF), February 2019, and National Planning Practice Guidance provide the 
national planning context.

2.2 Vision statement

In 20 years’ time, Great Coxwell will still be a small, peaceful rural village parish.  The clear 
separation between the village and the nearby town of Faringdon will have been preserved.  
The current amenities (which include our roads, public footpaths and bridleways, the village 
park and Parish Reading Room) and services will have been properly maintained and upgraded 
where appropriate, taking into account the need to protect the environment.  Our outstanding 
heritage assets will be conserved and the village will continue to be a safe and friendly place to 
live (photograph 18 and 27).

2.3 Five principal themes

The following headings adhere to the five principal thematic areas in the Vale of White Horse 
draft Local Plan 2031.

Built environment

2.3.1 The population of the parish is approximately 300.  There is a high level of home ownership.  
Three-quarters of homes are detached, many have been extended, and there are few one and 
two-bedroom properties. Thus there is limited availability of smaller houses in Great Coxwell.  
Paragraph 11 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 refers. 

Commercial activity

2.3.2 Commercial activity varies between the three Sub Areas, A, B and C.  In A (the village), 

27

Page 160



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

15

businesses are run from home and there is home working.  There are no retail outlets.  Sub 
Area B contains farming enterprises, including arable, meadow, horse grazing and forestry.  In 
Sub Area C there are a privately-run children’s nursery, including an outdoor activity area (The 
Ranch) and business premises.

Transport and getting around

2.3.3 Access into the village is by a winding rural road that leads from the A420 and Faringdon by 
way of a roundabout.  This route to the village and bus stop is difficult for pedestrians when 
flooded.  A steep single-track deeply etched ‘hollow’ way leads uphill to the B4019 to the north 
of the village.

2.3.4 A bus service to Faringdon, stops on Monday to Friday mornings, except Bank Holidays.

2.3.5 There is a frequent bus service to Faringdon, Oxford and Swindon, which stops about ½ mile 
from the village centre at an exposed roundabout; no shelter is provided.  A bus shelter exists 
on the A420 (eastbound only) about ¾ mile from the village.  

2.3.6 Well-used footpaths connect the different parts of the village and lead outward into the parish 
in all directions, forming a network of pedestrian routes. Footpaths are monitored by the parish 
footpaths Warden and unsafe and unstable stiles replaced with new stiles or kissing gates.  
Three paths are particularly important to parishioners: the path leading east from the village 
to the bus stop on the A420, the footpath from Cherry Orchard behind the outdoor activity area 
The Ranch (part of Annabelle’s nursery), forming a safe pedestrian route to the bus stops at the 
roundabout and the path to Faringdon along the road between the two places (see Map 7 for all 
the Public Rights of Way). 

2.3.7 There are no dedicated cycle routes.

Community life

2.3.8 The focus of village social life is the Reading Room (maximum capacity 60 persons; no 

26

Page 161



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

16

provision for car parking) used as both a village and church hall.  The Reading Room is in need 
of structural attention.  The church (similar capacity, limited parking and no toilet facilities) 
is situated prominently towards one end of the village.   The district council’s most up-to-date 
Local Leisure Facilities Report (2016) identified (through a qualitative audit) priorities for 
investment in village halls.

2.3.9 Other amenities include: a village park comprising a children’s playground and basketball/
netball court (with wildlife interest, planted hedgerows and tables and seats) serving residents 
of the parish and further afield, created by significant community effort and fund raising (it 
has no toilet facilities); a post-box, with a daily collection; several footpaths and bridleways; 
recycling services (weekly/fortnightly collections). The red telephone box close to the Reading 
Room serves as a parish book exchange. 

2.3.10 Community facilities and services, such as a library, secondary and infant schools, nursery and 
playgroups, the medical centre and indoor leisure centre are located in Faringdon.

Environment and design quality (Maps 3, 4)

2.3.11 Great Coxwell parish is an area of great landscape, archaeological, historic and architectural 
interest and distinctiveness.  From Badbury Hill (part of the National Trust-owned Coleshill and 
Buscot estates), the highest point in the parish, there are views of a gentle rolling landscape on 
all sides.  

Only the upper enclosure of the Iron Age hillfort on its summit has been designated a 
Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) by English Heritage (Map 3 shows the extent and setting 
of the site and the location of prehistoric finds Neolithic to Medieval). 

Paragraph 194 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019, 
refers. 

2.3.12 Lying on the gentle southern slope of Badbury Hill alongside the village main street and houses, 
the village brook and drains cannot handle additional run-off especially at the southern end of 
the village and in Puddleduck Lane.

2.3.13 The parish’s visible history runs from the Iron Age, through Saxon and Medieval to modern 
times.

2.3.14 Most of the village (Sub Area A) is a Conservation Area, designated on 3 April 1971 and without 
more detailed appraisal.  Great Coxwell Parish Council is currently producing a Conservation 
Area Character Appraisal draft, following advice from the Vale of White Horse District Council.  
Subject to adoption of an appraisal by VWHDC, a Conservation Area Character Appraisal will 
help to assist local planning policy contained in the Local Plan and the review of the Great 
Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan.  The church (Grade 2*) and six monuments in the churchyard are 
Listed (Grade II) by English Heritage, together with ten village properties (also Grade II).  Also 
Listed are the Great Barn (Grade I and a scheduled monument) and an associated shelter shed 
with granary (Grade II) (for details please see Map 4 and Appendix 4.2).

2.3.15 It is intended that the Conservation Area Character Appraisal should identify features and 
buildings of local interest, i.e. non-designated but of historic importance to the parish.  An 
appraisal document and Boundary Review is the responsibility of the Local Planning Authority.  
However, in due course it is hoped that the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group can work 
with the Local Authority to undertake this review.  Then, subject to personal discussions and 
the willingness of the residents nominally affected, the Appraisal is likely to propose changes 
to the boundaries of the Conservation Area to reinforce the integrity of the rural village in its 
relationship with the developing town of Faringdon nearby.

Page 162



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

17

2.3.16 Parts of the West Oxfordshire Heights Conservation Target Area (CTA) lie in the parish, 
comprising local wildlife sites and replanted ancient woodland.  The parish is part of the Great 
Western Community Forest Plan, 2007.  Dividing the parish into two areas, rolling farmland and 
wooded estate lands, the Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study has identified two significant 
areas of woodland of 38.6ha and 120.8ha, the latter designated as ‘ancient’, i.e. continuously 
wooded for at least 400 years, with a canopy of ash and oak with a hazel dominated shrub 
layer that supports a wide range of flora and fauna, including some uncommon species.  Turfpit 
Copse is an ancient copse that borders the former golf course.  Much of the land described 
above is owned by the National Trust, the Parish’s largest landowner, and is publicly accessible. 

2.3.17 Quarrying has resulted in the exposure of an important geological feature at  Wicklesham and 
Coxwell Pits, containing the Faringdon sponge gravels.  This is one of Britain’s richest sites 
for fossils, many of which have been found only in the Faringdon area.  This Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) extends towards the north-east corner of the Parish (Sub Area C).  
Fossils have been found in the field known as Siberia.

Page 163



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

18

Map 3

Page 164



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

19

Map 4

Page 165



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

20

2.4 Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT)

The Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis was drawn up from 
initial views and comments expressed in questionnaire responses and parish meetings, 2012 
to early 2013; aims achieved since 2013 were deleted in 2020.  Oft-repeated comments are 
highlighted in bold.

Page 166



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

21

STRENGTHS

Rural Location
Character of the environment
Situation on the ‘golden ridge’ – attractive and 
historic.
Badbury Hill beauty spot (photograph 17): focal 
point, leisure destination -  not overwhelming 
domestic places.  
Horse paddocks and riding locally.
Enhanced by National Trust land and organic 
farms.
An area of natural beauty, rural space, wildlife, etc.
The Great Barn is of national significance.
The village Conservation Area.
Graham Wright’s book - history of Great Coxwell 
settlement.
Quiet and Safe in which to live and work.
Cul-de-sac location. 
Small and supportive community, the village is 
small enough to be an integrated community 
with a good standard of living.
Business people work from the village and/or 
from home.
Regular Parish Council meetings attract 
proportionately large attendances and views are 
expressed openly.
The Reading Room provides a focus for the village.
Local groups, e.g. St Giles PCC, WI.
Playing fields in the village.
Good road communications (A420).
Frequent bus service to Swindon and Oxford.
Community bus services to/from village.
Proximity of a good range of facilities in 
Faringdon. 

WEAKNESSES

Need for greater focus on conservation and 
maintenance.
Roadside neglect on the A420.
Risk of (flash) flooding in parts of the village and 
seasonal flooding on the B4019 between the 
village and Faringdon.
Inability of older people to ‘downsize’ within 
the village.
Insufficient smaller, retirement homes.  The right 
housing mix?
No retail establishments in the village.
Reading Room is adequate for the village in 2014, 
but there are structural difficulties and lack of 
space.
Difficult access to the A420 during rush hours.
Poor access to the village from the north 
(Holloway).
Distance to main bus stops and the poor state of 
footpaths is a problem for people with mobility 
difficulties.

OPPORTUNITIES

Make the most of the natural environment:
Preserve vistas, flora and fauna, views of the stars 
at night.
Work with the National Trust on eco-friendly 
proposals.
Preserve the character of the Conservation Area.
Develop an understanding of the historic 
environment.
Hide electricity cables underground.
Improve the housing mix by building small houses 
for local people.
A viable small-scale retail establishment, public 
house.
Encourage local businesses, e.g. the riding stables.
Encourage working from home.
Better facilities for village activities, bigger, 
better, improved village hall.  Improved parking 
facilities.
Develop facilities for the young and disabled.
Enhance the Park to improve access for wheelchair 
users.
Improve public transport for the elderly and 
infirm.
Improve footpaths and bridleways and provide 
cycle paths, particularly to Faringdon.  Make 
Holloway one-way. 

THREATS

Climate change may lead to further severe weather 
events and flooding.
Existing low and potential reduction in water 
pressure to the village. 
Loss of rural environment.
Feelings of being overwhelmed by large-scale 
development near the village.  Coalescence 
with the nearby urban centre and loss of rural 
ambience and outdoor opportunities.
Loss of social cohesion and community intimacy.
If not upgraded in terms of facilities, capacity and 
comfort, the Reading Room may lose its relevance.
Narrow village roads, parking in the roads, traffic 
density and rat-running.
Increased road traffic. Development of road 
traffic between Oxford and Swindon may threaten 
the parish further.

Page 167



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

22

2.5 Objectives

Specific objectives were developed following a village questionnaire, to which 87% of 
households responded.  It has also been informed by scoping interviews, comments made at 
formal and informal meetings, conversations and from written feedback.  The five Objective 
headings are based on the five ‘themes’ (referred to earlier) used in the Vale of White Horse 
District Council Local Plan 2031, using the SWOT findings and informal meetings and scoping 
interviews that took place throughout 2013.  The ensuing policies have been developed by the 
parish Neighbourhood Plan team in 2014, drawing on this information.  Finally, pre-submission 
Consultation responses have been considered and incorporated where possible.

Built environment

Objective: Consider a limited number of new small homes.

Objective: Support occasional new build, using appropriate materials, when it will respect or 
improve the village environment.

Objective: Support the redevelopment/re-use/extension of buildings outside the village, which 
improve their appearance and enhance the environment.

Comments raised by local people included:

• Some smaller-scale homes would encourage young people to live in the parish, and older 
people to remain here.

• Support the construction of eco-friendly individual homes from time to time within the 
village, respecting the ‘small village’ environment in which they will be set.

• Consider the impact of new house extensions on the balance of available house sizes.

• People expressed the wish that redevelopment/re-use/extension of buildings outside 
the village, especially in Sub Area C, should improve their appearance and enhance the 
environment.

Commercial activity

Objective: Support economic prosperity.

Objective: Encourage businesses run from parishioners’ homes.

Objective: Provide support to the farming community.

Comments raised by local people included:

• Take measures that support home-working.

• Encourage businesses run from homes in the village.

• Support existing businesses, such as Annabelle’s Nursery.

• Support the development of suitable and safe, well-planned commercial activity at the 
Chowle Farm trading estate.

• Encourage agricultural enterprises.

Page 168



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

23

Transport and getting around

The policies under this heading are non-planning related, and the Localism Act 2011 states 
that ‘A neighbourhood development plan is a plan which sets out policies in relation to the 
development and use of land’; therefore, there are no objectives under this heading but 
Community Priorities have been developed (refer Part 3).

Comments raised by local people included:

• Improve the junction between the village and the A420, with an eye to safety, noise 
reduction and low-carbon lighting, while ensuring that access arrangements facilitate traffic 
flow to and from the village, to the B4019 as well as the A420 itself.

• Provide a safe access to Faringdon, Coleshill and Buscot for cyclists and pedestrians, 
especially schoolchildren.  

• Limit the impact of more vehicular traffic to and from new homes between Great Coxwell 
and Faringdon.

• Maintain and improve footpaths between the village and neighbouring parishes and create 
a network of cycle paths.  Work with local farmers to replace styles with self-closing gates.

• Do not take actions or make decisions that increase traffic flow in the village, especially 
through the narrower parts of the roadway in Puddleduck Lane and south of the Reading 
Room.

• Restrain parking in the village streets.

• Designate Holloway as a ‘quiet lane’ with a speed and weight restriction.

28

Page 169



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

24

• Support the use of local bus services, ensuring the provision of convenient and sheltered 
bus stops.

Community life

Objective: Maintain and where necessary upgrade current amenities to ensure that 
parishioners continue to enjoy a good quality of life.

Objective: Enable older/less mobile people to access village social life.

Comments raised by local people included:

• Consider the possibility of a village shop.

• Maintain and enhance the existing village ‘circular’ footpaths, in particular surfaces and 
steps.

• Improve access to facilities and public spaces within the village and parish.

• Upgrade, enhance or replace the facilities at the village Reading Room.

Environment and design quality

Objective: Establish a green buffer between the village and urban developments to the south-
west of Faringdon and west of the A420.

Objective: Retain the character of the village and parish and the things we value about it.

Main comments raised by local people included:

• No further street lighting or mobile phone masts in the village are wanted.

• Maintain, expand and enhance the value of the village Conservation Area and the Parish’s 
heritage assets.

• Preserve the village’s separate identity by agreeing a green buffer to avoid coalescence with 
Faringdon

• Carry out hedge laying where necessary, e.g. Holloway.

• Retain the rural and historic character of the village and parish.

• Value the areas of natural beauty, wildlife and the enjoyment of natural light.

• Use local building materials that are in keeping with the existing historic materials.

• Retain local vistas, including views between buildings.

• Analysis and reduction of the village’s ‘carbon footprint’ (as at Coleshill).

2.6 Delivery strategy

2.6.1 The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan is already in regular use at monthly Parish Council 
meetings as a yardstick in the assessment of planning applications.  The policies we have 
developed relate to the development and use of land, infrastructure and amenities in the 
context of planning, and their relevance will be reviewed periodically. Many of these Policies 

Page 170



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

25

reflect policies in the Vale of White Horse District Development Plan 2031.  The revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019, and National Planning Practice 
Guidance provide the national planning context. The planning policies (listed in green text 
in Part 3) will be used by the Vale of White Horse District Council to determine planning 
applications in the parish.

Page 171



Section 3
Policies and Community Priorities

13

14

15

16

17

Page 172



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

27

Section 3
Policies and Community Priorities

3 Policies and Community Priorities

3.1 Policies

3.1.1 During development of the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan we have also identified 
Community Priorities and Actions CPAs (listed in purple text in Part 3), those things that are 
important to the community and should be recognised in the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood 
Plan.  The role of the Great Coxwell Parish Council is to provide amenities and facilities for the 
benefit of the community that directly relate to these Community Priorities.

3.1.2 Great Coxwell has been designated a ‘smaller village’ in the Vale of White Horse District 
Local Plan 2031 Settlement Hierarchy, having a ‘low level of services and facilities, where 
any development should be modest in scale and primarily to meet local needs’.  ‘Local needs’ 
in this context means the needs of Great Coxwell parish and village.  The few development 
opportunities that exist will be supported if they meet the criteria set down in this Plan and its 
underlying documents.

3.1.3 According to the Local Plan, at Great Coxwell, ‘limited development may be appropriate within 
the existing built areas’.  This Neighbourhood Plan clarifies this tenet in accordance with 
local needs.  Building development should be commensurate with Great Coxwell’s small size 
and population without detriment to the parish’s distinctive rural character and setting i.e. 
environmentally sustainable.  

3.1.4 The Neighbourhood Plan also seeks to promote business and employment sustainability, 
through adequate infrastructure and services.

3.1.5 The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan establishes a policy framework to guide changes 
including development in the parish up to 2031. The approach adheres to the five principal 
thematic areas in the Vale Local Plan 2031.

Built environment (BE)

Objective: Consider a limited number of small new homes.

3.1.6 Development in Great Coxwell must also be in accordance with VWHDC Local Plan 2031, Part 
1, Core Policy 3, page 42, in which Great Coxwell is categorised as a ‘smaller village’. This allows 
for some limited development within the existing built up area of the settlement. 

3.1.7 The 2011 Census shows that in Great Coxwell (along with Eaton Hastings,) over 60% of the 
dwellings are 3 and 4 bed and only 15% 1 and 2 bed. Early consultation with the community 
supported the view that more smaller units were required in the village in preference to more 
family housing. In the case of the policy, ‘smaller units’ refers to one and two bed units.  

Policy BE1: Consider a Limited Number of Small New Homes 

The development of a limited number of homes, commensurate with the size and scale of the 
village, will be supported in Sub Area A where it conserves and enhances the character of the 
village, its historic assets and their settings, including the affect on traffic flows.  Proposals in 
Sub Area A should make provision for one or two bed homes to meet the needs of first time 
buyers and those wishing to down-size.

Design and construction should be in accordance with the Neighbourhood Design Statement 
policies and appropriate to the Conservation Area.

17

Page 173



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

28

Objective: Support occasional new build, using appropriate materials, when it will respect or 
improve the village environment

Policy BE2: Support Occasional New Build

Development in Sub Area A must conserve and enhance the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the rural character of the village. Applicants should where possible 
meet the requirements set out in the Neighbourhood Design Statement and the advice in 
the Great Coxwell Conservation Area Character Appraisal to ensure that development is 
appropriate. 

Objective: Support the redevelopment/re-use/extension of buildings outside the village, 
improve their appearance and enhance the environment

3.1.8 Redevelopment and re-use of buildings and building extensions outside the village.

Policy BE3: Support Appropriate Redevelopment and Re-Use of Buildings Outside the Village

Outside the village, redevelopment of brown-field sites and derelict buildings will be supported 
under the following conditions.  Poor design should be replaced with high quality design and 
high standards of amenities enabling improvements to the natural and historic environment.  
All designs should enhance the character of the Great Coxwell Sub Areas.  Conversion of 
existing buildings to residential use will be supported if no business opportunity is presented 
within a period of six months.

Commercial activity (CA)

Objective: Support economic prosperity

3.1.9 Sub Areas A and B contain visitor attractions of local interest such as the Great Barn and 
Badbury Hill.  Public Rights of Way in these Sub Areas are also an important part of the local 
recreation and tourism network.

3.1.10 Policy CA1 seeks to provide for some small scale development that would support existing local 
tourism and recreation, where it would meet with certain criteria. 

3.1.11 To further strengthen the local tourist and recreational offer in the parish, the Parish Council 
will foster links with the National Trust, English Heritage and other organizations in the local 
area to increase the awareness of sites and activities of interest.

Policy CA1: Support Economic Prosperity

The development of local recreation and tourism facilities in association with existing tourist 
sites will be supported where the range, scale and nature of provision is limited to that 
commensurate with established visitor numbers, where it does not detract from the rural 
character of the area and historic assets and their setting; and where it does not significantly 
increase traffic through the village.

Development over Public Rights of Way (Map 7) will only be permitted where alternative 
provision can be made that is equally or more attractive, safe and convenient to Rights of Way 
users.

Businesses in Sub Area C and agricultural enterprises in Sub Areas B and C are important to the 
economic prosperity of the parish.  In principle, development that is required to support these 
businesses will be supported provided it is appropriate in scale; it does not detract from the 
rural nature of the sub area; it does not adversely affect any historic assets and their setting; Page 174



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

29

and it would not increase traffic through the village.  Proposals for new buildings should 
demonstrate exhaustive consideration of re-use, conversion or adaptation of suitable existing 
buildings.

Objective: Encourage businesses run from parishioners’ homes.

3.1.12 Support the trend to work productively from home throughout the parish The Revised National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019, states:  Advanced, high quality and reliable 
communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being.

Policy CA2: To Encourage Local Businesses

Proposals for the development or extension of village and other small shops designed to meet 
the day-to-day needs of the local population will be permitted provided they do not adversely 
affect residential or visual amenity or give rise to highway problems.

Small-scale businesses run from homes, where they do not create nuisance and they do not 
significantly increase vehicular traffic through the village will be supported. 

Community Priorities CA2: To encourage Local Businesses

Home-based work reduces commuting and vehicle movements (thereby helping the 
environment).

We will encourage and support the provision of a range of communication technologies to 
support home working; including:

• Retain and promote high speed broadband (Gigaclear Fibre to the Home, BT Fibre to the 
Cabinet)

• Provide community access to high speed broadband in the Reading Room

• Consider support for improved mobile phone coverage and speed without having a 
detrimental effect on other Neighbourhood Plan Policies, for example by leveraging high 
speed broadband in the home for indoor mobile phone reception

Objective: Provide support to the farming community.

3.1.13 Encourage the preservation of our ancient rural landscape by supporting successful local 
farming enterprises.

Page 175



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

30

Policy CA3: Support the Farming Community

The development and diversification of agricultural and other rural land-based businesses in 
the Parish will be supported.

The re-use of uneconomic/former farm buildings for appropriate rural business activities will 
be supported in principle.

Transport and getting around (TGA)

The Policies under this heading are non-planning related, i.e. in relation to the development 
and use of land.

Community Priorities TGA: Transport and Getting Around: 

Footpaths, Cycle Paths and Bridleways

We will maintain, and where necessary upgrade, transport and accessibility to and from the 
village; to include public transport connections, footpaths and cycle paths to reduce the need 
for journeys by car. Any new arrangements should maximize safety and convenience for 
parishioners, schoolchildren and visitors.

Cycle paths and adequate pedestrian routes should be provided between the village and 
Faringdon to enable the opportunity for travel without cars.  Specifically, the narrow, poorly 
surfaced and often flooded single footpath, also used of necessity by cyclists, linking the village 
with the service centre, Faringdon, has been upgraded with developer funding.

With developer contributions, we will seek to provide a cycle-friendly environment at the Great 
Barn, Reading Room and church in line with The National Trust policy to promote access.

Any improvements to bridleways necessary to encourage the popular outdoor pursuit of horse-

29

Page 176



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

31

riding in the parish should be made.

Vehicular traffic

We will consider schemes designed to reduce the impact of vehicles and calm traffic by 
minimizing the need to park in the road, and giving equal status to the needs of pedestrians, 
cyclists and other non-drivers.  We will work with partners to facilitate off-street parking to 
prevent degradation and obstruction of footpaths and verges by vehicles.  

As the population of the wider area increases owing to new development, developer funding 
should ensure continued safety and convenience of access to and from the village.

The 20mph speed limit for built-up areas recommended by Oxfordshire County Council will be 
promoted for Great Coxwell, and we will consider its implementation.

We will formulate and progress a conservation / traffic plan for traffic flow in the Holloway 
between the village and the Highworth Road (B4019), ensuring the appropriate balance 
between the need for road improvement and the preservation of the village and parish natural 
and historic environment, and addressing safety issues at the B4019 junction.

Public Transport

Improvements should be made to encourage more people to take the bus rather than drive a 
private car, we will:

• Support and aim to improve the Faringdon Community Bus (No. 61) which provides the 
only public transport link between the village and Faringdon

• Aim to use developer funding to provide a bus shelter as close as possible to the village 
as well as on either side of Coxwell Road near the roundabout for the Route S6 (Oxford to 
Swindon) bus

• Ensure all existing bus stops are retained

Community life (CL)

Objective: Maintain and where necessary upgrade current amenities to ensure that villagers 
continue to enjoy a good quality of life. 

3.1.14 Take steps to ensure the sustainability of the parish and village social activities and amenities, 
centrally and across the wider parish, by upgrading or renewing existing facilities. 

Policy CL1: Maintain/Upgrade Current Amenities 

Reading Room:

The Reading Room is in need of structural repairs to keep it fit for purpose. Applications to 
extend the building will be permitted where they are proportionate to the current building and 
do not detract from the character and appearance of the existing building in scale, mass, height, 
detailing, materials or its relationship to adjoining buildings. Development must conserve and 
enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

Recreation space:

Proposals that result in loss of part or all of the village Park or the allotments will only be 
supported if they will result in improved provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 

Page 177



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

32

location. 

Quality for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders:

If new residential streets are required, they must be designed with an equal emphasis on all 
modes of transport, i.e. pedestrians and cyclists as well as vehicles.

Support proposals to introduce a safe and appropriate pedestrian and cycle path to the north-
east of the village, to better connect the village to the services and facilities in Faringdon, 
accessible in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council’s Rights of Way Management Plan.

Community Priorities CL: Community Life:

Local Services and Facilities

We will encourage the use of local facilities in Faringdon and liaise on issues that affect both 
Faringdon and Great Coxwell, we aim to work jointly with Faringdon Town Council to share 
and improve resources. Great Coxwell is a stakeholder and will be consulted in planning 
applications particularly those close to our boundaries.

Maintain and Upgrade Current Amenities

We will encourage use of the Great Coxwell Village Park by all sections of the community 
recognising that active use by all is the main deterrent to misuse of the park.

This includes liaison with the Great Coxwell Parish Council to ensure the Park is developed in 
line with the aspirations of the wider village community with respect to ownership, equipment 
and use.

Objective: Enable older/ less mobile people to access village social life

3.1.15 Bear in mind particularly the needs of the elderly, infirm and young families when developing 
parish buildings and facilities.

Policy CL2: Improve Accessibility in the Village

Proposals to extend or sub-divide existing dwellings to provide additional accommodation for 
an elderly or infirm dependant will be supported.  Such accommodation should be ancillary to 
the main dwelling and should not be tantamount to a separate dwelling.

Environment and design quality (EDQ) (Map 5)

Objective: Establish a green buffer between the village and the urban developments to the 
south-west of Faringdon and west of the A420.

3.1.16 The Neighbourhood Plan affords a timely opportunity to define and agree the boundaries of the 
village (see Conservation Area Character Appraisal), the parish boundaries and establishment 
of  a recognized green buffer to preserve the village’s separate identity and prevent coalescence 
with the nearby market town/local service centre, and further roadside development along the 
A420.

Policy EDQ1: Establish a green buffer to protect the village from coalescence

A green buffer (Map 5), is designated between Great Coxwell and Faringdon and the A420. 
The hatched area represents land proposed by developers and/or recommended by the Vale 
Local Plan Update for large-scale development.  In the event of some or all of this land being 

Page 178



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

33

allocated in the adopted Local Plan and/or planning consent being granted for development on 
the land, the Green Buffer will be redrawn in accordance with the compliance statement in our 
Neighbourhood Plan.

The purpose of the green buffer is to prevent Faringdon and Great Coxwell from merging and to 
maintain the rural setting of Great Coxwell.  Development that will detract from the purpose of 
the green buffer will not be permitted.  It is because of the allocation of part of Steeds Farm in 
the Local Plan 2031 that the green buffer has become so important. 

Where developments encroach on the green buffer, developers should provide on the edge of 
their development a green interface with the surrounding countryside.  The interface should 
follow the length of the boundary between any development and the green buffer, should be of 
varying widths but a minimum of 20 metres wide and should provide vegetation planting, such 
as native hedgerow trees, small copses and community orchard areas.  This should not create 
an unnatural ‘wall’ of vegetation, but provide a visible and accessible interface to pro-actively 
inform and improve the landscape character, structure and connectivity between Great Coxwell 
and Faringdon, while delineating the identity of the two.  The green interface may incorporate 
footpaths and cycle paths running between Faringdon and Great Coxwell.  Natural materials 
and light and a natural ’feel’ appropriate to the rural environment should be emphasised.

Objective: Retain the character of the village and parish, and the things we value about it. 

Policy EDQ2: Maintain and Co-ordinate the Green Infrastructure

To retain the rural character of the village (photographs 19, 21 & 22) public access areas 
(identified in Maps 4 and 7) will be protected and retained.

A private outdoor garden amenity space, or a shared amenity area must be provided for all new 
dwellings and retained when houses are extended.

Policy EDQ3: Reinforce the Character and Quality of the Village and Parish

Where there are reasonable grounds for believing that important archaeological remains 
may be disturbed or otherwise adversely affected by a development proposal the applicant 
will be required to carry out a predetermination archaeological field evaluation of the site to 
determine a suitable level of mitigation.

Where a Design and Access Statement is required, developers must ensure it demonstrates how 
their proposal reinforces Great Coxwell’s character, as described in the Neighbourhood Design 
policies and Conservation Area Character Appraisal.

Changes to the built environment leading to the creation of formal public parking spaces would 
not be supported.

Permissions should recognise the unlit environment of the village, where there is currently 
little light pollution, where street lighting is not required.

There are further Community Policies under this heading.

Objective: Support policies and decisions that are environmentally friendly.

Page 179



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

34

Map 5

NB the hatched area represents land proposed by developers and/or recommended 
by the Vale Local Plan Update for large-scale development.  In the event of some or 
all of this land being allocated in the adopted Local Plan and/or planning consent 
being granted for development on the land, the Green Buffer will be redrawn in 
accordance with the compliance statement in our Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 180



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

35

3.1.17 As far as possible we aim to preserve and enhance the natural environment around us.

Policy EDQ4 Achieve our objectives in as ‘environmentally friendly’ a way as possible

Development proposals should seek to build greater resilience to the potential effects of 
climate change, e.g. flooding.  Ensure any new constructions do not increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere in the village.

Ensure that any new homes constructed are of a design quality consistent with the natural, 
historical and landscape assets of the village and parish.

Community Priorities EDQ: Environment and Design Quality:

Introduction

We will ensure the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan Policies pays due consideration 
to any impact on the environment. The parish council will work in partnership with the 
National Trust to conserve and enhance the environment as and when funding opportunities 
arise. This could include the establishment of ‘protected views’ and/or covenants with 
landowners and dealing with relevant planning issues.

Sustainable energy use

We will promote the use of environmentally friendly vehicles and support and encourage the 
continuation of the existing low levels of artificial light in the village and parish.

We will support sustainable energy schemes e.g. domestic solar and wind turbines and green 
energy suppliers and discourage vehicle ‘idling’.

Biodiversity

We will safeguard landscape features and biodiversity, encourage tree planting, support wildlife 
sustaining farming practices and encourage sympathetic maintenance of trees, hedges and 
habitats.

Tree and hedge growth throughout the area should be managed to retain and frame vistas and 
glimpses.

The wooded areas should be actively managed in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council’s 
Oxfordshire Landscape and Wildlife Study and form the basis of action by the responsible 
authorities, volunteer groups and others.

Use of contractors

We will support reducing the visibility of aerials, satellite dishes and cables, report fly-tipping 
and organise litter-clearing events and consider policies for delivery vans and forthcoming 
delivery drones, encourage improvement of unhealthy and unsafe low water pressure in parts 
of the parish.

Education

Build on existing ideas of connectedness to the land for new residents and children, educate 
people on the impact of climate change.

Page 181



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

36

3.2 Policies relating to design

Originally, the policies relating to building design were in a separate document but have been 
incorporated.

Vistas

3.2.1 There are spectacular views (Map 4 and 7):

• of much of the parish to the north and south from the ridge by Badbury Hill and from the 
circular walk around the perimeter of the Hill especially to the north, east and south;

• of the ancient setting of village and church on its promontory from the southwest, where 
the A420 curves round the parish to the southeast, from above the Great Barn toward the 
Downs; 

• of the Downs and White Horse from the churchyard looking across the east fields; down the 
winding village street, with houses huddled around the old green and the village pump; 

• from Glebe House by the church; 

• from the footpaths west of the village, with the village stream running through all the back 
gardens seen from the fields; 

• from the Park south across the medieval village’s East Field (Siberia) towards the Downs; 

• and from the field to the southwest of the village towards the Downs.

3.2.2 These views can be enjoyed from footpaths surrounding the village and leaving it to the north, 
west, south and east, as well as from its green spaces (the churchyard, the Park, and the fields 
to the east, west and north of the Barn).

3.2.3 Glimpses of these views can also be enjoyed from the village streets and lanes looking between 
the houses, and from many gardens.

Policy NDS1 (NDS - Neighbourhood Design Statement)

Any development should have rooflines that do not impact adversely on the important vistas 
and glimpses (Map 4).

These must be protected, particularly: panoramic or extensive views; glimpses between 
buildings and views towards and from the Great Barn.

Green spaces (Map 6)

3.2.4 The parish is pre-eminently an area of green spaces.  These are of two types: open grassed 
areas, and arable fields and pasture.

3.2.5 Open grassed areas are mainly in and around the village and in the eastern sector of the parish 
within easy walking distance of the village, and include:

• The Park, running along most of the south side of Cherry Orchard.  This is a year-round 
outdoor resource, a field bordered by mature hedgerows with a children’s play area and 
ball courts used by older children and teenagers, easily accessed by villagers on foot either 
from Cherry Orchard on the north or from Dark Lane, parallel to the main village street, on 
the west. It is popular with ‘Faringdonians’, as well as being used by families with children 

Page 182



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

37

from the farms outside the village, at least one family making the journey by bicycle.  The 
Park and its amenities are maintained by the community, the paths kept accessible for use 
by everyone.  The Park is the only public outdoor open space in the village large enough for 
people to wander, play games or hold outdoor events in a natural environment.  

• The open grassed area around the Great Barn includes a fishpond, probably of monastic 
origin, in meadowland, and grassy lawns on the other three sides of the Barn.  Accessible to 
the public at all times, including the open shed on the opposite side of the drive, and parking 
spaces along the road for half a dozen cars by the low front stone wall (the Barn itself is 
open every day, while another smaller barn near the pond is normally locked but may be 
used by arrangement with the National Trust, the owner of the property).  From beyond 
the pond a marked footpath with stile leads up the hill towards Badbury Hill. This attractive 
open space is used frequently by visitors to the Barn for picnics, walks and resting, and as 
an outdoor adjunct to the Barn when there are concerts, parties or events inside.  In recent 
years there have been a series of summertime musical events and celebrations which 
attracted villagers and visitors from further afield.  Each Christmas period the Barn is open 
night and day for viewing a lit Nativity inside, and is the scene of a children’s Christmas Eve 
carol service with a donkey procession.

• The site of the former golf course is a beautiful semi-natural environment with wetlands 
and water birds; a public right of way through this provides direct pedestrian access to the 
bus-stop on the A420.

• The Ranch (outdoor children’s play area attached to Annabelle’s Nursery) is situated on the 
north side of the road leading from Cherry Orchard out to the A420. 

• Land to the south of the village bordering the east bank of the stream.  This series of small 
meadows, borders the pedestrian route and bridleway running south from the end of the 
village street, and is a haven for birds and wildlife.

• The parish allotments on the east side of the village street near the southern end of the 
village are managed by the parish council as small plots sub-let to local people.

3.2.6 Arable fields and pasture accessible by footpaths/bridleways surround the village and 
characterise the parish, making possible countryside walks in every direction. Notable are:

• ‘Siberia’, the large former East Field lying between the village and the former Golf Course.  
This is farmed organically by the National Trust and is one of the best-loved local resorts for 
walking and dog walking, or just enjoying the poppies and the view of the Downs and White 
Horse.

• Pasture on the east side of the village street at the southern end of the village opposite 
Mory’s and Horslees.  A public right of way along the north side leads round behind the 
church and forms part of a complete circuit of the village; there is a wonderful view of the 
Uffington White Horse from this field.

• The L-shaped field on which horses are pastured, surrounding the Park to the south and 
east, with borders of mature hedges and trees.  This field is an important natural link 
between ‘Siberia’ and the Park, both of which would be degraded were it to be built on.

• Steeds Farm: for many generations this farm north and north-east of the village has formed 
a green buffer between the village and developing Faringdon, and several public rights 
of way between Great Coxwell and Faringdon cross it.  The farm comprises a number of 
fields, of which the most significant open areas from the parish’s viewpoint are the field 
directly opposite the Great Barn, the retention of which as a natural open space is essential 

Page 183



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

38

to the appropriate setting of the Barn, a medieval monument of national importance; the 
fields bounded by the former field on the north, Cherry Orchard on the south and Gypsy 
Lane on the east, without which open spaces the rural setting of the northeast sector of the 
village would be lost; and the field bounded by Oakfield to the south and Gypsy Lane to the 
west, plus the field adjacent to it to the east, without both of which The Ranch (an outdoor 
activity area – part of Annabelle’s Nursery), an important rural feature of Great Coxwell as 
well as an important local business, would not be viable.

• All the farmland owned and managed by the National Trust, to the west of the village and 
comprising the whole western side of the parish.  Much of this land is organically farmed 
and includes public amenities such as footpaths, bridleways and walks.

Policy NDS2

Open grassed areas presently enjoyed for recreation and for people to meet together should be 
retained and the rural character of their borders and settings retained and strengthened.

Page 184



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

39

Map 6

Page 185



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

40

Wooded areas, trees and churchyard

3.2.7 Wooded areas are an essential part of the neighbourhood, embedded historically in its rural 
economy and in its present-day farm management, enhancing the visual appeal of the parish, 
and providing visual privacy, a natural weather break and alleviating flooding and run-off.  The 
extensive tree cover visible from all the vantage points depicted is recognised as contributing 
strongly to the ecology and landscape value of the parish.

3.2.8 Those wooded areas enjoyed throughout the year by significant numbers of people from the 
parish and beyond include:

• Badbury Hill, and its environs immediately to the west and north. The Hill, the site of an 
Early/Mid Iron Age hillfort whose circular interior, ditches and main entry are still easily 
detectable, became a beech plantation in the 18th century.  The Bluebell carpet under the 
beech trees is specially mentioned in the National Trust’s publicity and elsewhere and 
is visited nationally.  The land where it falls away dramatically to the west and north is 
heavily forested comprising areas of ancient woodland (Map 3).  The Hill and surrounding 
woodland are closely managed by the National Trust, which encourages visitors on foot by 
providing a large accessible car park and a network of footpaths, and visitors on bikes by 
providing cycle routes.

• Wooded areas fringing the former golf course and Annabelle’s Nursery.  These contain 
desirable wildlife, hedgerow fruits in season, provide shelter for the horses, and streams for 
otters.

3.2.9 Wooded areas that are enjoyed by users of parish footpaths include: 

• Other large areas of woodland to north and west of the Hill (Map 6) (Coxwell Wood, Oak 
Wood, Rowleaze Wood). 

• Numerous other smaller copses and mature hedgerows as well as named smaller 
woodlands to the east (e.g. Smallgains Copse) and to the west (Fern Copse). 

These small areas are an integral part of the farmscape in the west of the parish and are 
enjoyed on all three of the walking routes between Great Coxwell and Coleshill.

3.2.10 Wooded areas that can be enjoyed in or near the village include: 

• Woods east of Hollow Way and south of the B4019.  The rural character of the route 
across the parish from Faringdon and of the ‘back’ entry to Great Coxwell village would be 
degraded/lost were these woods to be lost to development.

• Wooded area opposite Court House.  Because of its proximity to the Great Barn, this small 
field was purchased by the National Trust in 1991.  It has been planted with native species 
and is accessible to pedestrians.

• Wooded areas fringing the fields and pastures, the disused former village road entry, the 
former golf course and the sites along the western side of the A420 road present and 
safeguard the rural character of the parish.  As one enters the parish of Great Coxwell 
from the north-east, the beauty of the landscape as seen from the A420 roadside would 
be greatly degraded and the existing high standard breached were these wooded areas to 
disappear.

3.2.11 The churchyard surrounding St Giles church forms an important open space for wildlife. The 
original (closed) churchyard is bounded by Corallian limestone walls on four sides, and the new 

Page 186



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

41

churchyard extension to the south by hedgerows on three sides.  The ecological survey of the 
eastern portion of the new churchyard (updating a management plan written in 2000) should 
guide the future management of this and other public green spaces in the Parish.  

Policy NDS3

Planning permission should be refused for development resulting in loss or deterioration of the 
wooded areas throughout the parish unless the need for, and benefits of, the development in 
the location clearly outweigh the loss.  This is to ensure continuity in the appearance and use 
of the historic landscape, to provide shelter for farm animals and horses, to afford a wind break 
and prevent flooding and run-off, to provide framed vistas, enhance the appearance of the 
neighbourhood and support ecological diversity.  

Where new development is proposed, landscape schemes should include appropriate native 
tree and shrub species.  Very fast-growing non-native species (e.g. Leylandii) should not be 
grown on small sites or in the proximity of a property boundary as they will quickly block out 
neighbours’ light and outlook and spoil vistas. Substantial redevelopment of private property 
should, where feasible, be required to retain existing planting, or where not possible, to provide 
substitute planting equivalent in tree number and area covered.

Linear spaces: footpaths, edges and verges (Map 7)

3.2.12 The streets in the village are characterised by soft banks and verges, for which the parish 
council has taken over responsibility for maintenance.  A low narrow footpath running along 
the west side of the village street from the crossroads southwards to Morys has almost as 
informal a look and feel as the grass verges opposite; it allows larger vehicles e.g. council waste 
collection vehicles to get through when cars are parked on the road.  Another footpath runs 
from the crossroads east down the north side of Cherry Orchard to the turn in the road, and 
two similar ones, one on each side, run a short distance north from the crossroads.

3.2.13 The only street lighting is within the modern Laurels estate; this is subdued.  There is minimal 
street furniture.  The streets have very low levels of traffic and provide major access routes for 
pedestrians and cyclists.  A special character and sense of place of the village is the use made 
of the streets as social areas, strengthening the sense of community.  More pedestrians than 
cars use the main village street, which is like a wide pathway – a place where people casually 
chat, where children play and ride their bikes, where older people move at their own pace and 
where dogs are walked. The rural streetscape is much valued by residents and visitors, as is the 
cobbled path leading from the village pump to the church.

The SWOT analysis starting on page 20 mentions, under ‘Threats’, the problem of rat running 
and increased road traffic owing to the increase in traffic between Oxford and Swindon.  Both 
are increasing and the special characteristics of village streets mentioned in this paragraph are 
under threat.

3.2.14 Two of the four streets leading from the crossroads end in bridleways: well used footpaths 
connect the different parts of the village (the village can be circumnavigated by footpath (Map 
7) and lead outwards into the parish in all directions forming a network of parish pedestrian 
routes. 

3.2.15 The main footpaths in use around and from the village are:

• Paths circumnavigating the village from the main village crossroads: starting at the 
crossroads, turn south to the right of Kestrels on Cherry Orchard, down Dark Lane along the 
back/east side of the houses on the main village street.  Behind the church the path turns 
west along the southern boundary of Spicer’s and out to the road; north up the road turning 

Page 187



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

42

left south of Pear Tree Cottage and Farm, crossing the stream into the west field then north 
over a stile onto a public right-of-way through Pear Tree Close and adjacent paddocks, over 
another stile then walking north along the back/east side of the houses on the main village 
street, now along the west bank of the village stream.  The path leaves the stream to turn 
west then north around Puddle House and Orchard Cottage, out to Puddleduck Lane and 
thence return to the main village crossroads.

• Path from the pond behind the Great Barn up to the B4019, skirting first a field (on the 
spring-line, where the village stream probably arises feeding the pond), then up past a 
copse (possibly the site of medieval quarrying for the Great Barn, as suggested by landscape 
archaeologist James Bond), and out through fields to the road opposite Badbury Clump.

• Path (Gypsy Lane – a byway) from the east end of Cherry Orchard north towards Faringdon 
via the Highworth Road (B4019).

• Path leading eastwards from the east end of Cherry Orchard, running behind The Ranch 
towards the Great Coxwell bus-stop at the roundabout off the A420.

• Path to Little Coxwell leading east from the main village street between Hillside and 
Wayside, crossing ‘Siberia’ and the former golf course to the A420 (where the bus stops for 
Oxford (with shelter)), and Swindon.

• Path (a bridleway) to the south from the southern end of the main village street out to the 
A420 towards Longcot, also branching to the east as a footpath only, past the Plough Barn to 
Broadleaze Barn on the A420.

• Path to Coleshill via Ashen Copse Farm leading directly west across the village stream by 
Pear Tree Farmhouse.

• Path (a bridleway) leading west from the end of Puddleduck Lane to Coleshill via 
Colleymore Farm (formerly the main route to Highworth from Faringdon via Great Coxwell).

• The main remaining footpaths cover the parish to the north, north east and north west of 
Badbury Hill, several linking Badbury Hill Farm with farms in neighbouring parishes.

• Path from the car park at Badbury Hill skirting the clump along the south and west sides 
then heading downhill through Coxwell Wood to Brimstone Farm to meet the north-south 
D’Arcy Dalton Way in Coleshill parish.

• Path branching right off this path along the edge of Coxwell Wood to Badbury Hill House.

• Bridleway running northwest from Badbury Hill House to Oldfield Farm and Rowleaze 
Cottages in the northwest corner of the parish, beyond which it joins D’Arcy Dalton Way.

• Bridleway from Badbury Hill House, south side running north east to Step Farm on the 
A417.

Page 188



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

43

Map 7

Page 189



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

44

3.2.16 A study of 1982 identified over thirty ancient hedges in the parish, the ages of which were 
estimated to be between 200 and 900 years old on the basis of species present (Map 6).  A 
recent re-walk again noted these hedgerows.

Policy NDS4

Development proposals will be supported where they are in accord with the following 
principles: 

Soft green verges are part of the rural village’s special character and should be retained.  
They should not be formalised or significantly interrupted other than by appropriate and 
sympathetic surfacing.

Material used for road verges should be grass or gravel with existing footpaths kept to the 
present height and width. 

Street lighting should be avoided to continue to enjoy moonlight and starlight. Street furniture 
should be kept to a minimum.  Where street furniture is being replaced or introduced, 
traditional designs should be used to maintain the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

The stone and stone and brick boundaries should, where possible, be maintained in their 
present form with the same materials, appearance and traditional construction. 

New boundaries should be constructed preferably with stone, stone and brick or hedging.  
Where stone and brick are used, the local traditional appearance is encouraged.  Fences 
generally should not be used as boundary treatment facing public spaces. 

Roads and traffic

3.2.17 No main roads have ever come into the village.  The village crossroads from the mid 18th 
century consisted of four lanes: leading to the west a bridleway to Coleshill (as continues); 
a lane leading south through the village to bridleways to Longcot, etc. (as continues); a lane 
leading north to the Barn (here a hollow way is now used by road traffic to access the B4019) 
and a lane east formerly accessing Faringdon by way of Gipsy Lane.

3.2.18 With the 19th century growth of Swindon the route between Oxford and Swindon skirting 
the parish to the southeast gained significance and became a trunk road.  There is a disused 
portion of old road connecting the village to the road via the winding lane at the east end of 
Cherry Orchard. 

3.2.19 When the Faringdon by-pass was constructed in the 1970s a roundabout linking the village 
to the A420 was built slightly to the north of the previous junction re -using a portion of the 
bypassed Coxwell to Faringdon Road.  The roundabout lies at a significantly lower level than 
the former trunk road and access from the village out onto the road is difficult and dangerous.

3.2.20 The present northern road entrance to the village from the B4019 is down a single-track, 
steep and deeply-etched hollow way (Holloway) typical of medieval cart-tracks in use before 
the advent of horse ownership, coaching or vehicular use.  New evidence shows that vehicles 
unrelated to the village use this route throughout the day to drive between the B4019 and 
the A420 to avoid Faringdon, threatening the conservation and survival of this feature.  The 
junction with the A4019 is difficult and dangerous.

3.2.21 Where the B4019 from Faringdon to Coleshill and Swindon bisects the parish from Steed’s 
Farm past Badbury Hill and through the southern end of Coxwell Wood, the route is extremely 

Page 190



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

45

scenic, winding and hilly, with the northern entrance to Great Coxwell village (just described) 
set in a hollow, blind from both directions. 

3.2.22 The stretch of the A420 bounding the parish to the south-east is also hilly and winding.  
The existing entrances to Great Coxwell (giving access to Annabelle’s nursery, The Ranch 
and the former golf course) and to Chowle Farm estate are extremely dangerous, and any 
redevelopment of the properties between the two could create additional dangerous entries 
and exits within a very small stretch of road where the speed is unrestricted.

Policy NDS5

Proposals will be supported that improve access, with shared access where possible, to 
roadside businesses and domestic premises on the A420. 

Development should ensure that it does not endanger the safety of local vehicles, pedestrians, 
horse-riders and cyclists, as well as threatening the degradation of a hollow way. 

Positioning, plots

3.2.23 Houses are set back from the road with gaps between the buildings allowing vistas and 
glimpses throughout the village, or when set close to the road (village Sub Area A, sector 2), 
with gaps on one or more sides and/or down drives.

3.2.24 Houses are usually set at street/road level, or at the level established by a drive of several cars’ 
length; houses close to the street are not set on a bank or the crest of a hill, or in a depression 
(an exception is the terrace south of the Old School).

3.2.25 Views inwards, across, and up and down the village streets, benefit from the positioning of 
houses in conformity with the character of the sector, from the presence of trees and significant 
shrubs in front gardens where these exist allowing the streetscape to reflect the rural location, 
and from the use of local materials and/or a careful selection of building materials including 
natural materials, in a defined style and controlled palette.

3.2.26 The south-east view of the parish from the long stretch of the A420 gives an attractive and 
accurate impression of the rolling, green rural parish, and this picture is not at present spoilt by 
premises in Sub Area C, where buildings are set back in plots and do not break the tree line.  A 
possible exception is the poorly designed and maintained business premises at Chowle Farm.

3.2.27 The relatively small scale of individual buildings and their components (larger properties can 
consist of several smaller units of different periods) creates a sense of charm, space and privacy 
despite the very small size of the village.  Nothing overwhelms or overlooks. 

3.2.28 The gaps that remain between some of the houses allow significant glimpses and vistas. 

Policy NDS6

Houses should be set at street level or at the level established by a drive of several cars’ length, 
with gaps of sufficient size between new buildings or building works to retain these important 
vistas and glimpses (Maps 4 and 7). 

In Sub Area A, the scale, massing and bulk of building development should be commensurate 
with the surrounding buildings and their rural location.  In Sub Areas B and C, large buildings 
should be sensitively designed to avoid dominating rural views. 

Careful positioning of new build is necessary everywhere to maintain and support the privacy 
of existing buildings. Page 191



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

46

Drives, garages and parking plot size

3.2.29 Most driveways and garages are positioned to the side of houses, with screening of parking 
areas, where they exist, being predominantly hedges and walls, not closed fencing.  Driveway 
material is mainly paving or gravel.

3.2.30 There is great variability in the provision of parking provision in village Sub Area A, sector 2, 
with some houses providing parking in garages and drives for 5 or 6 cars, and others lacking 
any facilities or space and requiring on-street parking.  This occasionally has led to protracted 
blockages and potentially could lead to serious situations in an emergency.

Policy NDS7

Parking on-site should conform to the Highway Authority standard of parking provision for 
new houses proposed and should be beside houses, where possible, rather than intruding into 
the open frontage.

Planning permission may not be supported for new houses not providing on-site parking 
provision in accordance with the Highway Authority standard, or extensions decreasing 
existing provision (especially In village sector 2).

Parking areas should be surfaced using porous materials; tarmac and concrete are 
inappropriate. The use of hedges and walls as screening materials is preferred.

Garages and outbuildings should complement existing buildings.

Uncharacteristic, where flat roofed garages should be avoided.

Plot Size

3.2.31 Plot sizes vary in village Sub Area A, sector 2 where buildings themselves vary more in size, and 
are more uniformly spacious in Sub Area A, sectors 3 and 4. 

3.2.32 Approximate building footprint to plot size ratios varies from 10% to 30% with two-thirds 
having ratios of 20% or below.  This low ratio in almost all areas contributes to the sense of the 
countryside, that is characteristic of the whole area, as well as allowing tree cover to establish.  
Plot ratio is a more reliable indicator than density in relation to the character of the area.  

Policy NDS8

The building to plot ratio should be considered in each sector’s relation to the neighbouring 
properties, and any scheme which results in a significantly different ratio is likely to be 
unacceptable.  For roadside building plots in Sub Area C, the ratio of building to plot, and the 
positioning of buildings, should be carefully considered, because of the high visibility.

Bulk of buildings

3.2.33 Two storey buildings form the great majority in the neighbourhood.  An important feature of 
village Sub Area A, sector 2 is the lowness of storeys.  Ground levels are at natural ground level 
or occasionally dropped down into the hillside.  The pattern of buildings and the size of roofs 
are important factors in the overall perception of bulk.  The lack of bulk is of key importance in 
maintaining the character and appearance of the area.

Policy NDS9

New development should be no higher than two storeys with roof space behind dormers. 
Page 192



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

47

Designing accommodation above the second storey will only be acceptable if it is visually 
compatible with the scale of buildings in the surrounding area.  Storeys are low in village sector 
2 so the overall height of new buildings and extensions must be commensurate with existing 
buildings, irrespective of the number of storeys.

New buildings on steep gradients should be set sympathetically into the slope and present no 
more than a natural two-storey facade when viewed from below. 

In new developments, uniformity of design should not create long unbroken lines. 

The development of a number of smaller separate units is preferred to a large single building.  
In Sub Area C, roadside buildings should be set back from the road and no elements should be 
greater than two storeys or break the tree-line.

Developments of several houses should be arranged in small groups rather than large blocks, 
which are inappropriate for all sectors.

Roofs

3.2.34 Roofs are a very significant feature of the area because of the frequent use of local materials 
and traditional building techniques blending with the Corallian limestone and clay nature of 
the surrounding countryside.

3.2.35 The predominant characteristics of the roofs are as follows (by village sectors): 

Sector 1: Mostly stone tiles for the historic buildings, with concrete tiles for the 20th century 
buildings.  Pitched to steeply pitched roofs.

Sector 2: Thatch, stone tiles, slate, clay tiles, concrete tiles.  Pitched to steeply pitched.

Sector 3: Concrete tiles, slate.

Sector 4: Clay tiles, concrete tiles, cedar shingle.

•  Sub Area B: concrete tiles.

•  Sub Area C: concrete tiles, clay tiles.

3.2.36 The local building style is distinctive in its simplicity, with a simple undecorated treatment of 
roof edges, gables and ridges.

Policy NDS10

Roofs should be pitched and covered with materials appropriate to the sector, by preference 
natural slate, clay tiles, stone tiles or thatch. 

The use of additional gables, hipped roofs, decorative chimneys and other decorative features 
is not consistent with existing local features and should be discouraged, as should be towers, 
‘atria’ and other mock features. 

Walls

3.2.37 Walling is in natural materials, often locally sourced.  There are decorative coursing, random, 
un-coursed rubble; local Corallian limestone in a variety of widths and colours; ashlar 
limestone dressings and coursed stone appearing on later dwellings (Bradstone, Stonetex).  
Colour-washed lime render often covers stone beneath.  Berkshire orange brick usually appears 

Page 193



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

48

on smaller Victorian dwellings or on Georgian properties.  Decorative brickwork is often blue 
or buff for chimneys, quoins, doors and window detailing.  Timber framing lies behind render 
or brick infill panels.  Weatherboard is restricted to conversions from agricultural or cottage 
industry uses.  Concrete block (and Rockface concrete block) occurs in later build.

3.2.38 Walling (by village area/ sector):

• Sub Area A:

Sector 1: Stone, brick, Bradstone.

Sector 2: Stone with brick quoins, Bath stone, Bradstone, rubblestone, brick (rat-trap bond), 
rendered.

Sector 3: Bradstone, brick, rendered stone.

Sector 4: Concrete block, Rockface concrete block.

• Sub Area B:  Brick, rubble with brick quoins.

• Sub Area C:  Brick or stone (check) rendered and painted.

Policy NDS11

Extreme brick colouration, the use of coloured mortars and highly coloured rendering are 
unsuitable and are discouraged.

Corallian limestone rubble should be used wherever possible.

Large areas of unrelieved brickwork should be avoided. 

Materials such as the dominant brick, stone and tile should be used in village sector 2 and in 
new buildings, particularly where the development is located near or faces out across the key 
view-points described in this Design Statement.

Where stone and brick is used, traditional construction or appearance is encouraged.

Windows

3.2.39 Windows in the great majority of houses are proportional in size and number, and harmonious 
in style and shape with the structure.  Thus, most windows are not excessively tall, wide or 
numerous, and most are sufficient in size and number to give good light but providing privacy.  
Frame materials include wood (primarily) and PVC-covered metal.  Colours are white to off-
white to pale greenish grey or buff to brown.  Forms include vertical sash, casement, picture, 
Velux, Georgian and leaded lights.  Replacement windows are predominantly kept to the form 
of the original. 

Policy NDS12

Replacement windows should retain the form and materials of the original windows, and 
windows in extensions should mirror those in the original build.  Proportions, style, materials 
and colour scheme of new buildings and developments should be similar/sympathetic.  Large 
expanses of windows could be visually intrusive in this setting and should be avoided unless 
used for buildings with exceptional design quality and appropriate tree cover. 

Gardens and landscaping
Page 194



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

49

3.2.40 Gardens contribute significantly to the overall impression of the area as rural and 
predominantly green. Both large and small plots contain mature native species of shrubs and 
trees, as do the hedges of the fields visible from streets, rows and gardens. (Native species 
noted, and others felt appropriate, are listed in the St Giles churchyard survey which is available 
from St Giles church or the Parish Council). Many of the gardens contain hedges and walls 
with some having fences, and many of the front gardens even of modern houses preserve the 
existing rural walls and hedges. 

Policy NDS13

There should be sufficient green space retained around buildings to facilitate tree cover, 
including in Sub Area C.  Green landscaping should be retained/provided at the front of plots, 
between buildings and near the roadside. Replacement trees and shrubs should be native 
species, compatible with the limestone. 

Drainage

3.2.41 The geography of the area produces particular problems for drainage. Excessive water run-off 
on the main village street and in Puddleduck Lane causes flooding, and storm debris carried 
down the village stream could causes blockages where the stream goes underground, and 
consequent flooding.

Policy NDS14

Systems to reduce water run-off need to be incorporated into new developments. Soft and 
green landscaping is preferable to hard landscaping (hard surfacing in excess of access and 
parking requirements) and should incorporate beneficial sustainable drainage systems (SUDS).  
Hard surfacing should use porous paving, stone and gravel materials.

Developers need to consider the net increase in water and waste water demand to serve their 
developments and impact the development may have further down the network, if no/low 
water pressure and internal/external sewage flooding of property is to be avoided.

Developers will be required to demonstrate that there is adequate wastewater and water 
supply capacity both on and off the site to serve the development and that it would not lead to 
problems for existing or new users. In some circumstances it may be necessary for developers 
to fund studies to ascertain whether the proposed development will lead to overloading of 
existing wastewater and water infrastructure.

We would therefore recommend that developers engage with Thames Water at the earliest 
opportunity to establish the following:

• The developments demand for water supply and network infrastructure both on and off site 
and can it be met. 

• The developments demand for sewage treatment and sewerage network infrastructure 
both on and off site and can it be met.  

• The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the area and downstream and 
can it be met.

Thames Water must also be consulted regarding proposals involving building over or close 
to a public sewer. If building over or close to a public sewer is agreed by Thames Water it will 
need to be regulated by an Agreement in order to protect the public sewer and/or apparatus 
in question. It may be possible for public sewers or water mains to be moved at a developer's 

Page 195



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

50

request so as to accommodate development in accordance with Section 185 of the Water Act 
1989.

Page 196



Section 4
Appendices

18

19

20

21

22

Page 197



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

52

4 Appendices

4.1 List of maps and photographs 

Maps

(© Crown Copyright and database rights 2014 Ordnance Survey 100054021)

1. Boundaries and Sub-Areas

2. Sub Area A showing Character Areas

3. Badbury Hill

4. Sub Area A showing Conservation Area, green space and vistas in village

5. Green Buffer

6. Woodland and Hedgerows 

7. Public Rights of Way, with public green spaces and vistas in parish

Page 198



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

53

Photographs 

1 Aerial view of Great Coxwell from the NNW Front Cover
2 St Giles church Page 4
3 The Reading Room Page 4
4 Sub Area A: the village Page 4
5 The Great Barn Page 4
6 Sub Area B: farmland Page 4
7 From above the Great Barn, view over village and eastern 

parish to the Ridgeway and White Horse (Sub Areas A, B and 
C). Photograph courtesy John Rounce ©

Page 4

8 Built environment: old and new in the village (Sub Area A): 
coursed stone and gravel

Page 12

9 Transport: Puddleduck Lane and bridleway west to Coleshill 
(Sub Area A): unmarked road and soft verges

Page 12

10 Community Life: village Park, (Sub Area A): maintained by 
the Parish Council

Page 12

11 Roofs: Thatchers at work on one of the village’s thatched 
roofs

Page 12

12 Environment and Design Quality: view of the village from 
farmland at the end of Puddleduck Lane (Sub Area A): rural 
environment

Page 12

13 Main village street, south end, looking north (Sub Area A): 
newer homes using local materials, with soft verges, hedges 
and gravel drives

Page 26

14 War Memorial (Sub Area A): scene of annual Remembrance 
Day service

Page 26

15 View east from bottom of main village street (Sub Area A) 
over field (Sub Area C): proposed green buffer

Page 26

16 The “Ranch“ from the south-east across the Coxwell Road 
(Sub Area C): view of farmland proposed as Green Buffer 
beyond

Page 26

17 Badbury Clump in springtime (Sub Area B). Photograph 
courtesy Trish Wickstead ©

Page 26

18 View of the Ridgeway and distant White Horse,  south-east 
across village from National Trust farmland (Sub Areas A, B, 
C): the village stream runs along the west (near) side of the 
village

Page 51

19 The south end of the village, listed 17th - (possibly 16th) 
century farmhouse ‘Morys’ (Sub Area A): rural roadscape 
with soft verges, walls of brick and local rubblestone

Page 51

20 The Great Barn from the field to the west, filled with poppies Page 51
21 The south end of the village, view northwest (Sub Areas A, 

B): picket fence
Page 51

22 The south end of the village, where the made road begins 
(Sub Area A): rural roadscape with soft verges and mature 
trees

Page 51

Page 199



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

54

23 Pitched stone path to church (Sub Area A): ancient village 
Green and pump, centre left - Back Cover

Back Cover

24 View north up main village street (Sub Area A): rural 
roadscape with soft verges, hedges and mature trees

Back Cover

25 25 - A drive and outbuildings south of the centre of the village 
(Sub Area A):  shared access, gravel drive, green verges and 
hedges, mature trees

Back Cover

26 26 - Commercial activity: harvest in the fields to the east of 
the village (Sub Area B)

Page 15

27 27 - View east north-east from the Great Barn (left) and 
Shelter Shed and Granary (right) over farmland proposed 
as green buffer (Sub Area C): rural setting of a nationally 
important Grade One listed building

Page 14

28 28 - Looking south down Coxwell Road to roundabout and 
exit to A420 (Sub Area C): on either side, the village’s nearest 
request bus-stops, unsheltered 

Page 23

29 Looking west across ‘Siberia’ east field toward village (Sub-
Area C): footpath to the village’s nearest sheltered bus-stop  
(Policy CA3, p. 23)

Page 30

Page 200



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

55

4.2 Summary of listed buildings and Scheduled Ancient Monuments

Badbury Camp Scheduled Monument
Church of St Giles Listed Grade II*
Monuments in churchyard:

Carter monument
Chest tomb to William Whitfield
Chest tomb 4 metres north-east of the 
north-east corner of the church
Mobse monument
Swan monument
Tombstone (17th century) 2 metres east 
of the east end of the church 

Listed Grade II

 Great Barn Scheduled Monument

Listed Grade I
Shelter Shed with Granary Listed Grade II
Houses:

Chapel House

Court House Farmhouse

Danes Cottage

Danes House and front garden wall

Green’s Farm House

Holloway and attached railings

Manor Cottage

Morys

Pear Tree Cottage

Wayside 

Listed Grade II

Other:

K6 Telephone kiosk

Milestone on A4019, 70 metres west of 
the turning to Great Coxwell

Listed Grade II

Page 201



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

56

4.3 Bibliography & summary of evidence base

Parishioners and operators of local businesses expressed their views and comments in 
response to a questionnaire and at Parish meetings, 2012 to early 2013.   These were followed 
by informal meetings and scoping interviews that took place throughout 2013 and a period of 
formal consultation in the spring of 2014.  The ensuing policies have been developed by the 
Parish Neighbourhood Planning team in 2014.

The Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan Consultation Report summarises the information base 
for the Plan.  Of necessity, much of the information gathered has been received verbally and in 
writing from local residents and business owners.  Relatively few public records are available 
for Great Coxwell parish alone, e.g. distinct from the ward, region, and so on.  For example, 
the adjacent market town of Faringdon’s data (Faringdon and the Coxwells ward), if included, 
would render the Great Coxwell information statistically invalid for our parish of some 365 
people.  On the plus side, it has been possible to supplement our base data with feedback from 
nearly 100% of local people, so that the Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan is factually accurate 
and representative of local opinion, as far as is deemed necessary for a small rural parish.

There follows a summary of the sources used to develop and update the Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plan and associated documents:

Area Designation Consultation Report, September 2013

Bibliotheca Topographica Britannia XIII, 1783
Buildings of England, Berkshire, Nikolaus Pevsner
Campaign to Protect Rural England, How to Shape Where You Live: A Guide to Neighbourhood 
Planning
Council for British Archaeology Group 9, Vol. 10, 1980, pp 144-145
Council for British Archaeology Group 9, Vol.13, 1983, pp128-129
Great Coxwell, 2000 Years of Village Life, Graham Wright, 1999
Great Coxwell, Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey, Ecoconsult Limited, 2013
Guidance Note 15 (PPG15) Planning and the Historic Environment, 1994
National Planning Policy Framework, 2012
National Planning Policy Guidance, 2019
National Trust Conservation Principles
Nature and the National Trust, 2005
Neighbourhood Planning in the Vale of White Horse, District Council, 2012
Office for National Statistics: Neighbourhood Statistics, 2001 and 2011
Oxfordshire County Council, Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study
Oxfordshire Nature Conservation Forum
Planning for the Environment at the Neighbourhood Level, Natural England, LIT6524
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning Policy
Radley Neighbourhood Plan
Register of Scheduled Monuments and Listed Buildings, English Heritage
St Giles Hill, Winchester, Neighbourhood Design Statement, 2011
South Oxfordshire Design Guide, Section 5, Building Design
Thame Neighbourhood Plan
The Ancient Earthworks of North Berkshire, Huntingford, 1930
The Life of William Morris, J W Mackail, Vol. 1, 1901
The Midvale Ridge, Natural Area Profile, English Nature (Natural England), NA64
The Parish Church of St Giles, Great Coxwell, S Fletcher, in Oxoniensia LVIII, 1993
The Society of Antiquaries
The Victoria County History, Berkshire
Vale of White Horse District Council Local Plan, 2031Page 202



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan, 2020 - 2031 March 2020

57

Vale of White Horse District Council Local Plan, 2011 (adopted in July 2006)        
Woodcote Parish Plan
Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan
Wytham Conservation Area Review, 2008.

Page 203



Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan
23 24

25

Page 204



1

Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

 Report of Head of Finance
Author: Emma Creed
Telephone: 01235 422498
Textphone: 18001 01235 422498
E-mail: emma.creed@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible for Finance:  Councillor Leigh Rawlins
Telephone:  01189 722565
Email:  leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk

VWHDC cabinet member responsible for Finance:  Councillor Andrew Crawford
Telephone:  01235 772134
Email:  andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee, Cabinet and Council
DATE: 22 September 2020 by Joint Audit and Governance Committee
            1 October 2020 (S) / 2 October 2020 (V) by Cabinet
            8 October 2020 (S) / 7 October 2020 (V) by Council

Treasury Outturn 2019-20
 
That Joint Audit and Governance Committee:

1.  notes the treasury management outturn report 2019/20, 

2.  is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 
treasury management strategy and policy, and

3.  make any comments and recommendations to Cabinets as necessary. 

That Cabinet:

Considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and 
recommends Council to:

1. approve the treasury management outturn report for 2019/20;

2. approve the actual 2019/20 prudential indicators within the report.

Page 205

Agenda Item 9

mailto:emma.creed@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


2

Purpose of report

1. This report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring 
and reporting of the treasury management activities and that the councils’ 
prudential indicators are reported to the councils at the end of the year.  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the financial year 2019/20.

2. This complies with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice on Treasury Management.

Strategic objectives

3. Effective treasury management is required to help the councils meet their strategic 
objectives.

Background

4. The councils’ treasury activities are strictly regulated by legislation.  The CIPFA 
Prudential Code and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice require a 
report to be provided to the councils at the end of the financial year.  

5. This report provides details on the treasury activity and performance for 2019/20 
against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year in the 2019/20 
Treasury Management Strategy (TMS), approved by each council in February 
2019.  Each council is required to approve this report.

6. Link Asset Services are the councils’ retained treasury advisors.  

7. Between 1 August 2016 and 31 March 2020, the operational treasury management 
staff were outsourced to Capita.  The executive decision making function remained 
with the head of finance throughout this time.  On 1 April 2020, the treasury 
management function was brought back inhouse.

8. There are three types of investment, the performance of which is covered in this 
report

a. True treasury investments – these investments are primarily for generating 
interest for the councils. Examples of these are loans to banks or other local 
authorities. It also includes investments in property funds.

b. Non-treasury loans – these are loans to third parties, which earn a return, 
but they do not fall under the strict definition of a treasury investment.  

c. Property investments - both councils have investment properties let on 
commercial basis. The primary purpose of holding these assets is for 
investment purposes and they are not part of regeneration schemes.     

9. The councils continue to invest with regard for security, liquidity and yield, in that 
order.

Economic conditions and factors effecting investment returns 
during 2019/20

Page 206



3

10.UK bank base rates were held at 0.75 per cent until March 2020.  The coronavirus 
pandemic forced the Bank of England to make two rate cuts in quick succession, 
first to 0.25 per cent and then to 0.10 per cent on 19 March.  Link Asset Services 
provide a regular forecast of interest rates and the latest forecast is reproduced in 
appendix A.  This forecast shows that base rates are expected to remain at 0.10 
per cent for the foreseeable future. 

11.The TMS makes clear that investment priority is given to the security of principal in 
the first instance.  As a result, investments have only been made with 
counterparties of high credit quality and low risk. Since the global banking crisis 
and the downgrading of the credit ratings of many banks, it has become 
increasingly difficult to place money at competitive rates, as institutions with high 
credit ratings have been offering lower rates. 

12.Average treasury investment balances were higher for both councils than expected 
in the year.  This arose from a combination of accumulated revenue and capital 
surpluses/slippage and unbudgeted grant receipts. This was also the case in 
2018/19.  

13. Investments that have helped to keep yields up for both councils include longer 
term investments taken out when rates were higher, such as the CCLA property 
fund at both councils, and the unit trusts at South. 

14.Outlook for 2020/21 –interest rates are expected remain at 0.10 per cent for the 
next eighteen months.  There is a market expectation that a further cut in rates 
could happen in the latter half of 2021.  Concerns are mounting that unemployment 
will rise if those currently on furlough lose their jobs.  However, Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) members are hopeful we will see a good economic recovery 
post lockdown.

Summary of investment activities during 2019/20

15.Prudential limits (security).  Both councils are required by the Prudential Code to 
report on the limits set each year in the TMS.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury function remains within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive, they may impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  These limits are shown in 
appendix B.

16.Yield - the performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below.  

 

South Treasury 
investments 

£000

Non 
treasury 

loan    
£000

Sub 
Total 
£000

Property 
investment 

£000

Overall 
total 
£000

1 Average investment balance 159,706 15,000 174,706 7,800 182,505 
2 Budgeted investment income 2,184 623 2,807   
3 Actual investment income 2,620 623 3,243 391 3,634 
4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 436 0 436   
5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 1.64% 4.15% 1.86% 5.01% 1.99%

Page 207



4

 

Vale Treasury 
investments 

£000

Property 
investment      

£000

Overall total 
£000

1 Average investment balance 101,686 5,942 107,628 
2 Budgeted investment income 762   
3 Actual investment income 1,284 154 1,438 
4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 522   
5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 1.26% 2.59% 1.34%

Note: £135,000 of treasury investment income relates to interest earned on Enterprise Zone balances

17.Both councils have exceeded treasury budgeted investment income this year in 
terms of actual income against budget and rates of return against benchmark.  
More detail on benchmarks is included in the appendices that follow this report. 

18.Detailed reports on the treasury activities for each council and performance for 
2019/20 against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year are 
contained in appendix C – South Oxfordshire DC and appendix D – Vale of White 
Horse DC.  

19.A detailed list of both councils’ treasury investments as at 31 March 2020 is shown 
at appendix E.

Debt activity during 2019/20

20.During 2019/20, there has not been a need for either council to borrow and both 
councils continue to take a prudent approach to their debt strategy.  The prudential 
indicators and limits set out in appendix B provide the scope and flexibility for the 
Council to borrow in the short-term, if such a need arose, for cash flow purposes to 
support the council(s) in the achievement of their service objectives.    

Financial implications

21.The treasury investments made in 2019/20 ensured over £3 million of actual 
investment income was achieved for SODC during the year and over £1 million for 
VOWHDC.  Income earned from investments supports the councils’ medium term 
financial plans and contributes to the councils’ balances or supports the in-year 
expenditure programmes.   

22.Looking forward, income is anticipated to remain stable with any increase due to 
ongoing surplus cash balances and rises in market rates offset by a general 
reduction in the balances available to invest.  This will be reflected in the councils’ 
future budgets and medium term financial plans.

Legal implications

23.There are no significant legal implications.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services and the DCLG Local 
Government Investment Guidance provides assurance that the councils’ 
investments are, and will continue to be, within their legal powers.

Page 208



5

Conclusion

24.Despite a difficult operating environment, both councils continued to make 
investments during 2019/20 that maintained security and liquidity whilst providing a 
return that exceeded market benchmarks.    

Background papers

 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) code of practice 
for treasury management in the public sector.

 DCLG Local Government Investment Guidance
 CIPFA treasury management in the public services code of practice and cross 

sectoral guidance notes
 Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 – Councils in February 2019.

Appendices

A. Interest rate forecasts
B. Prudential limits 
C. SODC – Treasury activities 2019-2020
D. VWHDC – Treasury activities 2019-2020 
E. Treasury investments as at 31 March 2020
F. Glossary of terms

Page 209



Appendix A

Interest rate forecast as at July 2020 

The table below shows Link Asset Services’ forecast of the expected movement in medium term interest rates:

 Sep 20 Dec 20 Mar 21 Jun 21 Sep 21 Dec 21 Mar 22
BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10
3 m LIBID 0.40 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30
6 m LIBID 0.55 0.50 0.45 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40
12 m LIBID 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
     
5 yr PWLB 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10
10 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30
25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70
50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50

P
age 210



Appendix B
Prudential limits (indicators) as at March 2020

Prudential indicators as at 31 March 2020      
 Vale South
  

 
Original 

estimate
Actual 

position
Original 

estimate
Actual 

position
 £m £m £m £m
Authorised limit for external debt  
Borrowing 30 0 30 0
Other long term liabilities 5 0 0 0
 35 0 30 0
  
Operational boundary for external debt  
Borrowing 25 0 25 0
Other long term liabilities 5 0 0 0
 30 0 25 0
Investments  
Interest rate exposures  
Limits on fixed interest rates % 100% 87% 100% 84%
Limits on variable interest rates £ 50 10 50 9
Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days  
Upper limit for principal sums invested > 364 days £ 40 23 70 26
Limit to be placed on investments to maturity  

1 - 2 years NA NA NA NA
2 - 5 years NA NA NA NA
5 years + NA NA NA NA

      

Prudential indicators – explanatory note

Debt

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with approved 
treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based on 
estimates of most likely, but not worst case, scenario.  
The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash flows.  
The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position.

Interest rate exposures

The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable rate 
of interest.

Page 211



Appendix B

Investments

Interest rate exposure

The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the net 
position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding.

Principal sums invested

This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days.

Page 212



Appendix C

1

SODC treasury activities in 2019/20

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2020

1. The council’s treasury investments, analysed by age as at 31 March 2020 were as 
follows: 

Table 1: maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2020:
    
 £000 % holding  
Call 500 0%  
Money market fund 8,462 6%  
Cash available within 1 week 8,962 6%  
Up to 4 months 53,000 36%    
5-6 months 14,000 9%  
6 months to 1 year 30,000 20%  
Over 1 year 26,000 17%  
Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander 222 0%  
Total cash deposits 132,184 88%  
CCLA Property Fund 6,831 5%  
Equities 10,006 7%  
Total investments 149,021 100%  

2. Most of the funds invested are held in the form of fixed interest rate and term cash 
deposits. These provide some certainty over the investment return. 

3. The investment profile is organised in order to ensure sufficient liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within 
all treasury management activities.

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms how the portfolio above is spread 
across the investment types:

Banks - UK Fixed 
Deposits
 £32,000

 21%

Building societies - 
fixed deposits

 £69,000
 46%

Local Authorities
 £12,000

 8%

Housing Associations
 £10,000

 7%

Money Market Funds
 £8,462

 6%

CCLA
 £6,831

 5%

Unit Trusts
 £10,006

 7%

Banks - UK Call 
accounts

 £500
 0%

Portfolio analysis £000

Treasury investment income 

Page 213



Appendix C

2

5. The total income earned on investments during 2019/20 was £2.6 million, 
compared to the original budget of £2.2 million, as shown in table 2 below:

Table 2:  Investment interest earned by investment type
 
 Annual Actual Variation
Investment type Budget Interest  
  £000 £000 £000
  
Fixed term and call 1,429 1,758 329
Equities 456 574 118
CCLA property fund  299 288 (11)
  2,184 2,620 436

6. The actual return achieved was £0.4 million more than the original budget. This 
was due to:

 Interest earned on cash deposits was £0.3 million higher than forecast 
principally due to balances available to invest being more than predicted in 
the 2019/20 budget setting. 

 Dividend received on equities was £118,000 higher than forecast. The value 
of our equities holding tracks the FTSE.  For most of the financial year this 
rose, resulting in an increase in dividends received.  When the coronavirus 
pandemic struck at the beginning of 2020 the FTSE fell sharply, which 
resulted in the year end losses seen in tables four and five below.

7. The actual average rate of return on treasury investments for the year was 1.64 
per cent (1.33 in 2018/19). 

Performance measurement

8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2020 is shown in appendix E.  All 
investments were with approved counterparties.  The average level of 
investments held was £160 million. Table 3 below shows in summary the 
performance of the council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out 
in the TMS.  These benchmarks are used to assess and monitor the council’s 
treasury investment performance for each type of investment.

9. The £160 million does not represent the council’s usable, cash backed reserves, 
which at 31 March 2020 totalled £118 million.  The difference represents the 
council’s working capital balance and capital grants received in advance of spend.   

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark  

  
Benchmark 

Return
Actual 
Return

Growth 
(Below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks
  
Bank & Building Society 
deposits - internally managed 0.64% 1.64% 1.00% 3 Month LIBID
Equities (21.89%) (23.46%) (1.57%) FTSE All Shares Index
Property related investments 
(excluding SOHA loan)*

3.69% 5.77% 2.08% IPD balanced property 
unit trust index

      

Page 214



Appendix C

3

Note: the benchmark return for unit trusts and CCLA includes the movement in 
capital value.  All other benchmarks reflect earnings of treasury investment 
income.  

10.Returns on Bank and building society deposits (Call accounts, money market 
funds and fixed term deposits) are benchmarked against the three-month LIBID 
rate, which was an average of 0.64 per cent for 2019/20.  The performance for the 
year of 1.64 per cent exceeded the benchmark by 1.00 per cent.  

11. It remained difficult to place investments because of continued financial 
uncertainty. Some good rates were achieved which contributed to the increase in 
investment income during the year. 

12.The CCLA property fund principal investment of £5 million (March 2013) 
increased in value during 2019/20 to £6.8 million.  Dividends received in the year 
totalled £0.3 million. Both the capital appreciation and the interest earned are 
included in the performance of 5.77 per cent achieved above.  The capital gain is 
however not realised and so for comparison purposes, the actual rate of return is 
interest as a factor of market value of holding being 3.69 per cent. 

Equities 

13.The council’s holdings with the Legal & General (L&G) UK 100 Index Trust were 
purchased in 2000/01 at an initial cost of £10 million.  This is an authorised unit 
trust incorporated in the United Kingdom and regulated by the FSA.  The trust’s 
objective is to track the capital performance of the UK equity market as 
represented by the FTSE 100 index which represents 98-99 per cent of the UK 
market capitalisation.

14.The index shows the performance of all eligible companies listed on the London 
Stock Exchange main market and today covers 616 constituents with a combined 
value of nearly £1.9 trillion.  It is recognised as the main benchmark for unit trusts.  

Table 4: Unit Trusts - Movement in capital   
 £ £
Market Value as at 31.3.20 10,006,338
  
Less:  
Dividends received in year           443,923  
Accrued dividends           130,231  
        (574,154)
  
Amended market value as at 31.3.20 9,432,184
  
Market value as at 1.4.19 12,322,880
  
Decrease in Market Value in year   (2,890,696)

15.The decrease above is compared to the performance of the stock market as a 
whole using the benchmarking in table 5 below.  The fund’s under performance of 
1.57 per cent compared with the stock market equates to £193,172 in real terms.    

Page 215



Appendix C

4

Table 5: Unit Trust performance  
   
Decrease in FTSE all share was (21.89%)
  
Decrease in Market Value (23.46%)
  
Under-performance (1.57%)
   
 £
Market value as at 1.4.19       12,322,880 
  
Adjusted for FTSE change           (2,697,523) 
  
Benchmark Market Value at 31.3.20       9,625,356 
  
Amended market value as at 31.3.20       9,432,184 
  
Under performance              (193,172) 

16.The performance of the fund over the past three years is summarised in table 5.1 
below. The justification for holding this investment is regularly reviewed.

Table 5.1 Unit Trust past performance 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
  
Performance against FTSE all share % 0.71% 0.60% (1.57%)
(Under)/Over  
Performance against FTSE all share £000            95,067           70,350      (193,172) 
(Under)/Over  
    

  

17.Dividends received of £0.6 million were reinvested to acquire additional fund 
units. 

18. Officers monitor the performance of the unit trust holding on a regular basis.  
When the market value reaches £14 million, a disposal of £2 million is made. No 
disposal took place during 2019/20.

 

Non-treasury investment loan

19.During 2013/14, the council entered into a secured loan agreement with SOHA to 
enable them to finance affordable housing schemes.  The Council lent £15 million 
over 20 years at a fixed rate of 4.15 per cent.  Interest is paid quarterly and during 
2019/20, the council received £0.6 million. 

Land and property

20.The Council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, 
depots, garages, and shops that are let on a commercial basis. These assets are 
valued on an annual basis and had average net book value of £7.8 million during 
2019/20 (£6.46 million at 31 March 2019).  Income generated was £0.39 million in 
2019/20 (£0.32 million in 2018/19) giving a gross rate of return of 5.01 per cent.  

Page 216



Appendix C

5

21.Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with the treasury rates.

Liquidity and yield

22.The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements 
and aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio over longer dated cash deposits 
where possible.  

23.The amount maintained for liquidity was £9 million. 

Page 217



Appendix D

1

VWHDC detailed treasury performance in 2019/20

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2020

1. The council’s treasury investments analysed by age as at 31 March 2020 were as 
follows: 

Table 1: maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2020:
    
    
 £000 % holding  
Call 0 0%  
Money market fund 9,910 11%  
Cash available within 1 week 9,910 11%  
Up to 4 months 5,000 5%    
5-6 months 10,000 11%  
6 months to 1 year 43,500 46%  
Over 1 year 23,000 24%  
  
Total cash deposits 91,410 97%  
  
CCLA Property Fund 2,606 3%  
  
Total investments 94,016 100%  

2. Most of the funds invested are held in the form of fixed interest rate and term cash 
deposits. These provide some certainty over the investment return.  

3. The investment profile is organised in order to ensure sufficient liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within 
all treasury management activities.

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms how the portfolio above is spread 
across  investment types:

Banks - UK fixed 
deposits  £22,000  23%

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[VALUE]

 [PERCENTAGE]

Local authorities  
£6,500  7%

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[VALUE]

 [PERCENTAGE]

Money Market Funds  
£9,910  11%

CCLA  £2,606  3%

Portfolio Analysis (£000)

Page 218



Appendix D

2

Treasury investment income
5. The total interest earned on treasury investments during 2019/20 was £1.5 million 

compared to the original budget estimate of £0.7 million as shown in table 2 below:

Table 2: Investment interest earned by investment type  
  
 Annual Actual Variation
Investment type Budget Interest  
 £000 £000 £000
Fixed term and call                648 1,169                521 
CCLA Property Fund                114 115                    1 
Total Interest  762 1,284 522 

Note: £135,000 of treasury investment income relates to interest earned on Enterprise Zone balances

6. The actual return achieved was £0.5 million higher than the original budget. This 
was primarily due to average balances throughout the year remaining higher than 
forecast. 

7. The total actual average interest rate achieved for the year was 1.26 per cent.

Performance measurement
8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2020 is shown in appendix E. All 

investments were with approved counterparties. The average level of investments 
held was £102 million.  At 31 March 2020 the council’s usable, cash backed 
reserves totalled around £40 million.  The difference represents working capital 
and capital grants received in advance. Table 3 below shows in summary the 
performance of the council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out 
in the TMS. These benchmarks are used to assess and monitor the council’s 
treasury investment performance for each type of investment.

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark
 Benchmark 

return
Actual 
return

Growth 
(below)/above 

Benchmark

Benchmarks

Internally managed - Bank & 
Building Society deposits

0.64% 1.26% 0.62% 3 month LIBID

Property related funds (CCLA)* 3.69% 5.77% 2.08%

IPD balanced 
property unit trust 

index
 *Source: CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Report March 2020

9. Returns on bank and building society deposits (internally managed cash deposits) 
are benchmarked against the 3-month LIBID rate, which was an average of 0.64 
per cent for 2019/20.  The performance for the year of 1.26 per cent exceeded the 
benchmark by 0.62 per cent. 

Page 219



Appendix D

3

10. It remained difficult to place investments because of continued financial 
uncertainty. Some good rates were achieved which contributed to the increase in 
investment income during the year.

11.The CCLA property fund principal investment of £2 million (April 2013) increased in 
value during 2019/20 to £2.6 million.  Dividends received in the year totalled £0.1 
million. Both the capital appreciation and the interest earned are included in the 
performance of 5.77 per cent achieved above.  The capital gain is however not 
realised and so for comparison purposes, the actual rate of return is interest as a 
factor of market value of holding being 3.69 per cent. 

Land and Property
12.The council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, offices 

and shops that are let on a commercial basis.  These assets are valued on an 
annual basis and had an average net book value of £5.9 million during 2019/20 
(£7.1 million as at 31 March 2019).  Income generated was £0.2 million (£0.4 
million in 2018/19).  This is equivalent to a gross return of 2.59 per cent.

13.Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with the treasury rates.

Liquidity and yield

14.The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements and 
has also aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio over longer dated cash 
deposits where possible.  

15.The amount maintained for liquidity was £9.9 million.

Page 220



Appendix E
South Oxfordshire District Council investments (excluding KSF) as at 31 March 2020

Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Principal Rate
Date

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Apr-20 3,500,000 1.22%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Apr-20 2,000,000 1.03%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Apr-20 3,000,000 1.03%
National Counties Building Society Fixed Apr-20 2,500,000 1.30%
Principality Building Society Fixed Apr-20 2,000,000 1.20%
Close Brothers Fixed Apr-20 2,000,000 1.25%
Close Brothers Fixed Apr-20 2,000,000 1.25%
Principality Building Society Fixed May-20 2,500,000 1.15%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed May-20 2,000,000 1.22%
National Counties Building Society Fixed May-20 1,000,000 1.26%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed May-20 2,500,000 1.10%
Principality Building Society Fixed May-20 1,500,000 1.16%
National Counties Building Society Fixed May-20 1,500,000 1.26%
National Counties Building Society Fixed May-20 1,000,000 1.25%
Nottingham Building Society Fixed May-20 1,000,000 1.18%
Saffron Building Society Fixed Jun-20 2,500,000 1.17%
Nottingham Building Society Fixed Jun-20 1,000,000 1.15%
Principality Building Society Fixed Jun-20 3,000,000 1.15%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Jun-20 2,000,000 1.30%
Principality Building Society Fixed Jul-20 4,000,000 1.10%
Cumberland Building Society Fixed Jul-20 3,000,000 1.00%
Principality Building Society Fixed Jul-20 2,000,000 1.10%
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Jul-20 1,000,000 1.20%
Progressive Building Society Fixed Jul-20 2,500,000 1.15%
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Jul-20 2,000,000 1.20%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 3,500,000 2.70%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 1,500,000 2.70%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-20 2,000,000 1.25%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-20 2,000,000 1.25%
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Sep-20 3,000,000 1.05%
Newbury Builiding Society Fixed Sep-20 2,000,000 1.20%
Cambridge BS Fixed Oct-20 3,000,000 1.15%
Progressive Building Society Fixed Oct-20 1,000,000 1.10%
Cambridge BS Fixed Oct-20 2,000,000 1.15%
Progressive Building Society Fixed Oct-20 2,000,000 1.10%
Newbury Builiding Society Fixed Nov-20 1,000,000 1.10%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-20 2,000,000 1.03%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-20 2,000,000 1.03%
Nottingham Building Society Fixed Dec-20 3,000,000 0.90%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Dec-20 2,000,000 1.02%
Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Jan-21 2,000,000 1.45%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Jan-21 2,000,000 2.50%
Close Brothers Fixed Mar-21 3,000,000 1.50%
Close Brothers Fixed Mar-21 2,000,000 1.00%
Close Brothers Fixed Mar-21 2,000,000 1.00%
Close Brothers Fixed Mar-21 1,000,000 1.50%
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Apr-21 3,000,000 1.75%
Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Apr-21 3,000,000 1.70%
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Apr-21 3,000,000 1.78%
Places for People Fixed May-21 2,000,000 1.70%
Places for People Fixed Jun-21 3,000,000 1.70%
Bury MBC Fixed Jul-21 5,000,000 1.50%
Lloyds Bank Fixed Jul-21 2,000,000 1.30%
Close Brothers Fixed Nov-21 3,000,000 1.30%
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Feb-23 2,000,000 2.46%

Santander Call 401,256 0.40%
Royal Bank of Scotland Call 2,343 0.25%
Royal Bank of Scotland Call 96,095 0.25%
Goldman Sachs MMF 7,772,000 Variable
Blackrock MMF 690,000 Variable
L&G Equities Unit trust 10,006,338 Variable
CCLA - property fund Property fund 5,000,000 3.69%

GRAND TOTAL 146,968,032Page 221



Appendix E
Vale of White Horse District Council investments as at 31 March 2020
Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Principal Rate

Date
Progressive Building Society Fixed Jun-20 3,000,000 1.22%
National Counties Building Society Fixed Jun-20 1,000,000 1.25%
National Counties Building Society Fixed Jul-20 1,000,000 1.26%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 2,000,000 2.70%
Newbury Building Society Fixed Sep-20 1,000,000 1.20%
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Sep-20 1,000,000 1.05%
National Counties Building Society Fixed Sep-20 1,000,000 1.20%
Principality Building Society Fixed Sep-20 3,000,000 1.06%
Skipton Building Society Fixed Sep-20 2,000,000 0.95%
Cambridge Building Society Fixed Oct-20 2,000,000 1.15%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Oct-20 2,000,000 0.95%
Principality Building Society Fixed Nov-20 1,500,000 0.95%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-20 1,500,000 1.03%
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Nov-20 1,500,000 1.05%
Principality Building Society Fixed Nov-20 500,000 1.00%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-20 1,000,000 1.00%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Dec-20 1,500,000 1.20%
Skipton Building Society Fixed Dec-20 5,000,000 0.91%
Principality Building Society Fixed Dec-20 2,000,000 1.00%
Skipton Building Society Fixed Dec-20 2,000,000 0.90%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Jan-21 2,000,000 2.50%
North Tyneside Council Fixed Jan-21 2,500,000 0.95%
Lloyds Bank Fixed Jan-21 10,000,000 1.10%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Feb-21 1,500,000 1.20%
Cambridgeshire County Council Fixed Feb-21 2,000,000 1.45%
Southern Housing Group Fixed Mar-21 5,000,000 1.60%
Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Apr-21 2,000,000 1.70%
Places For People Homes Ltd Fixed Jun-21 2,000,000 1.70%
Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Jun-21 2,000,000 1.70%
Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Jul-21 1,000,000 1.60%
Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Sep-21 2,000,000 1.30%
Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed Oct-21 1,000,000 1.70%
Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Nov-21 2,000,000 1.30%
Worthing Borough Council Fixed Nov-21 3,000,000 1.30%
Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Jan-22 4,000,000 1.30%
Places For People Homes Ltd Fixed Feb-22 2,000,000 1.80%
Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Mar-22 2,000,000 1.30%

Goldman Sachs MMF 9,690,000 Variable
LGIM MMF 220,000 Variable
CCLA Property fund 2,000,000 3.69%
GRAND TOTAL 93,410,000

Note – these do not reconcile to table 1 figures seen in appendix c and d as these are 
original investment levels whereas the values in table 1 are the fair values of 
investments held.

Page 222



Appendix F

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Basis point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01%

Base rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK.

Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance 
of a fund manager can be compared.

Bill of Exchange A non-interest-bearing written order used primarily in 
international trade that binds one party to pay a fixed sum of 
money to another party at a predetermined future date. 

Callable Deposit A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time.  However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre agreed dates, before maturity.  This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was 
agreed.  If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being 
repaid rises, as cheaper money can be found by the borrower.

[Cash] Fund 
Management

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio 
of cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts 
and distribution of dividends and interest, and all other 
administrative work in connection with the portfolio.

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD)

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date.  They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD.

Commercial 
Paper

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers.  Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although 
some may be interest bearing.

Corporate Bond Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by 
companies.  However, the term is used to cover all bonds other 
than those issued by governments in their own currencies and 
includes issues by companies, supranational organisations and 
government agencies.

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.)

Credit Default 
Swap (CDS)

A swap designed to transfer the credit exposure of fixed income 
products between parties.  The buyer of a credit swap receives 
credit protection, whereas the seller of the swap guarantees the 
credit worthiness of the product.  By doing this, the risk of default 
is transferred from the holder of the fixed income security to the 
seller of the swap.

Page 223



Appendix F
Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR)

The amount the council has to borrow to fund its capital 
commitments.

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.

CLG [Department for] Communities and Local Government.

Derivative A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an 
option is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock.

Debt 
Management 
Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF)

Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government

European 
Central Bank 
(ECB)

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the 
EMU area.  The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest 
rate setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 
2%.  It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle.

European and 
Monetary Union 
(EMU)

The Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) is an umbrella 
term for the group of policies aimed at converging the economies 
of all member states of the European Union.

Equity A share in a company with limited liability.  It generally enables 
the holder to share in the profitability of the company through 
dividend payments and capital appreciation.  Equity values can 
decrease as well as increase.

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for 
an agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate.

Forward 
Deposits

Same as forward dealing (above).

Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments.

GDP Gross Domestic Product.

[UK] Gilt Registered UK government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt 
that those securities represent.

LIBID London inter-bank bid rate

LIBOR London inter-bank offered rate.   

Page 224



Appendix F
Money Market 
Fund

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments.  It is very 
similar to a unit trust, however in a MMF.

Monetary Policy 
Committee 
(MPC)

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to 
as being base rate).  Their primary target is to keep inflation 
within plus or minus 1% of a central target of 2% in two years 
time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee.  
Their secondary target is to support the government in 
maintaining high and stable levels of growth and employment.

Other Bond 
Funds

Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds.

PWLB Public Works Loan Board.

QE Quantitative Easing.

Retail Price 
Index

Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of 
prices at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure 
pattern of the average person.

Sovereign Issues 
(excl UK Gilts)

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds.

Supranational 
Bonds

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank.  The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development 
Bank bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to 
gilts, but pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative 
illiquidity when compared with gilts.

Treasury Bill Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK 
or other governments.  They provide a return to the investor by 
virtue of being issued at a discount to their final redemption 
value.

Page 225



Document is Restricted

Page 226

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 233

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 282

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 290

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Local Plan Statement of Community Involvement
	Appendix 1
	1. WHAT IS OUR STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT?
	Section 1 – Shaping our Future
	2. OUR PRINCIPLES FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY AND PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	3. HOW TO GET INVOLVED IN PLANNING
	4. COMMITMENT TO EQUALITIES
	4.1. We are committed to equality and ensuring that everyone has access to our services. We comply with the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 and have developed, jointly with South Oxfordshire District Council, a Corporate Equality Pol...
	4.2. We also have a Corporate Equality Action Plan 2016/17–2019/20 which sets our objectives from the previous few years and how we have or have not achieved these objectives.
	4.3. As part of our commitment to ensuring all residents have equal access to council information and services, including consultations, we have a translation and interpretation policy which sets out our approach to responding to requests and proactiv...
	5. FURTHER INFORMATION ON PLANNING
	6. REVIEW

	Section 2 – Planning Policy
	7. WHAT IS PLANNING POLICY?
	8. DUTY TO CO-OPERATE
	9. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING POLICY
	10. CONSULTEES
	11.   POLICY DOCUMENTS WE CONSULT ON
	12. OTHER DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS
	13. TIMEFRAMES FOR CONSULTATION
	14. COMMENTS MADE ON PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS
	15. MONITORING

	Section 3 – Development Management

	SCI cover October 2020-01
	Appendix 1a
	back cover v1-01
	Appendix 2

	8 Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix 1 - Table of proposed changes
	Appendix 2 - Great Coxwell Neighbourhood Plan 2020 Review

	9 Treasury outturn 2019/20
	Appendix A - Interest rate forecasts 2019-20
	Appendix B - Prudential Limits 2019-20
	Appendix C -  South Treasury activities 2019-2020
	Appendix D -  Vale Treasury activities 2019-2020
	Appendix E - Treasury Investments as at 31 March 2020
	Appendix F - Glossary of terms

	11 Restrictive covenants
	12 Commercial negotiations with Capita and the review of Exchequer Services and Finance IT systems
	13 Office accommodation
	Appendix 1


